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Assicurazioni Generali S.p.A. (“Assicurazioni Generali” or the “Issuer”) has established a Euro Medium Term Note
Programme (the “Programme”) for the issuance of €15,000,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of notes (the “Notes”).
Under the Programme as described in this Base Prospectus, Assicurazioni Generali may from time to time issue Notes in bearer
form denominated in any currency, as described in further detail herein. Notes issued under the Programme will not have
denominations of less than €100,000 (or, if the Notes are denominated in a currency other than euro, the equivalent amount in
such currency). Notes to be issued under the Programme may comprise (i) unsubordinated Notes (the “Senior Notes”), (ii) tier 3
notes referred to as “More Senior Dated Subordinated Notes” which are subordinated and with a maturity date as described
herein (the “Tier 3 Notes”), (iii) senior dated subordinated notes which are subordinated and with a maturity date as described
herein (the “Senior Dated Subordinated Notes”) and (iv) deeply subordinated notes which are deeply subordinated and with,
or without, a maturity date as described herein (the “Deeply Subordinated Notes” and together with the Senior Dated
Subordinated Notes, the “Tier 2 Notes” and, together with the Tier 3 Notes, the “Subordinated Notes”).

Notice of the aggregate nominal amount of any tranche of Notes, the interest (if any) payable, the issue price and any other
information relating to the Notes which is not known at the date of this base prospectus (the “Base Prospectus”) and which can
only be determined at the time of an individual issue of a Tranche of Notes will be set out in the relevant Final Terms (as
defined below) or, as the case may be, the Drawdown Prospectus.

Application has been made to the Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier (the “CSSF”) in its capacity as competent
authority in Luxembourg to approve this document as a base prospectus under the Luxembourg Law of 10 July 2005 on
Prospectuses for Securities (the “Luxembourg Prospectus Law”), which implements Directive 2003/71/EC (as amended,
which includes the amendments made by Directive 2010/73/EU) in Luxembourg. Application has been made to the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange for Notes issued under this Base Prospectus to be admitted to trading on the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange’s regulated market and to be listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. The Luxembourg Stock
Exchange’s regulated market (the “Regulated Market”) is a regulated market for the purposes of the Markets in Financial
Investments Directive (Directive 2014/65/EC). The relevant Final Terms in respect of such Notes will be published in
accordance with the provisions of Article 16 of the Luxembourg Prospectus Law and will be filed with the CSSF in accordance
with the provisions of Article 8(4) of such law. The CSSF gives no undertaking as to the economic or financial opportuneness
of the transaction or the quality and solvency of the Issuer in line with the provisions of article 7(7) of the Luxembourg
Prospectus Law.

The Programme also allows for Notes to be unlisted or to be admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by such other or
further listing authorities, stock exchanges and/or quotation systems as may be agreed with the Issuer. Under the Luxembourg
Prospectus Law, prospectuses relating to money market instruments having a maturity at issue of less than 12 months which fall
within the definition of securities are not subject to the approval provisions of Part II of such law, but are subject to the approval
provisions of Part III of the Luxembourg Prospectus Law, which requires the approval of a simplified prospectus.

An investment in Notes issued under the Programme involves certain risks. For a discussion of these risks, see “Risk Factors”



on page 4.
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287.
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(“ESMA”) pursuant to article 36 of the BMR. Not every index will fall within the scope of the BMR. Furthermore, the
transitional provisions in Article 51 of the BMR apply such that the administrator of a particular benchmark may not currently
be required to obtain authorisation or registration (or, if located outside the European Union, recognition, endorsement or
equivalence) at the date of the applicable Final Terms.
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RISK FACTORS

Any investment in the Notes is subject to a number of risks. Prior to investing in the Notes, prospective
investors should carefully consider risk factors associated with any investment in the Notes, the business of
the Issuer and the industry in which the Group operates together with all other information contained in this
Base Prospectus, including, in particular, the risk factors described below.

The Issuer believes that the factors described below represent the principal risks inherent in investing in
Notes issued under this Programme. All these factors are contingencies which may or may not occur and the
Issuer is not in a position to express a view as to the likelihood of any such contingency occurring. Additional
risks and uncertainties relating to the Issuer that are not currently known to the Issuer, or that it currently
deems immaterial, may individually or cumulatively also have a material adverse effect on the business,
prospects, results of operations and/or financial position of the Issuer and, if any such risk should occur, the
price of the Notes may decline and investors could lose all or part of their investment. Investors should
consider carefully whether an investment in the Notes is suitable for them in light of the information in this
Base Prospectus and their personal circumstances.

References in this section to the “Generali Group” are to Assicurazioni Generali and its consolidated
subsidiaries. References to the “Senior Conditions”, the “Tier 3 Conditions” and the “Tier 2 Conditions” are
to the “Terms and Conditions of the Senior Notes”, the “Terms and Conditions of the Tier 3 Notes” and the
“Terms and Conditions of the Tier 2 Notes”, respectively. Otherwise, words and expressions defined in
“Forms of the Notes”, “Terms and Conditions of the Senior Notes”, “Terms and Conditions of the Tier 2
Notes”, “Terms and Conditions of the Tier 3 Notes” or elsewhere in this Base Prospectus have the same
meaning in this section. Prospective investors should read the entire Base Prospectus.

RISK FACTORS RELATING TO THE ISSUER

Financial results may be affected by fluctuations in the financial markets

Market levels and investment returns are an important part of determining the Generali Group’s overall
profitability and fluctuations in the financial markets such as the fixed income, equity, property and foreign
exchange markets can have a material effect on its consolidated results of operations. Changes in these factors
can be very difficult to predict. Any adverse changes in the economies and/or financial markets in which
funds under management are invested could have a material adverse effect on the Generali Group’s
consolidated financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Fluctuations in interest rates may affect returns on fixed income investments and their market value.
Generally, investment income may be reduced during sustained periods of lower interest rates as higher
yielding fixed income securities are called, mature or are sold and the proceeds are reinvested at lower rates
even though prices of fixed income securities tend to rise and gains realised upon their sale tend to increase.
During periods of rising interest rates, prices of fixed income securities tend to fall and gains made upon their
sale are lower or the losses made are greater.

In addition, the Generali Group invests a substantial portion of its assets in equities and real estate, which are
generally subject to greater risks and more volatility than fixed income securities. General economic
conditions, stock market conditions, level of disposable income and many other factors beyond the control of
the Generali Group can adversely affect the equity and property markets.

Investment returns are also susceptible to changes in the general creditworthiness of the issuer of the debt
securities and equity securities held in the businesses’ portfolios. The value of fixed income securities may be



affected by, amongst other things, changes in the issuer’s credit rating. Where the credit rating of a debt
security drops, the value of the security may also decline.

The current dislocation in the global and Italian capital markets and credit conditions has led to the most
severe examination of the banking system’s capacity to absorb sudden significant changes in the funding and
liquidity environment in recent history, and has had an impact on the wider economy. Should the Generali
Group be unable to continue to source a sustainable funding profile which can absorb these sudden shocks,
the Generali Group’s ability to fund its financial obligations at a competitive cost, or at all, could be adversely
affected.

In addition to the general insurance and shareholder portfolios, the Generali Group has substantial exposure to
fixed income securities, equities and real estate within its life assurance portfolios worldwide. The investment
risk on life assurance portfolios is often shared in whole or in part with policyholders, depending on the
product sold. Fluctuations in the fixed income, equity and property markets will directly affect the financial
results of life assurance operations and will also have indirect effects, through their impact on the value of
technical provisions, which in most cases are related to the value of the assets backing the policy liabilities.
Should the credit rating of the issuer of the fixed income securities drop to a level such that regulatory
guidelines prohibit the holding of such securities to back insurance liabilities, the resulting disposal may lead
to a significant loss on the Generali Group’s investment.

The revenues of the Generali Group’s asset management businesses around the world are derived primarily
from investment management fees, which are based primarily on the market value of funds under
management. Consequently, the asset management business’s financial results depend on changes in the
economic conditions and financial markets in which the funds under management are invested.

For further considerations relating to interest rates, currency and credit risks, please refer to the risk factors:
“Financial results may be affected by interest rates”, “Financial results may be affected by fluctuations in
exchange rates” and “The Generali Group is subject to credit risk”.

Financial results may be affected by interest rates

Significant changes in interest rates could materially and adversely affect the Generali Group’s business,
results of operation and financial performance. The level of and changes in interest rates (including changes in
the difference between the levels of prevailing short term and long term rates) can affect the Generali Group’s
life insurance, banking and assets management results and interest payable on debt. In particular, interest rates
can affect the availability of disposable income for investment in life assurance and other savings products,
asset values, levels of bad debts, levels of investment income gains and losses on investments, funding costs
and interest margins. Whilst interest rates increase the margin spread potential for the banking business, they
are also likely to result in a decrease in fixed income asset values for life insurance companies. Generally, the
impact of rising interest rates on the asset management business is driven by the change in value of funds
under management.

Fluctuations in interest rates (and returns from equity markets) also have an impact on consumer behaviour,
especially in the life and asset accumulation businesses, where demand for fixed income products may decline
when interest rates fall and equity markets are performing well. The demand of general insurance, particularly
commercial lines, can also vary with the overall level of economic activity.

Financial results may be affected by fluctuations in exchange rates

The Generali Group presents its consolidated financial statements in Euro but a substantial proportion of its
operations are accounted for in currencies other than Euro principally the Swiss Franc, the Czech crown and
the US Dollar. As a result of the accounting for operations in currencies other than Euro, fluctuations in the
relevant value of the Euro to the Swiss Franc, the US dollar, the Czech crown and other currencies could be



significant because, amongst other things, these fluctuations could cause the Generali Group’s earnings to
fluctuate and affect the comparability between results in one financial period and those in the preceding
financial period.

The Generali Group is subject to credit risk

The Generali Group is prone to counterparty risk in relation to third parties. A failure by its counterparties to
meet their obligations could have a material impact on its financial position. Moreover, the Generali Group is
exposed to credit risk arising from changes in value of its holdings of fixed income instruments and other
investments.

Additionally, the Generali Group’s general insurance businesses has substantial exposure to reinsurers
through reinsurance arrangements. With regards to its life assurance business, the Generali Group mostly acts
as an internal reinsurer of its subsidiaries, with the aim of pooling risks and, consequently, mitigating local
credit counterparty risk. Under such arrangements, other insurers assume a portion of the costs, losses and
expenses associated with policy claims and maturities and reported and unreported losses in exchange for a
portion of policy premiums. The availability, amount and cost of reinsurance depend on general market
conditions and may vary significantly year on year. Any decrease in the amount of reinsurance cover
purchased will increase the Generali Group’s risk of loss. When reinsurance is obtained, the Generali Group
is still liable for those transferred risks if the reinsurer does not meet its obligations. Therefore, the inability or
failure of reinsurers to meet their financial obligations and any development that could, directly or indirectly,
affect their ability to perform (including any deterioration in their creditworthiness) could materially affect the
Generali Group’s operations and financial condition.

A default by an institution or even concerns as to its credit-worthiness could lead to significant liquidity
problems, losses or defaults by other institutions because the stability of many financial institutions may be
closely linked to credit, trading, clearing or other relationships between institutions. This risk may adversely
affect financial intermediaries, such as clearing agencies, clearing houses, banks, securities firms and
exchanges with which the Generali Group interacts on a daily basis and therefore could adversely affect the
Generali Group.

Financial results may be affected by insurance risk

Underwriting performance, for both the life and non-life businesses, represents an important part of the
Generali Group’s overall profitability and fluctuations in the frequency and severity of insurance claims can
have a material effect on the consolidated results of operations. In addition, any adverse changes in the rate of
claims inflation or in the cost of reinsurance protection could have a material adverse effect on the Generali
Group’s consolidated financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Changes in these factors can
be very difficult to predict.

The Generali Group is subject to operational risk

The Generali Group, like all financial services groups, is exposed to many types of operational risk. Solvency
II defines operational risk as the risk of loss, arising from inadequate or failed internal processes, or from
personnel and systems, or from external events.

The operational risk also includes financial reporting risk (being the risk of a transaction error, which could
entail an untrue and incorrect representation of the situation of the assets, liabilities, profit and loss in the
financial statements) and compliance risk (defined as the risk of legal and regulatory sanctions, material
financial loss or reputational damage Assicurazioni Generali may suffer as a result of not complying with
laws, regulations and administrative provisions applicable to its business). The main operational risks may
derive from internal fraud, external fraud, employment practices, clients and products, damage to physical
assets, business disruption and system failure, execution and process management as well as cyber-attack. The



Group has established specialised units with the scope of dealing with specific threats (e.g. cyber risk, fraud,
financial reporting risk) that work in close collaboration with the Risk Management Function at Group level.

The Generali Group's systems and processes are designed to ensure that the operational risks (and related
adverse effects) associated with the Generali Group's activities are appropriately monitored, contained and
mitigated. Any failure or weakness in these systems or processes, or the occurrence of certain unforeseeable
events, wholly or partly out of the Generali Group’s control, however, could adversely affect the Generali
Group's operating results, financial performance and business activities, as well as its reputation.

Regulatory compliance and regulatory changes

The Generali Group’s insurance, asset management and banking subsidiaries are subject to government
regulation in the jurisdictions in which they conduct business. Regulatory agencies — in particular, IVASS (in
the case of the Group’s insurance activities) — have broad jurisdiction over many aspects of these businesses,
which may include capital adequacy, premium rates, marketing and selling practices, advertising, licensing
agents, policy forms, terms of business and permitted investments.

In the European Union, risk-based capital requirements have been introduced pursuant to Directive
2009/138/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 25 November 2009 on the taking-up and
pursuit of the business of Insurance and Reinsurance (Solvency II) (the “Solvency II Directive”).The
Solvency II framework — which has introduced new requirements as to own funds, the calculation of technical
provisions, valuation of assets and liabilities, governance structure, regulatory reporting and disclosure as well
as governance of insurance companies — became effective on 1 January 2016. In Italy, the Solvency II
Directive was incorporated into national law by Legislative Decree No. 74 of 12 May 2015, which amended
and supplemented Legislative Decree No 209 of September 2005 (the “Italian Code of Private Insurance”).

The Solvency II Directive, together with the accompanying level 2 implementing measures, such as
Commission Delegated Regulation 2015/35 (the “Delegated Regulation™), as well as level 2.5 Commission
implementing regulations laying down implementing technical standards and associated level 3 guidelines
developed by the European Insurance and Occupational Pensions Authority (“EIOPA”), create a stricter and
more comprehensive regulatory framework (compared to the previous supervisory and solvency regime) for
insurance and reinsurance undertakings within the European Union. In several cases, the solvency capital
requirements for insurance and reinsurance undertakings increase as opposed to the previous solvency regime,
and capital ratios have become more volatile in general.

Solvency II represents a significant change in the prudential regulation of insurers and insurance groups and,
as a result, generates a number of risks. Although the underlying intention and purpose behind the regime is
generally understood, there remain some areas of uncertainty regarding the appropriate interpretation of some
aspects of the text of the Solvency II Directive and the additional measures adopted to give effect thereto. The
Solvency II framework has furthermore been the subject of review by the European Commission and EIOPA
— including the discussion paper published by EIOPA in December 2016 on the review of specific items in the
Delegated Regulation, the consultation papers on the first and second set of advice to the European
Commission published by EIOPA on 4 July 2017 and 6 November 2017, respectively, and the corresponding
final technical advice delivered by EIOPA on 30 October 2017 and 28 February 2018 following conclusion of
the consultations thereon. On 8 November 2018, the European Commission has published for consultation its
draft delegated act amending the Delegated Regulation (the “Delegated Act”). The proposed amendments,
mostly built on the technical advice received from EIOPA, are intended to enhance the proportionality of the
Solvency II framework and its consistency with other EU financial legislation, improve the risk sensitivity of
the solvency capital requirement (SCR) standard formula, remove unjustified constraints on the financing of
the economy and increase transparency and reliability.



With specific reference to Tier 2 and Tier 3 basic own-fund items, the final draft of the Delegated Act
published by the European Commission on 8 March 2019 confirms, in line with the technical advice received
from EIOPA following analysis of comments received from stakeholders during EIOPA’s consultation
process, the proposal to amend Article 73 (Tier 2 Basic own-funds — Features determining classification) and
Article 77 (Tier 3 Basic own-funds — Features determining classification) of the Delegated Regulation to
allow for repayment and redemption before 5 years for tax and regulatory reasons without requiring that this
is made out of the proceeds of a new issuance of the same/higher quality, subject to satisfaction of specific
conditions. It is currently expected that the European Commission will adopt the Delegated Act following
scrutiny by the European Parliament and the Council.

The continuous review and scrutiny of the Solvency II framework — amongst others, the comprehensive
Solvency II review scheduled for 2020 — may result in other modifications to the Delegated Regulation,
including adjustments to methods (such as the ultimate forward rate methodology), assumptions and
parameters, changes in policy options, more stringent capital requirements and/or decrease in available
capital, some of which modifications may lead to increased burdens in terms of compliance and costs. In
particular, there is a risk that instruments issued, and to be issued, by Assicurazioni Generali or the Generali
Group will no longer be (fully or partly) eligible as own funds and/or will not be sufficient to comply with the
capital requirements from time to time required under Solvency II or otherwise. In such cases, the Issuer
might have to refinance existing debt or raise additional capital as own funds. There is a risk that refinancing
existing debt or raising additional capital would be expensive, difficult or impossible on adequate terms, with
consequential potential negative effects on the Group’s capital adequacy, business and/or financial condition.
The risk of any sudden, material adverse impact on the Generali Group is likely to be addressed in the context
of the continuous dialogue with IVASS, both on an on-going basis and as part of the process when applying
for IVASS’ approval for the redemption and, where required, issuance of subordinated instruments, with a
view to mitigating any possible effect.

Assicurazioni Generali first received the approval of IVASS for its partial internal model that has been
developed for the calculation of its capital requirements in March 2016 for a scope which included Italy,
Germany, the French non-life business and Czeska Pojistovna. Assicurazioni Generali has since received the
approval to enlarge the scope of the application of its internal model to the French life business (in March
2017) and to Austria and Switzerland (in November 2018), and aims to further enlarge this scope of
application to Spain for the near future. Solvency II requires insurance undertakings to continue to satisfy a
number of post-approval requirements. In case of non-compliance with these requirements provoking material
effects, the supervisory authorities may require insurance undertakings to revert to calculating their Solvency
Capital Requirement in accordance with the standard formula.

More broadly, recent turmoil in the financial markets may well result in significant regulatory changes
affecting financial institutions, including insurance and reinsurance undertakings, as well as reforms and new
regulatory actions aimed at addressing the issue of systemic risk and the perceived gaps in the regulatory
framework viewed to have contributed to the financial crisis. Initiatives aimed at crisis prevention and
facilitating the resolution of failing institutions include the publication by the Financial Stability Board
(“FSB”) in November 2011 of “Key Attributes of Effective Resolution Regimes for Financial Institutions”,
supplemented first in October 2014 and then in June 2016 with additional guidance - applicable to
systematically important insurances - on how these key attributes should be applied to the insurance sector,
and the on-going development of recovery and resolutions standards by the International Association of
Insurance Supervisors (“TAIS”, which is among others a member of the FSB). In Europe, EIOPA has
published in December 2016 its own “Discussion Paper on Potential Harmonisation of Recovery and
Resolution Frameworks for Insurers”, on which consultation ended in February 2017. Following the
consultation, EIOPA published an opinion (addressed to the European Parliament, the Council of the



European Union and the European Commission) on 5 July 2017 in which it calls for a minimum degree of
harmonisation in the field of recovery and resolution for insurers and reinsurers to deliver increased
policyholder protection and financial stability in the European Union. As a follow-up to the EIOPA opinion,
on 23 July 2018, EIOPA published a Discussion Paper on Resolution Funding and National Insurance
Guarantee Schemes. EIOPA distinguishes three sources of resolution funding in the discussion paper: (i) the
assets and liabilities (including own funds) of the failing insurer, (ii) national resolution funds and (iii)
national Insurance Guarantee Schemes (IGSs) or other policyholder protection schemes. In particular, EIOPA
is considering minimum harmonisation with regards to policyholder protection through the establishment of a
European network of national IGCs, which would be a system of national IGCs and potential underlying EU
regime laying down rules and/or standards for national IGCs.

As a result of these ongoing consultations and discussions, it is unclear how, and to what extent, the
introduction of new regulations or standards and changes to the current legislative framework will impact the
Group.

New regulatory initiatives, including increasing regulatory and law enforcement scrutiny by EU and its
member countries on anti-money laundering, counterterrorist-financing and international sanctions
requirements and more stringent regulatory investigations of the asset management and insurance industries
as a whole, could increase the cost of doing business or affect the competitive balance in general. Regulatory
proceedings as a result of non-compliance with applicable regulations or failure to undertake corrective action
could result in adverse publicity for, or negative perceptions regarding, the regulated entity, as well as
diverting management’s attention away from the day-to-day management of the business. A significant
regulatory action against a member of the Generali Group could have a material adverse effect on the business
of the Generali Group, its results of operations and/or financial condition. In addition, changes in government
policy, legislation or regulatory interpretation applying to the financial services industry in the markets in
which the Generali Group operates may adversely affect its product range, distribution channels, capital
requirements and, consequently, its results and financing requirements. These changes, which may occur at
any time, include possible changes in government pension requirements and policies, the regulation of selling
practices and solvency requirements.

Supervisory requirements and policy measures developed by the IAIS may increase capital
requirements and impose a more stringent level of regulatory scrutiny

The TAIS has developed three tiers of supervisory requirements and actions applicable to the insurance
industry. These include:

- Insurance Core Principles (“ICPs”) that are intended to apply to the supervision of all insurers and
insurance groups, regardless of size, complexity or systemic importance; and

- a common framework (“ComFrame”) for the supervision of internationally active insurance groups
(“IAIGs”). The ComFrame aims to introduce a risk based, global insurance capital standard (the
Insurance Capital Standard, “ICS”) applying to IAIGs, to be enforced by the national regulators.

The IAIS has issued proposed revisions to various ICPs, ComFrame and the ICS over the past years, and has
integrated ComFrame material into the overall ICP framework. The IAIS is currently scheduled to formally
adopt ComFrame and ICS Version 2.0 at the end of 2019. ComFrame (excluding ICS Version 2.0) will then be
fully implementable. Implementation of ICS Version 2.0 is expected to be conducted in two phases: firstly,
ICS Version 2.0 will be used for confidential reporting to group-wide supervisors and discussion in
supervisory colleges during a “monitoring period” that will last for five years. The ICS will not be used as a
prescribed capital requirement in this phase; secondly, ICS will be implemented as a group-wide prescribed
capital requirement. Assicurazioni Generali’s status as an IAIG will result in enhanced supervision and
regulation following adoption of the ComFrame.



The TAIS has furthermore developed G-SII policy measures, which are intended to apply only to those
insurance groups designated as Global Systematically Important Insurers (“G-SIIs”). G-SIIs are defined by
the FSB and IAIS as insurers whose distress or disorderly failure, because of their size, complexity and
interconnectedness, would cause significant disruption to the global financial system and economic activity.
The G-SII policy measures include enhanced supervision by the group supervisor, recovery and resolution
powers and measures notably including planning, and the application of a higher-loss absorbing capital add-
on.

Although Assicurazioni Generali was initially designated by the Financial Stability Board as one of the G-SIIs
in the 2013 and 2014 assessments, it was not so designated in the November 2015 and 2016 assessments. In
November 2017 the FSB, in consultation with TAIS and national authorities, decided not to publish a new list
of G-SlIIs for 2017 and that the policy measures set out in the FSB’s 2016 communication on G-SIIs, as
updated in February 2017 as concerns the higher loss absorbency standard, would continue to apply to the
firms listed in the 2016 communication.

On 14 November 2018, the TAIS issued a public consultation document proposing an holistic framework for
assessing and mitigating systemic risk in the insurance sector. The framework aims to develop an activities-
based approach to systemic risk management to supplement, or potentially replace, the G-SII approach. In
light of the progress with the proposed holistic framework, the FSB, in consultation with the IAIS and
national authorities, has decided not to engage in an identification of G-SlIs in 2018. The FSB has indicated
that it will assess IAIS’ recommendation to suspend G-SII identification from 2020 once the holistic
framework will be finalised (as currently expected) in November 2019 and that it will, in November 2022 on
the basis of the initial years of implementation of the holistic framework, review the need to either
discontinue or re-establish an annual identification of G-SIIs in consultation with the IAIS and national
authorities. In the period until the holistic framework will be implemented, the relevant group-wide
supervisors have committed to continue applying existing enhanced supervisory policy measures as described
in TAIS’s consultative document. In case identification of G-SIIs will be discontinued, the holistic framework
would provide for certain elements of the G-SII policy measures to be integrated into the revised ICPs and
ComFrame material and potentially applied, subject to the proportionality principle, to a larger set of insurers
than those insurers that have been identified as G-SIIs in the past. Pending finalisation of the IAIS policies, it
is not possible to predict precisely what impact, if any, they could have on the Generali Group’s business,
financial condition or results of operations, or to fully evaluate the extent by which these measures will
impact the Generali Group’s capital requirements and its competitive position vis-a-vis other insurance groups
that are not subject to these more stringent policy measures.

The application of the General Data Protection Regulation could adversely affect Generali Group’s
business, results of operations and financial conditions

The General Data Protection Regulation (EU Regulation No. 2016/679; the “GDPR”) repealed the Data
Protection Directive (95/46/EC) and is aimed at providing a consistent and harmonised regulatory framework
for the processing of personal data within the European Union. The GDPR was adopted in 2016 and applies
from 25 May 2018. Due to the fact that GDPR provides for the possibility for Member States to issue
implementing regulations on certain topics or provides for limitations or stricter requirements on other topics,
the Italian government approved Legislative Decree No. 101 of 10 August 2018, for the purpose of
harmonizing the existing legal framework with the new GDPR provisions and implementing those
requirements addressed to Member States. The GDPR applies whenever personal data (i.e., any information
directly or indirectly related to an identified or identifiable natural person) is processed within the European
Union and, additionally, where personal data is processed outside the European Union in relation to: (i) the
offer of goods or services to individuals in the European Union, or (ii) the monitoring of behaviour if taken

10



place within the European Union; therefore, the GDPR applies even to organisations processing personal data
in the European Union which have no presence within the EU.

Broadly, the changes introduced by the GDPR include the following areas: (i) a single regulation across the
EU; (ii) increased enforcement powers for the data protection Authorities with the ability to impose fines of
up to 4% of global annual turnover (or up to 2% for breach of certain provisions); (iii) the introduction of a
new EU-wide advisory body, the European Data Protection Board, replacing the Article 29 of the Data
Protection Directive (95/46/EC) Working Party; (iv) a single lead supervisory Authority for handling issues
connected with data processing operations performed in multiple jurisdictions of the EU; (v) the introduction
of new principles, such as the principle of accountability; (vi) the obligation, under certain circumstances, to
appoint an independent Data Protection Officer; (vii) new rights for individuals, including the “right to be
forgotten” and the right to data portability; and (viii) provisions for mandatory data breach notification to the
Supervisory Authorities and, in certain cases, the affected individuals.

The changes introduced by the GDPR are likely to have a significant effect on Generali Group as well as the
European insurance market in general, as a result of, infer alia, an increase in compliance costs and
obligations.

The transposition of the Insurance Distribution Directive could adversely affect Generali Group’s
business, results of operations and financial conditions

The Insurance Distribution Directive ((EU) 2016/97) (“IDD”), which is the recast of Directive 2002/92/EC,
as amended or superseded (the Insurance Mediation Directive, “IMD”), was adopted by the European
Parliament and the Council on 20 January 2016. The date of application of Member States’ transposition
measures was postponed from 23 February 2018 to 1 October 2018. The IDD was incorporated into Italian
law by Legislative Decree No. 68 of 21 May 2018, which amended and supplemented the Italian Code of
Private Insurance and Legislative Decree No. 58/1998.

Broadly, the IDD which is a minimum harmonisation directive, introduces, inter alia, the following changes:
(i) extended scope to cover the distribution of insurance and reinsurance products, whether directly by an
insurance undertaking or indirectly by an insurance intermediary or, provided that a number of conditions are
met, an ancillary insurance intermediary; (ii) more stringent disclosure and transparency requirements,
including information on remuneration and introduction of a standardised information document for non-life
insurance products (the Insurance Product Information Document, “IPID”); (iii) introduction by Member
States of rules to ensure that distributors are not remunerated and do not remunerate or assess the performance
of their employees in a way that conflicts with the duty to act in the best interests of customers; (iv) enhanced
professional knowledge and competence requirements for persons involved in distribution activities; (v)
introduction of new rules on product oversight and governance; (vi) information requirements on cross-selling
and bundling; and (vii) additional specific disclosure and transparency requirements and conduct of business
rules (including rules on conflicts of interests; inducements; assessment of suitability and appropriateness;
and rules applicable to non-complex insurance products) for insurance-based investment products.

Certain elements of the IDD have been further specified in two delegated regulations adopted by the
European Commission on 21 September 2017, namely, Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2017/2358 of
21 September 2017 supplementing IDD with regard to product oversight and governance requirements for
insurance undertakings and insurance distributors and Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2017/2359 of
21 September 2017, supplementing IDD with regard to information requirements and conduct of business
rules applicable to the distribution of insurance-based investments products (the “IDD Delegated
Regulations”) In February 2017, EIOPA published its Draft Implementing Technical Standards concerning a
standardised presentation format for the IPID, in accordance to which the European Commission adopted
Commission Implementing Regulation (EU) 2017/1469 of 11 August 2017. EIOPA furthermore published, in
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October 2017, its “Guidelines on insurance-based investment products that incorporate a structure which
makes it difficult for the customer to understand the risks involved” (complex insurance products) and in
November 2018, for consultation, its draft technical advice on possible amendments to the Insurance
Distribution Directive concerning the integration of sustainability risks and factors. The final technical advice
is currently expected to be published by the end of April 2019.

The changes introduced by the IDD (and future integrations and amendments) are likely to have a significant
effect on Generali Group as well as the European insurance market, including, inter alia, increase of costs,
compliance obligations regarding distribution requirements, information disclosure and business practices,
and an impact on distribution channels.

The application of the EU Regulation on key information documents for packaged retail and
insurance-based investment products could adversely affect Generali Group’s business, results of
operations and financial conditions

The EU Regulation No. 1286/2014 on key information documents for packaged retail and insurance-based
investment products (“PRIIPs Regulation”) is aimed at providing a consistent regulatory framework for
ensuring that retail investors are provided with standard information included under a dedicated key
information document (“KID”) whose format and standard has been harmonised in order to enable retail
investors to understand and compare the key features and risks of the PRIIPs. The PRIIPs Regulation, as
supplemented by Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2017/653, entered into force in December 2014,
following its publication in the Official Journal of the European Union, and is directly applicable in all EU
Member States as of 1 January 2018. In July 2017, the European Commission also published a
Communication including the Guidelines on the application of PRIIPs Regulation, aimed at facilitating the
implementation of, and the compliance with, the PRIIPs Regulation, by smoothing out potential interpretative
divergences throughout the European Union. Also in July 2017, the European Supervisory Authorities (“
ESAs”) published the first set of Questions and Answers (Q&A) related to the KID requirements, laid down
in the European Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2017/653, with a view to promoting common
supervisory approaches and practices in the implementation of the KID; a second and a third set of Q&A have
since been published by the ESAs in August 2017 and November 2017. On 3 December 2018, the European
Parliament Committee on Economic and Monetary Affairs agreed on a proposal to extend the exemption for
UCITS and relevant non-UCITS funds from 31 December 2019 until 31 December 2021. A preliminary
agreement on this proposal has been reached by the European Trilogue (between the European Parliament, the
Commission and the Council) on 5 February 2019. The proposed 2-year extension for the UCITS exemption
has been included in a proposed regulation on facilitating the cross-border distribution of collective
investment funds, which received political agreement on 5 February 2019. As of the date of this Base
Prospectus, the legislative procedure to adopt the proposed regulation is still ongoing.

Broadly, the key information to be included under the KID which will require specific attention and, possibly,
the implementation of calculating models or dedicated processes are the followings: (i) the summary risk
indicator, aimed at expressing in a short and easily comprehensible way the level of risk associated with the
product; (ii) the possible maximum loss of invested capital and the appropriate performance scenarios
together with the connected assumptions, functional to understand the possible return of the product; (iii) the
direct and indirect costs associated with the product including, to allow comparability, the total aggregate
costs; (iv) the holding period, including an indication of the recommended and, where applicable, the required
minimum holding period. Specific issues may arise in connection with the drafting of the KID for multi-
option products considering their peculiar structure which imply that information to be considered may also
refer to a very large number of underlying options.
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On 8 November 2018 the European Supervisory Authorities published a Joint Consultation Paper concerning
amendments to the PRIIPs KID and suggested new calculation methodologies for performance scenarios,
market risk measures and the holding period. On 8 February 2019, the ESAs published their final
recommendations following the consultation. Having taken into account the feedback received and
considering the implications of a possible decision by the European Co-legislators to defer application of the
KID by certain types of investment funds beyond 2020, the ESAs decided to not propose targeted
amendments at this stage, and to initiate a more comprehensive revision of the PRIIPs Regulation to be
undertaken in the course of 2019, including to launch a consultation on the draft Regulatory Technical
Standards. Subsequently on 8 March 2019, the ESAs submitted to the European Commission draft regulatory
technical standards to amend the PRIIPs Regulation, to clarify application of the KID to investment funds
where these are offered as underlying investment options to a PRIIP. The aim of the ESAs’ proposal is to
provide, in good time, legal certainty to market participants before expiry of the current provision in the
PRIIPs Regulation at the end of 2019.

The PRIIPs framework (and potential modifications following the review process) are likely to have a
significant effect on Generali Group as well as the European insurance market in general, as a result of, infer
alia, an increase in compliance costs and obligations.

The entry into force at national level of the Fourth Anti Money Laundering Directive could adversely
affect Generali Group’s business, results of operations and financial conditions

The Fourth Anti Money Laundering Directive (2015/849/EU) (“4AMLD”) is the recast of the Third Anti
Money Laundering Directive (2005/60/EC) and is aimed at the prevention of the use of the European
financial system for purposes of money laundering or terrorist financing. The 4AMLD entered into force in
June 2015 following its publication in the Official Journal of the European Union, and has been implemented
in Italy by Legislative Decree No. 231 of 21 November 2007, as amended and supplemented by Legislative
Decree No. 90 of 25 May 2017.

Broadly, the changes introduced by the 4AMLD include, inter alia, the following areas: (i) increased
enforcement powers for the supervisory authorities with the ability to impose fines of up to 10% of total
annual consolidated turnover; (ii) more stringent requirements for the beneficial owners’ identification,
simplified and enhanced due diligence; (iii) broader definition of Politically Exposed Persons. Additionally,
Directive (EU) 2018/843 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 30 May 2018 on the prevention of
the use of the financial system for the purposes of money laundering or terrorist financing (“SAMLD”)
became effective on 9 July 2018, following its publication in the Official Journal of the European Union.
Member States are required to implement the SAMLD into national law by 10 January 2020. The SAMLD
amends in several significant ways certain elements of the 4 AMLD, including in relation to the following
areas: (i) wider scope of regulation; (ii) broader access to information on ultimate beneficial owners of
companies; (iii) establishment of a centralised national register of bank account information; and (iv)
enhanced due diligence for high-risk third countries.

The changes introduced by the 4AMLD and by its revision, and the new requirements that will be imposed by
the SAMLD upon its implementation, are likely to have a significant impact on Assicurazioni Generali as well
as the European insurance market in general, as a result of the more stringent requirements that will lead to
increased costs of compliance.

Risks related to international sanctions with regard to sanctioned countries and to investigations
and/or proceedings by the competent authorities

Assicurazioni Generali and the Group have clients and partners, and are required to comply with sanction
regimes applicable, in a number of jurisdictions outside Italy where they operate. In accordance with such
sanction regimes, Assicurazioni Generali and the relevant Group companies must comply with financial or
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economic sanctions imposed by, inter alia, the United States of America, the European Union and the United
Nations on certain countries (the “Relevant Sanctioned Countries™), in each case, to the extent applicable
and does not otherwise result in a violation, by Assicurazioni Generali or the relevant Group company, of
legislation of mandatory application such as Council Regulation (EC) No. 2271/96 (the “EU Blocking
Regulation”) and implementing acts thereof. Sanctions imposed by different jurisdictions may vary in scope
and, in certain cases (such as sanctions imposed by the United States), have extra-territorial application.
Applicable sanction regimes — which are subject to changes that are difficult to predict — may limit the ability
of Assicurazioni Generali and the Group to continue to transact and conduct business with certain clients or to
maintain commercial relationships with specific sanctioned counterparties and/or counterparties that are
located in Relevant Sanctioned Countries. As of the date of this Base Prospectus, Assicurazioni Generali and
the Group have limited commercial relationships with certain counterparties connected to Relevant
Sanctioned Countries which are constantly monitored by Assicurazioni Generali internally and are in any case
conducted in compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

Risk management policies, procedures and methods may leave the Generali Group exposed to
unidentified or unanticipated risks

The Generali Group has devoted significant resources to developing policies, procedures and assessment
methods to manage market, credit, liquidity and operating risk and intends to continue to do so in the future.
Nonetheless, the Generali Group’s risk management techniques and strategies may not be fully effective in
mitigating its risk exposure in all market environments or against all types of risks, including risks that the
Generali Group fails to identify or anticipate. If existing or potential customers believe that the Generali
Group’s risk management policies and procedures are inadequate, the Issuer’s reputation as well as its
revenues and profits may be negatively affected.

The Generali Group may be affected by increased competition

The Italian insurance market has experienced significant changes in recent years due to the introduction of
several laws and regulations as a result of the implementation of a number of insurance directives issued by
the European Union (EU). As a result, direct marketing of non-life and life insurance may be carried out on a
cross-border basis and therefore for insurance companies it is much easier to operate outside their home state.
The development of a single European market together with the reduction of regulatory restrictions is also
facilitating the growth of new distribution systems, partially replacing the traditional reliance on insurance
intermediaries such as agents. Changes in the regulatory regime and consolidation in the insurance industry
have also increased (and will likely increase) competitive pressure on insurance companies in the Italian
market in general. There is no assurance that the Generali Group will be always able to compete successfully
in the future against existing or potential competitors or that the Generali Group’s business, financial
condition and results of operations will not be adversely affected by increased competition.

As primarily a holding company, Assicurazioni Generali depends on the earnings and cash flows of
its operating subsidiaries, which may not be sufficient to meet its debt service obligations

As primarily a holding company, Assicurazioni Generali is dependent on the earnings and cash flows of, and
dividends and distributions from, its operating subsidiaries to pay expenses and to meet its debt service
obligations including the payment of interests and repayment of principal on Notes issued by it under the
Programme. Significant cash or cash equivalent balances may be held from time to time at Assicurazioni
Generali’s operating subsidiaries. Some of these operating subsidiaries will also have debt outstanding or may
be subject to acquisition agreements that impose restrictions on such operating subsidiaries’ ability to pay
dividends, but these restrictions are not expected to be significant in the context of Assicurazioni Generali’s
overall liquidity.
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If earnings and cash flows of its operating subsidiaries are substantially reduced, Assicurazioni Generali may
not be in a position to meet its operational needs or to meet interest payment or principal redemption
obligations in respect of Notes issued by it under the Programme.

Difficult market and economic conditions, instability in (and United Kingdom’s decision to withdraw
from) the European Union together with the risk of potential sovereign debt credit deterioration, have
had, and may continue to have, an adverse effect on the Generali Group’s results of operations,
business and financial condition

The European sovereign debt crisis had in the past, and could in the future have, an indirect impact on the
financial markets and economic conditions in Europe and worldwide. In particular, the Issuer is subject to the
risk of potential sovereign debt credit deterioration on the amounts of Italian and other sovereign debt
obligations held in its investment portfolio. Factors such as deterioration of the economic conditions in
Europe and in other parts of the world, particularly in the context of a resurgence of the sovereign debt crisis,
geopolitical tensions and/or financial market volatility or a downgrading of those sovereigns to which the
Group is exposed could all have a negative impact on the Issuer’s financial condition, results of operations or
cost of risk in general.

Persistent market tensions might affect negatively the funding costs and economic outlook of some euro
member countries. In Europe, the United Kingdom voted on 23 June 2016 in a national referendum to
withdraw from the European Union (“Brexit”) and gave formal notice to the European Council under Article
50 of the Treaty on European Union of its intention to withdraw on 29 March 2017. Under Article 50(2) of the
Treaty, the European Union shall negotiate and reach an agreement with the United Kingdom setting out the
arrangements for its withdrawal from the European Union, taking into account the framework for its future
relationship with the Union.

Article 50(3) of the Treaty provides that the EU Treaties shall cease to apply to United Kingdom from the date
of entry into force of the withdrawal agreement or failing that, two years after the notification given by the
United Kingdom, unless the European Council, in agreement with the Member States, unanimously decides to
extend this period. On the basis of the latest extension agreed between the parties, and subject to the terms of
any withdrawal agreement, the United Kingdom shall withdraw from the European Union no later than 31
October 2019.

The consequences of Brexit are uncertain. Following negotiations between the representatives of the United
Kingdom and the European Commission, a draft withdrawal agreement setting forth the terms that will apply
to the relationships between the United Kingdom and the European Union was published in November 2018.
The draft withdrawal agreement was rejected by the United Kingdom parliament in January 2019. As of
today, (i) it is uncertain whether, and when, a withdrawal agreement will be reached between the United
Kingdom and the European Union. In particular, it is currently unknown how a withdrawal agreement (or its
absence) will shape the future business, commercial, labour and other relationships between the United
Kingdom and the European Union; and (ii) it is unclear how Brexit in general will impact European
businesses, the European Single Market or otherwise. This - together with the risk that one or more countries
other than the United Kingdom (even if not significant in terms of gross domestic product) might leave the
euro area - could have a material and negative impact on the Group and/or on the Group’s clients, with
potential negative implications for the Group’s business, results and financial position. In addition, if an EU
Member State were to default on its obligations, or if the Eurozone were broken up entirely, the impact on the
financial and currency markets would be significant and could impact materially upon all financial institutions
and insurance undertakings, including the Group. The overall effects of Brexit (which remain currently
unknown pending finalisation of the negotiations of the terms for United Kingdom’s future relationship with
the European Union) and the possible withdrawal from the EU of any other EU Member State could have far-
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reaching and unpredictable consequences for the financial markets and the real economy, resulting in (inter
alia) financial market turbulences including a widening of spreads, which could adversely affect the Group’s
business and results of operations and financial position.

Furthermore, other geopolitical developments (including tensions between Italy and the European
Commission concerning certain measures introduced by Italy’s 2019 budget) can all influence the economic
outlook of Italy in particular and of the European Union in general as well as destabilise the local and global
financial markets. Lingering market tensions might affect negatively the global economy and hamper the
recovery of the euro area. Moreover, the tightening fiscal policy by some countries might weigh on
households’ disposable income and on corporate profits with negative implications for the Generali Group’s
business, results and financial position.

Any further deterioration, or delay in the recovery, of the Italian economy, and any downgrade of the Italian
sovereign credit rating and its consequential impact on the financial markets, could have a material adverse
effect on the Generali Group’s business, in light of the Generali Group’s significant exposure to the Italian
economy. In addition, if any of the countries in which the Generali Group operates witnessed a significant
deterioration in economic activity, the Generali Group’s results of operations, business and financial condition
would be materially and adversely affected.

Risks associated with the Group’s business in Russian Federation

The Group is present in the Russian Federation through its 38.46 per cent. indirect participation in the Russian
insurer, Ingosstrakh. Sanctions were imposed by the United States, the European Union and Canada against
Russian Federation, Russian entities or Russian individuals in 2014. In 2017 the U.S. Countering America’s
Adversaries Through Sanctions Act (CAATSA) has introduced new financial sanctions targeting a wide range
of Russian activity and requested the U.S. Administration to evaluate the introduction of sanctions on “senior
political figures and oligarchs in the Russian Federation”. On 6 April 2018, US Treasury designated on the
SDNs list Russian oligarchs, officials and entities including, among others, Oleg Deripaska. On the basis of
the latest information available to the Issuer, as at 29 May 2019, Oleg Deripaska owned 10 per cent
participation in Ingosstrakh. Further US financial sanctions could be introduced, even though there is no
certainty as to whether, or when, this will happen. If these sanctions will be implemented coupled with a
significant deterioration of the general economic conditions and a decline in the growth rates, a material
adverse effect on the Group’s operations in Russian Federation may occur.

RISKS RELATING TO THE NOTES

The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors

Each potential investor in the Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own
circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should:

@) have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the merits
and risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained or incorporated by reference in this
Base Prospectus or any applicable supplement;

(i)  have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its
particular financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact the Notes will have on its
overall investment portfolio;

(i)  have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the Notes,
including Notes with principal or interest payable in one or more currencies, or where the currency for
principal or interest payments is different from the potential investor’s currency;
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(iv)  understand thoroughly the terms of the Notes and be familiar with the behaviour of any relevant
indices and financial markets; and

(v)  be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for
economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the
applicable risks.

Some Notes are complex financial instruments. Sophisticated institutional investors generally do not purchase
complex financial instruments as stand-alone investments. They purchase complex financial instruments as a
way to reduce risk or enhance yield with an understood, measured, appropriate addition of risk to their overall
portfolios. A potential investor should not invest in Notes which are complex financial instruments unless it
has the expertise (either alone or with a financial adviser) to evaluate how the Notes will perform under
changing conditions, the resulting effects on the value of the Notes and the impact this investment will have
on the potential investor’s overall investment portfolio.

The Notes do not contain covenants governing the Generali Group’s operations and do not limit its
ability to merge, effect asset sales, or to issue or guarantee additional indebtedness, or otherwise effect
significant transactions that may have a material and adverse effect on the Notes and the holders
thereof

The Notes do not contain covenants governing its operations and do not limit the Generali Group’s
ability to enter into a merger, asset sale or other significant transaction that could materially alter its
existence, jurisdiction of organisation or regulatory regime and/or its composition and its business. In the
event the Generali Group was to enter into such a transaction, Noteholders could be materially and
adversely affected.

Furthermore, there is no restriction on the amount of liabilities which the Issuer may issue or guarantee.
The Issuer and its subsidiaries and affiliates may incur additional indebtedness or grant guarantees in
respect of indebtedness of third parties, including indebtedness or guarantees that rank pari passu or
senior to the obligations under and in connection with the Notes.

Change of Law

The conditions of the Notes are governed by English law or, as the case may be, Italian law, in effect as of the
date of this Base Prospectus, as specified in the relevant Final Terms. In the case of Subordinated Notes
governed by English law, the provisions concerning the status of such Subordinated Notes will be governed
by the laws of the Republic of Italy. No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial
decision or change to applicable law or administrative practice after the date of this Base Prospectus.

Risks related to the structure of a particular issue of Notes

A wide range of Notes may be issued under the Programme. A number of these Notes may have features
which contain particular risks for potential investors. Set out below is a description of the most common
features:

Notes subject to optional redemption by the Issuer

In case the relevant Final Terms specifies that the Notes are redeemable at the option of the Issuer pursuant to
Condition 8.2 (Redemption for tax reasons), Condition 8.3 (Redemption at the option of the Issuer) or
Condition 8.4A (Clean-up Call Option) of the Senior Notes, or Condition 10.2 (Redemption for tax reasons),
Condition 10.3 (Redemption at the option of the Issuer), Condition 10.4 (Optional Redemption due to a
Regulatory Event), Condition 10.5 (Optional Redemption due to a Rating Event) or Condition 10.6 (Optional
Redemption due to an Accounting Event) of the Tier 2 Conditions or the Tier 3 Conditions, the Issuer may —
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on the relevant Optional Redemption Date (Call) or, as the case may be, upon occurrence of the relevant event
— elect to exercise such option to redeem the Notes subject to, in the case of Tier 2 Notes or Tier 3 Notes,
satisfaction of the Conditions for Redemption and any other regulatory requirements applicable to such
redemption. The Issuer shall determine at its sole discretion whether or not to exercise such early redemption
option and is not, under any circumstances, obliged to exercise any such early redemption option.

An optional redemption feature of Notes is likely to limit their market value. During any period when the
Issuer may elect to redeem Notes, or be perceived to be likely to exercise its option to redeem Notes, the
market value of those Notes generally will not rise substantially above the price at which they can be
redeemed. This also may be true prior to any redemption period. The Issuer may be expected to redeem Notes
when its cost of borrowing is lower than the interest rate on the Notes. At those times, an investor generally
would not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate
on the Notes being redeemed and may only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate. Potential investors
should consider reinvestment risk in the light of other investments available at that time.

Redemption for tax reasons

In the event that the Issuer has or will become obliged - as a result of any change in or amendment or
clarification to, the laws, regulations or other rules of the Republic of Italy or of any political subdivision or
any authority thereof or therein having power to tax, or as a result of any change in, or amendment or
clarification to, the application or interpretation (or application or interpretation made for the first time) of
such laws, regulations or other rules, including the publication or pronouncement of any decision or
interpretation by any competent court or authority providing for a position with respect to such laws,
regulations or other rules that differs from the previously generally accepted position or otherwise differs
from prior written confirmation given by the competent authority in respect of tax treatment of the Notes,
which change, amendment or clarification becomes effective on or after the date of issue of the relevant Notes
- to pay additional amounts in respect of such Notes due to any withholding or deduction for or on account of,
any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied,
collected, withheld or assessed by or on behalf of Italy or any political subdivision thereof or any authority
therein or thereof having power to tax, and such obligation cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable
measures available to it, the Issuer may redeem all outstanding Notes in accordance with the relevant
Conditions.

In addition, in the case of Subordinated Notes and, if early redemption for tax non-deductibility is specified in
the Final Terms of the Senior Notes, Senior Notes, in the event that interest payable by the Issuer in respect of
the Notes is no longer, or will no longer be, deductible by the Issuer for Italian income tax purposes, or such
deductibility is materially reduced, in each case as a result of any change in, or amendment or clarification to,
the laws or regulations or applicable accounting standards of the Republic of Italy, or any political subdivision
or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax, or as a result of any change in, or amendment or
clarification to, the application or interpretation (or application or interpretation made for the first time) of
such laws, regulations or applicable accounting standards, including the publication or pronouncement of any
decision or interpretation by any competent court or authority providing for a position with respect to such
laws, regulations or other rules that differs from the previously generally accepted position or otherwise
differs from prior written confirmation given by the competent authority in respect of tax treatment of the
Notes, which change, amendment or clarification becomes effective on or after the date of issue of the Notes,
and such non-deductibility cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it, the
Issuer may redeem all outstanding Notes in accordance with the relevant Conditions.

Based on Italian tax law, as currently in force, any interest on Notes issued by Assicurazioni Generali will
only be deductible up to 96 per cent. when determining the taxable income of Assicurazioni Generali for
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corporate income tax purposes. See also the risk factor headed “Notes subject to optional redemption by the
Issuer”.

Redemption due to other reasons

If specified as being applicable in the relevant Final Terms, if the Issuer determines that a Rating Event, an
Accounting Event or a Regulatory Event (each as defined in the relevant Terms and Conditions) has occurred,
the Issuer may redeem all relevant outstanding Notes in accordance with the relevant Conditions.

In the event that the Notes are redeemed due to a Rating Event, an Accounting Event or a Regulatory Event,
an investor may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in a comparable security at an effective
interest rate as high as that of the relevant Notes. See also the risk factor headed “Notes subject to optional
redemption by the Issuer”.

EONIA Linked Interest Notes, SONIA Linked Interest Notes, SOFR Linked Notes and CMS Linked
Interest Notes

The Issuer may issue Notes with interest determined by reference to EONIA, SONIA, the SOFR and the CMS
Rate which determine the amount of interest (each, a “relevant factor”). Potential investors should be aware
that:

i) the market price of such Notes may be volatile;
(ii))  they may receive no interest;

(iii) a relevant factor may be subject to significant fluctuations that may not correlate with changes in
interest rates, currencies or other indices; and

(iv)  the timing of changes in a relevant factor may affect the actual yield to investors, even if the average
level is consistent with their expectations.

EU reform of “benchmarks” (including LIBOR, EURIBOR and other interest rate index and equity,
commodity and foreign exchange rate indices)

The London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”), the Euro Interbank Offered Rate (“EURIBOR”) and other
indices which are deemed “benchmarks” (“Benchmarks”) are the subject of recent national, international and
other regulatory guidance and proposals for reform. Some of these reforms are already effective while others
are still to be implemented. These reforms may cause such Benchmarks to perform differently than in the
past, or to disappear entirely, or have other consequences which cannot be predicted. Any such consequence
could have a material adverse effect on any Notes linked to a Benchmark.

Key international reforms of Benchmarks include IOSCO’s proposed Principles for Financial Benchmarks
(July 2013) (the “IOSCO Benchmark Principles”) and the EU’s Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 of the
European Parliament and of the Council of 8 June 2016 on indices used as benchmarks in financial
instruments and financial contracts or to measure the performance of investment funds and amending
Directives 2008/48/EC and 2014/17/EU and Regulation (EU) No 596/2014 (the “Benchmarks Regulation™).

The IOSCO Benchmark Principles aim to create an overarching framework of principles for benchmarks to
be used in financial markets, specifically covering governance and accountability, as well as the quality and
transparency of benchmark design and methodologies. A review published in February 2015 on the status of
the voluntary market adoption of the IOSCO Benchmark Principles noted that, as the benchmarks industry is
in a state of change, further steps may need to be taken by IOSCO in the future, but that it is too early to
determine what those steps should be. The review noted that there has been a significant market reaction to
the publication of the IOSCO Benchmark Principles, and widespread efforts being made to implement the
I0SCO Benchmark Principles by the majority of administrators surveyed.
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On 17 May 2016, the Council of the European Union adopted the Benchmarks Regulation. The Benchmarks
Regulation was published in the Official Journal on 29 June 2016 and entered into force on 30 June 2016.
Subject to various transitional provisions, the Benchmarks Regulation applies from 1 January 2018, except
that the regime for “critical” benchmarks has applied from 30 June 2016 and certain amendments to
Regulation (EU) No 596/2014 (the “Market Abuse Regulation) have applied from 3 July 2016. Subject to
the transitional provisions set out in Article 51 of the Benchmark Regulation, the Benchmarks Regulation
would apply to “contributors”, “administrators” and “users of” Benchmarks in the EU, and would, among
other things, (i) require benchmark administrators to be authorised (or, if non-EU-based, to be subject to an
equivalent regulatory regime) and to comply with extensive requirements in relation to the administration of
Benchmarks and (ii) ban the use of Benchmarks of unauthorised administrators. The scope of the Benchmarks
Regulation is wide and, in addition to applying to so-called “critical benchmark™ indices such as LIBOR and
EURIBOR, could also potentially apply to many other interest rate indices, as well as equity, commodity and
foreign exchange rate indices and other indices (including “proprietary” indices or strategies) which are
referenced in listed financial instruments (including listed Notes), financial contracts and investment funds. In
a press release of 25 February 2019, the Commission announced that a political agreement has been reached
to extend the transitional period under the Benchmarks Regulation for two years for critical benchmarks and
third country benchmarks. Accordingly, providers of critical benchmarks (such as EURIBOR or EONIA)
have until 31 December 2021 to comply with the new Benchmark Regulation requirements. It is expected that
the European Parliament and Council will now move to formally adopt appropriate legislative measures to
give effect to this extension.

The Benchmarks Regulation could also have a material impact on any listed Notes linked to an index based
on a Benchmark, including in any of the following circumstances: (i) an index which is a Benchmark may not
be used as such if its administrator does not obtain appropriate EU authorisations or is based in a non-EU
jurisdiction which (subject to any applicable transitional provisions) does not have equivalent regulation. In
such event, depending on the particular Benchmark and the applicable terms of the Notes, the Notes could be
adjusted or otherwise impacted; (ii) the methodology or other terms of the Benchmark related to a series of
Notes could be changed in order to comply with the terms of the Benchmarks Regulation, and such changes
could have the effect of reducing or increasing the rate or level of the Benchmark or of affecting the volatility
of the published rate or level, and could lead to adjustments to the terms of the Notes, including Calculation
Agent determination of the rate or level in its discretion in accordance with standard market practice.

In the case of LIBOR, on 27 July 2017, the Chief Executive of the United Kingdom Financial Conduct
Authority (“FCA”), which regulates LIBOR, announced that it did not intend to continue to persuade, or use
its powers to compel, panel banks to submit rates for the calculation of LIBOR to the administrator of LIBOR
after 2021. The announcement indicates that the continuation of LIBOR on the current basis is not guaranteed
after 2021. In a further speech on 12 July 2018, the FCA emphasised that market participants should not rely
on the continued publication of LIBOR after the end of 2021. Against this context, SONIA (the Sterling
Overnight Index Average) is being developed as an alternative to Sterling LIBOR while the Federal Reserve’s
Alternative Reference Rates Committee has recommended SOFR (the Secured Overnight Financing Rate) as
the US replacement benchmark for LIBOR.

On EONIA, identified by the European Commission as a critical benchmark, the European Money Markets
Institute (“EMMI”) concluded that while the definition and calculation methodology of the rate remained in
their current format and in the absence of changes to market conditions and dynamics, EONIA’s compliance
with the Benchmarks Regulation cannot be warranted. The current plans are for EONIA to transition to
ESTER (the euro short-term rate), which has been identified as the alternative euro risk free rate, and the
European Central Bank, as benchmark administrator, is expected to begin publishing ESTER by October
2019.
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With reference to EURIBOR, EMMI has been taking steps to revise the methodology according to which
EURIBOR is calculated in order for EURIBOR to become a Benchmarks Regulation compliant term rate, and
has published in October 2018 its second consultation paper on a hybrid methodology. EMMI intends to
apply for authorisation as an authorised administrator in accordance with the Benchmarks Regulation by the
second quarter of 2019 and expects to be authorised before 1 January 2020.

Any of the international, national or other reforms (or proposals for reform) or the general increased
regulatory scrutiny of Benchmarks could increase the costs and risks of administering or otherwise
participating in the setting of a Benchmark and complying with any such regulations or requirements. Such
factors may have the effect of discouraging market participants from continuing to administer or participate in
certain Benchmarks, trigger changes in the rules or methodologies used in certain Benchmarks or lead to the
disappearance of certain Benchmarks.

Investors should be aware that if a Benchmark were discontinued or otherwise unavailable, the rate of interest
on Reset Notes and Floating Rate Notes which are linked to or which reference such Benchmark will be
determined for the relevant period in accordance with the fall-back provisions applicable to such Notes.

The "Terms and Conditions of the Senior Notes", the “Terms and Conditions of the Tier 2 Notes” and the
“Terms and Conditions of the Tier 3 Notes” provide for certain fallback arrangements in the event that a
published Benchmark, including an inter-bank offered rate such as LIBOR, EURIBOR or other relevant
reference rates (including, without limitation, mid-swap rates), or any page on which such Benchmark may be
published (or any successor service) becomes unavailable. In certain circumstances the ultimate fallback for
the purposes of calculation of interest for a particular Interest Period may result in the rate of interest for the
last preceding Interest Period being used. This may result in the effective application of a fixed rate for
Floating Rate Notes based on the rate which was last observed on the Relevant Screen Page or, in the case of
Fixed Rate Reset Notes, the application of the Reset Rate for a preceding Reset Period or, in the case of Fixed
Rate Reset Notes or Fixed-to-Floating Rate Notes, the application of the initial Rate of Interest applicable to
such Notes on the Interest Commencement Date. The relevant Terms and Conditions furthermore provide for
certain fallback arrangements in case a Benchmark Event otherwise occurs, including the possibility that the
rate of interest could be set by reference to a successor rate or an alternative reference rate and that such
successor rate or alternative reference rate may be adjusted (if required) in order to reduce or eliminate, to the
fullest extent reasonably practicable in the circumstances, any economic prejudice or benefit (as applicable) to
investors arising out of the replacement of the relevant Benchmark, all as determined by the Issuer (acting in
good faith and in consultation with an Independent Adviser). However, due to the uncertainty concerning the
availability of successor rates and alternative reference rates and the involvement of an Independent Adviser,
the relevant fallback provisions may not operate as intended at the relevant time.

In addition, pursuant to Condition 6.4 of the “Terms and Conditions of the Senior Notes”, Condition 8.4 of the
“Terms and Conditions of the Tier 2 Notes” and Condition 8.4 of the “Terms and Conditions of the Tier 3
Notes”, if a successor rate, alternative rate or adjustment spread is to be applied following the occurrence of a
Benchmark Event, certain changes may be made to the interest calculation provisions of the Floating Rate
Notes or Fixed Rate Reset Notes without the requirement for consent of the Noteholders, if the Issuer -
following consultation with the Independent Adviser and acting in good faith - determines that such
amendments are necessary to ensure the proper operation of the successor rate, alternative rate and/or
adjustment spread, save where, in the case of Subordinated Notes, such amendments could reasonably be
expected to prejudice the qualification of the relevant Notes as Tier 2 Notes or, as the case may be, Tier 3
Notes.

The market continues to develop in relation to risk free rates (including overnight rates) as a reference rate
for Floating Rate Notes
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Investors should be aware that the market continues to develop in relation to risk free rates, such as the
Sterling Overnight Index Average (“SONIA”) and the Secured Overnight Financial Rates (“SOFR”) as a
reference rate in the capital markets and its adoption an alternative to Sterling LIBOR. In particular, market
participants and relevant working groups are exploring alternative reference rates based on risk free rates
,including term SONIA and SOFR reference rates (which seek to measure the market’s forward expectation of
an average SONIA or SOFR rate over a designated term). The market, or a significant part thereof, may adopt
an application of risk free rates that differs (also significantly) from that set out in the Conditions and used in
relation to Notes referenced to a reference rate under the Programme.

Interest on Notes which reference certain risk free rates is only capable of being determined immediately prior
to the relevant Interest Payment Date. It may be difficult for investors in Notes which reference such risk free
rate to reliably estimate the amount of interest which will be payable on such Notes. Furthermore, if the Notes
become due and payable or are otherwise redeemed early on a date other than an Interest Payment Date, the
Rate of Interest payable for the final Interest Period in respect of such Notes shall only be determined
immediately prior to the date the Notes became due and payable and shall not be reset thereafter.

Furthermore:

- with respect to SONIA linked Notes, the Issuer may in the future issue Notes referencing SONIA that
differ materially in terms of interest determination when compared with any previous SONIA-linked
Notes issued by it under the Programme. The nascent development of Compounded Daily SONIA as an
interest reference rate for the Eurobond markets, as well as continued development of SONIA-based rates
for such market and the market infrastructure for adopting such rates, could result in reduced liquidity or
increased volatility or could otherwise affect the market price of any SONIA-referenced Notes issued
under the Programme from time to time;

- with respect to SOFR linked Notes, since the SOFR is a relatively new market index, SOFR-linked Notes
that can be issued under the Programme will likely have no established trading market when issued, and
an established trading market may never develop or may not very liquid. Market terms for debt securities
linked to the SOFR, such as the spread over the index reflected in interest rate provisions, may evolve
over time, and trading prices of any SOFR-linked Notes, if issued, may be lower than those of later-
issued indexed debt securities as a result. Similarly, if the SOFR does not prove to be widely used, the
trading price of any SOFR-linked Notes that are issued may be lower than those of debt securities linked
to indices that are more widely used. Investors in SOFR-linked Notes may not be able to sell their Notes
at all or may not be able to sell their Notes at prices that will provide them with a yield comparable to
similar investments that have developed a secondary market, and may consequently suffer from increased
pricing volatility and market risk.

Investors should consider these matters when making their investment decision with respect to any such
Floating Rate Notes.

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may bear interest at a rate that the Issuer may elect to convert from a fixed rate to a
floating rate, or from a floating rate to a fixed rate. The Issuer’s ability to convert the interest rate will affect
the secondary market and the market value of the Notes since the Issuer may be expected to convert the rate
when it is likely to produce a lower overall cost of borrowing. If the Issuer converts from a fixed rate to a
floating rate, the spread on the Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may be less favourable than then prevailing spreads
on comparable Floating Rate Notes tied to the same reference rate. In addition, the new floating rate at any
time may be lower than the rates on other Notes. If the Issuer converts from a floating rate to a fixed rate, the
fixed rate may be lower than then prevailing rates on its Notes.
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Reset Notes

Reset Notes will initially earn interest at the Initial Rate of Interest until (but excluding) the Reset Date (or, if
there is more than one Reset Period, the first Reset Date). On the first Reset Date and on each subsequent
Reset Date (if any) thereafter, the interest rate will be reset to the sum of the applicable Reset Reference Rate
and the applicable Reset Margin (the “Reset Rate”), which could be less than the Initial Rate of Interest or
the Reset Rate for prior Reset Periods, and could affect the market value of an investment in the Reset Notes.

Maximum/Minimum Rate of Interest

To the extent that a Minimum Rate of Interest applies, investors should consider that where the interest rate
does not rise above the level of Minimum Interest Rate, comparable investments in notes which pay interest
based on a fixed rate which is higher than the Minimum Interest Rate are likely to be more attractive to
potential investors than an investment in the Notes. Under those conditions, investors in the Notes might find
it difficult to sell their Notes on the secondary market (if any) or might only be able to realise the Notes at a
price which may be substantially lower than the nominal amount.

To the extent that a Maximum Rate of Interest applies, investors should be aware that the Rate of Interest is
capped at such Maximum Interest Rate level. Consequently, investors may not participate in any increase of
market interest rates, which may also negatively affect the market value of the Notes.

Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium

The market values of securities issued at a substantial discount or premium from their principal amount tend
to fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates than do prices for conventional interest-
bearing securities. Generally, the longer the remaining term of the securities, the greater the price volatility as
compared to conventional interest-bearing securities with comparable maturities.

Special provisions relating to Subordinated Notes

If the Issuer is declared insolvent and a winding up is initiated, before it can make any payments on
Subordinated Notes, it will be required to pay in full the holders of senior debt and meet its obligations to all
its other unsubordinated creditors (including unsecured creditors) as well as any other subordinated creditors
whose claims rank higher than the relevant Subordinated Notes. If this occurs, the Issuer may not have
enough assets remaining after these payments to pay amounts due under the relevant Subordinated Notes. See
further Condition 4 (Status of the Notes) of the Tier 3 Conditions and Condition 4.1 (Status — Senior Dated
Subordinated Notes) and Condition 4.2 (Status — Deeply Subordinated Notes) of the Tier 2 Conditions.

In addition, Subordinated Notes are subject to special provisions, driven by regulatory capital requirements,
which require the Issuer to defer payments to Noteholders of interest. See further Condition 5.1 (Mandatory
Deferral of Interest) of the Tier 3 Conditions and Condition 5.2 (Mandatory Deferral of Interest) of the Tier 2
Conditions. In the case of Tier 2 Notes, if the relevant Final Terms specify Optional Deferral of Interest as
being applicable, such Notes will be furthermore subject to special provisions as set out in Condition 5.1
(Optional Deferral of Interest) of the Tier 2 Conditions, which entitle the Issuer to defer interest payments to
Noteholders in the circumstances specified therein. As a result, any deferral of interest payments, or
perception that the Issuer will exercise its deferral right, will likely have an adverse effect on the market price
of the Notes. In addition, as a result of the interest deferral provisions of the Notes, the market price of the
Notes may be more volatile than the market prices of other debt securities on which original issue discount or
interest accrues that are not subject to such deferrals and may be more sensitive generally to adverse changes
in the financial condition of the Issuer.

Furthermore, the redemption of Subordinated Notes is subject to the satisfaction of the Conditions for
Redemption, and the Conditions provide that the scheduled maturity date of Subordinated Notes with a
specified maturity date or, in the case of an optional redemption of the Subordinated Notes, the relevant
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Optional Redemption Date, shall be postponed if the Conditions for Redemption are not satisfied: see further
Condition 6 (Conditions for Redemption), Condition 10.1 (Redemption and Purchase - Redemption),
Condition 10.10 (Redemption and Purchase - Postponement of optional redemption dates) and Condition
10.11 (Redemption and Purchase - Waiver of Redemption Suspension) of the Tier 2 Conditions and Condition
6 (Conditions for Redemption), Condition 10.1 (Redemption and Purchase — Scheduled redemption),
Condition 10.10 (Redemption and Purchase - Postponement of optional redemption dates) and Condition
10.11 (Redemption and Purchase - Waiver of Redemption Suspension) of the Tier 3 Conditions.

Where the relevant Final Terms state that the Relevant Undertaking Condition is applicable, the Conditions
for Redemption will relate also to whether any insurance or reinsurance undertaking included in the scope of
group supervision is in an insolvent winding-up at that time (see further sub-(iii) of the definition of
“Conditions for Redemption” set out in Condition 2 (Interpretation) of the Tier 2 Conditions and the Tier 3
Conditions). Where Optional Redemption due to a Regulatory Event is stated as being applicable in the
relevant Final Terms, the Issuer has the right to redeem the Subordinated Notes early in the circumstances
described, and subject to the conditions set forth, in Condition 10.4 (Redemption and Purchase - Optional
Redemption due to a Regulatory Event) of the Tier 2 Conditions and the Tier 3 Conditions.

The subordination level of Senior Dated Subordinated Notes issued under the Tier 2 Conditions vis-a-vis
More Senior Dated Subordinated Notes issued under the Tier 3 Conditions may vary.

The More Senior Dated Subordinated Notes issued by Assicurazioni Generali under Condition 4.1 (Status of
More Senior Dated Subordinated Notes of Assicurazioni Generali) of the Tier 3 Conditions rank (A) for so
long as any Relevant Existing Indebtedness is outstanding, (x) pari passu with such Relevant Existing
Indebtedness, and (y) at least pari passu with Senior Dated Subordinated Notes of Assicurazioni Generali
(other than, for clarity, Relevant Existing Indebtedness); and (B) provided that no Relevant Existing
Indebtedness is outstanding, senior to Senior Dated Subordinated Notes of Assicurazioni Generali.

The Senior Dated Subordinated Notes issued by Assicurazioni Generali under Condition 4.1 (Status of Senior
Dated Subordinated Notes of Assicurazioni Generali) of the Tier 2 Conditions rank (A) for so long as any
Relevant Existing Indebtedness is outstanding, pari passu with (x) such Relevant Existing Indebtedness, and
(y) More Senior Dated Subordinated Notes of Assicurazioni Generali; and (B) provided that no Relevant
Existing Indebtedness is outstanding, junior to More Senior Dated Subordinated Notes of Assicurazioni
Generali.

“Relevant Existing Indebtedness” is defined in the Tier 3 Conditions and the Tier 2 Conditions as “Dated
Subordinated Obligations of Assicurazioni Generali which are expressed to be senior subordinated obligations
having a specified maturity date, issued and outstanding as of 4 June 2019 if and for so long as their terms and
conditions do not permit the Issuer to issue subordinated obligations ranking senior thereto”.

As of the date of this Base Prospectus, Relevant Existing Indebtedness is comprised of the following series of
subordinated instruments issued by Assicurazioni Generali, with an aggregate principal amount currently
outstanding of €5,100,000,000:

- €750,000,000 Fixed/Floating Rate Notes due July 2042 (XS0802638642) issued in July 2012 (first call
July 2022);

- €1,250,000,000 Fixed/Floating Rate Notes due December 2042 (XS0863907522) issued in December
2012 (first call December 2022);

- €1,000,000,000 Senior Dated Subordinated Notes due May 2026 (XS1062900912) issued in May 2014;
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- €1,250,000,000 Fixed/Floating Rate Senior Dated Subordinated Notes due October 2047
(XS1311440082) issued in October 2015 (first call October 2027); and

- €850,000,000 Fixed/Floating Senior Dated Subordinated Notes due June 2048 (XS1428773763) issued in
June 2016 (first call June 2028).

As a result, the subordination level of the Senior Dated Subordinated Notes issued under the Tier 2 Conditions
and the subordination level of the More Senior Dated Subordinated Notes issued under the Tier 3 Conditions
may vary, as for as long as there is any Relevant Existing Indebtedness outstanding, the Senior Dated
Subordinated Notes will rank equally to the More Senior Dated Subordinated Notes, however, once no
Relevant Existing Indebtedness is outstanding, the Senior Dated Subordinated Notes will subsequently rank
junior to the More Senior Dated Subordinated Notes.

The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors seeking exposure to sustainable assets,
including “green” or “sustainable” bonds” and “social bonds”.

The Final Terms relating to any specific Tranche of Senior Notes, Tier 2 Notes or, as the case may be, Tier 3
Notes may provide that it will be the Issuer’s intention to apply the net proceeds of those Notes specifically
for projects and activities that promote “climate-friendly”, “sustainable” or other “environmental” purposes”
(respectively, “Green Bonds” and “Eligible Green Projects”), or “social” purposes (respectively, “Social
Bonds” and “Eligible Social Projects™) , or a combination of “green” and “social” purposes (respectively,
“Sustainability Bonds” and “Eligible Sustainability Projects” and together with the Eligible Green Projects
and the Eligible Social Projects, “Eligible Projects™), in cach case, that will be identified in accordance with

the criteria specified and defined in the section “Use of Proceeds”.

Prospective investors should determine for themselves the relevance of such information for the purpose of
any investment in such Green Bonds, Sustainability Bonds or Social Bonds together with any other
investigation such investor deems necessary.

In connection with the issue of Green Bonds, Sustainability Bonds or Social Bonds under the Programme, the
Issuer may request a sustainability rating agency or sustainability consulting firm to issue an independent
opinion (“Opinion”) confirming that the Green Bonds, the Social Bonds or, as the case may be, the
Sustainability Bonds and the relevant Eligible Projects are in compliance with the International Capital
Market Association (“ICMA”) Green Bond Principles, Social Bond Principles or, as the case may be,
Sustainability Bond Guidelines. The ICMA Green Bond Principles, the ICMA Social Bond Principles and the
ICMA Sustainability Bond Guidelines are a set of voluntary guidelines that recommend transparency and
disclosure and promote integrity in the development of the green/social/sustainability bond market.

If an Opinion is issued, such an Opinion is not incorporated into and does not form part of this Base
Prospectus. Further, the Opinion may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to the structure,
market, additional risk factors discussed here and other factors that may affect the value of the Green Bonds,
the Social Bonds or the Sustainability Bonds, as the case may be.

There is currently no market consensus on what precise attributes are required for a particular project to be
defined as ‘green’, ‘sustainable’ or ‘environmental’, in the case of Green Bonds, ‘social’ in the case of Social
Bonds or ‘green/environmental’ and ‘social’ in the case of Sustainability Bonds and therefore no assurance
can be provided to investors, in particular:

- that the use of such proceeds for any Eligible Projects will satisfy, whether in whole or in part, any
present or future investor expectations or requirements as regards any investment criteria or guidelines
with which such investor or its investments are required to comply according to applicable law and
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regulations or according to the investor’s own by-laws or other governing rules or investment portfolio
mandates;

- that any Eligible Projects will meet any or all investor expectations regarding such “green”,
“environmental” and/or “social”, “sustainable” or other equivalently-labelled performance objectives, or
as regards the direct or indirect environmental, sustainability and/or social impact of such Eligible
Projects, or that any adverse environmental, social and/or other impacts will not occur during the
implementation of such Eligible Projects. In addition, where adverse impacts are insufficiently mitigated,
the Eligible Projects may become controversial, and/or may be criticised by activist groups or other
stakeholders;

- as regards the suitability or reliability for any purpose whatsoever of any opinion or certification of any
third party (whether or not solicited by the Issuer) which may be made available in relation to any
Eligible Projects to fulfil any environmental, sustainability, social and/or other criteria. Prospective
investors must determine for themselves the relevance of any such opinion or certification and/or the
information contained therein, as well as the reliability of the provider of such opinion or certification
who may not be subject to any specific regulatory or other regime or oversight. Any such opinion or
certification would not constitute, and should not be considered by investors as, a recommendation to
buy, sell or hold the Green Bonds, the Social Bonds or the Sustainability Bonds, as the case may be, and
would only be current as of the date it is released.

With reference to any Notes in respect of which the applicable Final Terms state that the net proceeds will be
used to finance or refinance Eligible Projects, while it is the intention of the Issuer to apply the proceeds of
such Notes in such manner, there can be no assurance that the relevant projects will be capable of being
implemented in, or substantially in, such manner and/or accordance with any timing schedule and that
accordingly the Notes proceeds will indeed be totally or partially disbursed for such Eligible Projects. Any
failure to employ the Notes proceeds in the manner intended, or failure to comply with any reporting
obligations on the use of proceeds that may be undertaken by the Issuer at the time of the issuance of such
Notes, will not be an Event of Default under the relevant Notes. Similarly, the inability to complete any
Eligible Projects within the specified timeframe or failure to achieve the intended results of the projects will
not constitute an Event of Default under the relevant Notes.

In the event that any Green Bonds, Social Bonds or Sustainability Bonds, as the case may be, are listed or
admitted to trading on any dedicated “green”, “environmental”, “sustainable” or other equivalently-labelled
segment of any stock exchange or securities market (whether or not regulated), no representation or assurance
is given by the Issuer or any other person that such listing or admission satisfies, whether in whole or in part,
any present or future investor expectations or requirements as regards any investment criteria or guidelines
with which such investor or its investments are required to comply according to applicable law or regulations
(present or future) or according to the investor’s own by-laws or other governing rules or investment portfolio
mandates. Such listing or admission similarly does not offer any assurance as to the direct or indirect
environmental, sustainability or social impact of the relating Eligible Green Projects. The Issuer makes no
representation or assurance that any listing or admission to trading on any of the aforementioned segments of
any stock exchange will be obtained in respect of any Green Bonds, Social Bonds or Sustainability Bonds, as
the case may be, or, if obtained, that any such listing or admission to trading will be maintained during the life
of such Green Bonds (or Sustainability Bonds, as the case may be).

Any of the aforementioned events could potentially affect the value of the relevant Notes and/or result in
adverse consequences for certain investors with portfolio mandates to invest in securities to be used for a
particular purpose.
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Modification, waivers and substitution

The Conditions contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to consider matters affecting their
interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Noteholders including Noteholders
who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the
majority. Condition 15.4 (Meetings of Noteholders; Modification and Waiver, Substitution — Substitution) of
the Senior Conditions and Condition 17.5 (Meetings of Noteholders; Modification and Waiver; Modification
and/or exchange following a Regulatory Event, Tax Event or Rating Event; Substitution — Substitution) of the
Tier 2 Conditions and the Tier 3 Conditions, also each provide — with reference to Notes whose Final Terms
specify that the Substitution Provisions are applicable - that any duly incorporated Subsidiary of Assicurazioni
Generali in good standing under the laws of its jurisdiction may, without the consent of the Noteholders, but
with the prior written approval of Assicurazioni Generali, assume liability as the principal debtor in respect of
the Notes, subject to the terms and conditions set out therein.

Variation of the terms and conditions of Subordinated Notes or Exchange of Subordinated Notes for
Qualifying Securities

In relation to any series of Subordinated Notes, if the relevant Final Terms specify that the
Regulatory/Tax/Rating/Accounting Event Modification Provisions or the Regulatory/Tax/Rating/Account
Event Exchange Provisions are applicable, then the Issuer may in certain circumstances modify the terms and
conditions of such Subordinated Notes or, as applicable, exchange such Subordinated Notes for Qualifying
Securities, without any requirement for the consent or approval of the Noteholders to the extent that such
modification is reasonably necessary to ensure that no Regulatory Event, Tax Event, Rating Event or, as
applicable, Accounting Event would exist after such modification or would exist in relation to Qualifying
Securities, provided that the relevant conditions set forth in Condition 17.4 (Modification and/or Exchange
following a Regulatory Event, Tax Event, Rating Event or Accounting Event) of the Tier 2 Conditions and the
Tier 3 Conditions are satisfied. As a result, there can be no assurance that such modification or exchange may
not have an adverse impact on the price of, and/or the market for, the Notes or the circumstances of the
individual Noteholders.

Risks related to Notes generally

Set out below is a brief description of certain risks relating to the Notes generally.

Because the Global Notes are held by or on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg,
investors will have to rely on their procedures for transfer, payment and communication with the Issuer

Notes issued under the Programme may be represented by one or more Global Notes. Such Global Notes will
be deposited with a common depositary or common safekeeper for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.
Except in the circumstances described in the relevant Global Note, investors will not be entitled to receive
definitive Notes. Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg will maintain records of the beneficial interests in
the Global Notes. While the Notes are represented by one or more Global Notes, investors will be able to
trade their beneficial interests only through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. While the Notes are
represented by one or more Global Notes the Issuer will discharge its payment obligations under the Notes by
making payments to the common depositary or common safekeeper for Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourg for distribution to their account holders. A holder of a beneficial interest in a Global Note must
rely on the procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg to receive payments under the relevant
Notes. The Issuer has no responsibility or liability for the records relating to, or payments made in respect of,
beneficial interests in the Global Notes. Holders of beneficial interests in the Global Notes will not have a
direct right to vote in respect of the relevant Notes. Instead, such holders will be permitted to act only to the
extent that they are enabled by Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg to appoint appropriate proxies.
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Legality of purchase

Neither the Issuer, the Dealers, nor any of their respective affiliates has or assumes responsibility for the
lawfulness of the acquisition of the Notes by a prospective investor in the Notes, whether under the laws of
the jurisdiction of its incorporation or the jurisdiction in which it operates (if different), or for compliance by
that prospective investor with any law, regulation or regulatory policy applicable to it.

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments

The investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or review
or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to determine
whether and to what extent (i) Notes are legal investments for it, (ii) Notes can be used as collateral for
various types of borrowing and (iii) other restrictions apply to the purchase or pledge of any Notes. Financial
institutions should consult their legal advisors or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate
treatment of Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.

Potential conflict of interest of a Dealer acting as Calculation Agent

The Issuer may appoint a Dealer as Calculation Agent in respect of an issuance of Notes under the
Programme. In such a case the Calculation Agent is likely to be a member of an international financial group
that is involved, in the ordinary course of its business, in a wide range of banking activities out of which
conflicting interests may arise. Whilst such a Calculation Agent will, where relevant, have information
barriers and procedures in place to manage conflicts of interest, it may in its other banking activities from
time to time be engaged in transactions involving an index or related derivatives which may affect amounts
receivable by Noteholders during the term and on the maturity of the Notes or the market price, liquidity or
value of the Notes and which could be deemed to be adverse to the interests of the Noteholders.

Risks related to the markets generally

Set out below is a brief description of the principal market risks, including liquidity risk, exchange rate risk,
interest rate risk and credit risk that may be relevant in connection with an investment in Notes.

The secondary market generally

Notes may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. If a market does
develop, it may not be very liquid. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Notes easily or at prices
that will provide them with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed secondary
market. This is particularly the case for Notes that are especially sensitive to interest rate, currency or market
risks, are designed for specific investment objectives or strategies or have been structured to meet the
investment requirements of limited categories of investors. These types of Notes generally would have a more
limited secondary market and more price volatility than conventional debt securities. Illiquidity may have a
severely adverse effect on the market value of Notes.

Exchange rate risks and exchange controls

The Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Notes in the Specified Currency. This presents certain risks
relating to currency conversions if an investor’s financial activities are denominated principally in a currency
or currency unit (the “Investor’s Currency”) other than the Specified Currency. These include the risk that
exchange rates may significantly change (including changes due to devaluation of the Specified Currency or
revaluation of the Investor’s Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor’s
Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. An appreciation in the value of the Investor’s Currency
relative to the Specified Currency would decrease (i) the Investor’s Currency-equivalent yield on the Notes,
(i1) the Investor’s Currency equivalent value of the principal payable on the Notes and (iii) the Investor’s
Currency equivalent market value of the Notes. Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some

28



have done in the past) exchange controls that could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate. As a result,
investors may receive less interest or principal than expected, or no interest or principal.

Interest rate risks

Investment in Fixed Rate Notes involves the risk that subsequent changes in market interest rates may
adversely affect the value of the Fixed Rate Notes.

Credit ratings may not reflect all risks

One or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to the Notes. The ratings may not
reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional factors discussed above, and
other factors that may affect the value of the Notes. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or
hold securities and may be revised or withdrawn by the rating agency at any time.

Notes where denominations involve integral multiples; definitive Notes

In relation to any issue of Notes which have denominations consisting of a minimum Specified Denomination
plus one or more higher integral multiples of another smaller amount, it is possible that such Notes may be
traded in amounts that are not integral multiples of such minimum Specified Denomination. In such a case a
holder who, as a result of trading such amounts, holds an amount which is less than the minimum Specified
Denomination in his account with the relevant clearing system at the relevant time may not receive a
definitive Note in respect of such holding (should definitive Notes be printed) and would need to purchase a
principal amount of Notes such that its holding amounts to a Specified Denomination. If definitive Notes are
issued, holders should be aware that definitive Notes which have a denomination that is not an integral
multiple of the minimum Specified Denomination may be illiquid and difficult to trade.
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GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAMME

The following is a general description of the Programme for the purposes of Article 22.5(3) of Commission

Regulation (EC) No 809/2004 implementing the Prospectus Directive. The following overview does not

purport to be complete and is qualified by the remainder of this Base Prospectus and, in relation to the terms

and conditions of any particular Series (as defined below in “Terms and Conditions of the Senior Notes”,

“Terms and Conditions of the Tier 3 Notes” or, as applicable, “Terms and Conditions of the Tier 2 Notes”) of

Notes, the relevant Final Terms.

Words and expressions defined in “Forms of the Notes” or “Terms and Conditions of the Senior Notes”,

“Terms and Conditions of the Tier 3 Notes” or, as applicable, “Terms and Conditions of the Tier 2 Notes”

below shall have the same meanings in this general description, and references to a numbered “Condition”

shall be to the relevant Condition under the relevant Terms and Conditions set out below.

Issuer:

Issuer Legal Entity Identifier
(LED):

Arrangers:

Dealers:

Assicurazioni Generali S.p.A.

The Generali Group is the largest insurance group in Italy and the
third largest in Europe in terms of total gross premiums written. The
Generali Group operates in more than 60 countries worldwide through
branch offices and subsidiaries.

The Generali Group undertakes a wide range of direct life and non-life
insurance business, assumed reinsurance business and activities in
fund and asset management and related areas.

As at 31 December 2018, gross earned premiums of the Generali
Group amounted to Euro 65.19 billion (as at 31 December 2017: Euro
62.88 billion), of which Euro 44.59 billion (as at 31 December 2017:
Euro 42.33 billion) was attributable to its life insurance business and
Euro 20.61 billion (as at 31 December 2017: Euro 20.55 billion) to its
non-life insurance business. The consolidated net profit, that includes
the result of discontinued operations, of the Generali Group for the
full year 2018 (excluding minority interests) was Euro 2.31 billion (as
at 31 December 2017: Euro 2.11 billion). Total investments of the
Generali Group as at 31 December 2018 amounted to Euro 412.23
billion (as at 31 December 2017: Euro 471.23 billion). Total insurance
provisions, as at 31 December 2018 amounted to Euro 377.83 billion
(as at 31 December 2017: Euro 430.49 billion). See “Description of
the Issuer”.

549300X5UKIJVE386ZB61

Banca Generali S.p.A. and HSBC Bank plc.

Banca Generali S.p.A., Barclays Bank PLC, Barclays Bank Ireland
PLC, Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria S.A., BNP Paribas, BofA
Securities Europe SA, Citigroup Global Markets Limited, Citigroup
Global Markets Europe AG, Crédit Agricole Corporate and
Investment Bank, Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch, Goldman
Sachs International, HSBC Bank ple, J.P. Morgan Securities plc,
Mediobanca — Banca di Credito Finanziario S.p.A., Merrill Lynch
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Fiscal Agent and Luxembourg
Listing Agent:

Rating:

Approval, Listing and
Admission to Trading:

International, Mizuho International plc, Mizuho Securities Europe
GmbH, Morgan Stanley & Co. International plc, Natixis, Nomura
International plc, Société Générale, UniCredit Bank AG and any other
Dealer appointed from time to time by the Issuer either generally in
respect of the Programme or in relation to a particular Tranche of
Notes.

BNP Paribas Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch.

The rating of the Notes to be issued under the Programme will be
specified in the relevant Final Terms. A rating is not a
recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject
to suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the
assigning rating agency.

Whether or not each credit rating applied for in relation to the relevant
Series of Notes will be (1) issued by a credit rating agency established
in the EEA and registered (or which has applied for registration and
not been refused) under Regulation (EU) No. 1060/2009, as amended
(the “CRA Regulation”), or (2) issued by a credit rating agency
which is not established in the EEA but will be endorsed by a CRA
which is established in the EEA and registered under the CRA
Regulation or (3) issued by a credit rating agency which is not
established in the EEA but which is certified under the CRA
Regulation will be disclosed in the relevant Final Terms.

In general, European regulated investors are restricted from using a
rating for regulatory purposes if such rating is not issued by a credit
rating agency established in the EEA and registered under the CRA
Regulation unless (i) the rating is provided by a credit rating agency
operating in the EEA before 7 June 2010 which has submitted an
application for registration in accordance with the CRA Regulation
and such registration has not been refused, or (ii) the rating is
provided by a credit rating agency not established in the EEA but is
endorsed by a credit rating agency established in the EEA and
registered under the CRA Regulation or (iii) the rating is provided by
a credit rating agency not established in the EEA which is certified
under the CRA Regulation.

ESMA is obliged to maintain on its website,
https://www.esma.europa.eu/supervision/credit-rating-agencies/risk

a list of credit rating agencies registered and certified in accordance
with the CRA Regulation.

Application has been made to the CSSF to approve this document as a
base prospectus. Application has also been made for Notes issued
under the Programme to be admitted to trading on the regulated
market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and to be listed on the
official list of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.

Notes may be listed or admitted to trading, as the case may be, on
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Clearing Systems:

Initial Programme Amount:

Issuance in Series:

Relevant Final Terms or
Drawdown Prospectus:

Forms of Notes:

Currencies:

Status of the Notes:

other or further stock exchanges or markets agreed between the Issuer
and the relevant Dealer in relation to the Series. Notes which are
neither listed nor admitted to trading on any market may also be
issued.

Pursuant to Articles 17 and 18 of the Prospectus Directive, Article 19
of the Luxembourg Prospectus Law and for the purposes of having
Notes admitted to trading on a regulated market in a Member State of
the European Economic Area other than Luxembourg, the CSSF will
notify ESMA and may, at the request of the Issuer, send to the
competent authority of such Member State: (i) a copy of this Base
Prospectus; and (ii) a certificate of approval attesting that this Base
Prospectus has been drawn up in accordance with the Prospectus
Directive.

Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or, in relation to any
Tranche of Notes, any other clearing system as may be specified in the
relevant Final Terms.

€15,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies) aggregate
principal amount of Notes outstanding at any one time and any notes
(from time to time outstanding) issued prior to the date of this Base
Prospectus by Generali Finance B.V. (“Generali Finance”) and
guaranteed by Assicurazioni Generali under the Programme.

Notes will be issued in Series. Each Series may comprise one or more
Tranches issued on different issue dates. The Notes of each Series will
all be subject to identical terms, except that the issue date, issue price
and the amount of the first payment of interest may be different in
respect of different Tranches. The Notes of each Tranche will all be
subject to identical terms in all respects save that a Tranche may
comprise Notes of different denominations.

Notes issued under the Programme may be issued either: (1) pursuant
to this Base Prospectus and, as relevant, (i) the final terms of the
Senior Notes in respect of any Tranche of Senior Notes (the “Final
Terms of the Senior Notes™); (ii) the final terms of the Tier 2 Notes in
respect of any Tranche of Tier 2 Notes (the “Final Terms of the Tier
2 Notes™); or (iii) the final terms of the Tier 3 Notes, in respect of any
Tranche of Tier 3 Notes (the “Final Terms of the Tier 3 Notes”)
(together the “Final Terms” and each, the “relevant Final Terms”) or
(2) pursuant to a Drawdown Prospectus.

Notes may only be issued in bearer form. Each Tranche of Notes will
initially be in the form of either a Temporary Global Note or a
Permanent Global Note, in each case as specified in the relevant Final
Terms.

Notes may be denominated in euro or in any other currency or
currencies, subject to compliance with all applicable legal and/or
regulatory and/or central bank requirements.

Notes may be issued by the Issuer on a subordinated or
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Senior Notes — Cross Default:

Subordinated Notes — Deferral
of Interest:

Subordinated Notes —
Modification and/or Exchange
following a Regulatory Event,
Tax Event, Rating Event or
Accounting Event:

Issue Price:

Maturities:

unsubordinated basis as specified in the relevant Final Terms.

For further details of the status of the Notes, see the Senior
Conditions, the Tier 2 Conditions and the Tier 3 Conditions.

The Senior Notes will have the benefit of a cross default as described
in Condition 11(C) (Events of Default — Cross default of Issuer) of the
Senior Conditions.

Subordinated Notes are subject to mandatory interest deferral
provisions which require the Issuer to defer payment of all of the
interest accrued on its Subordinated Notes on an Interest Payment
Date subject to certain conditions, all as described in further detail in
Condition 5.1 (Mandatory Deferral of Interest) of the Tier 3
Conditions and Condition 5.2 (Mandatory Deferral of Interest) of the
Tier 2 Conditions.

If the relevant Final Terms state that Optional Deferral of Interest is
applicable, the Issuer may elect to defer interest payment accrued on
Tier 2 Notes on an Interest Payment Date in the circumstances set
forth in Condition 5.1 (Optional Deferral of Interest) of the Tier 2
Conditions.

If the Regulatory Event, Tax Event, Rating Event or Accounting Event
Modification Provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms as
being applicable, the Issuer may in certain circumstances following a
Regulatory Event, a Tax Event, a Rating Event or an Accounting
Event, as the case may be, without any requirement for the consent or
approval of the Noteholders, modify the terms of the Subordinated
Notes as described in further detail in Condition 17.4 (Modification
and/or Exchange following a Regulatory Event, Tax Event, Rating
Event or Accounting Event) of the Tier 2 Conditions and the Tier 3
Conditions.

If the Regulatory/Tax/Rating/Accounting Event Exchange Provisions
are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, the
Issuer may in certain circumstances following a Regulatory Event, a
Tax Event, a Rating Event or an Accounting Event, as the case may
be, without any requirement for the consent or approval of the
Noteholders, exchange all (but not some only) of the Subordinated
Notes for Qualifying Securities as described in further detail in
Condition 17.4 (Modification and/or Exchange following a
Regulatory Event, Tax Event, Rating Event or Accounting Event) of
the Tier 2 Conditions and the Tier 3 Conditions.

Notes may be issued at any price, as specified in the relevant Final
Terms.

Any maturity or no fixed maturity date, subject, in relation to specific
currencies, to compliance with all applicable legal and/or regulatory
and/or central bank requirements.

In the case of Subordinated Notes with a specified maturity date, the
scheduled maturity date will be postponed in certain circumstances, as
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Redemption:

Interest:

set out in Condition 6 (Conditions for Redemption) and Condition
10.1.1 (Redemption and Purchase — Scheduled redemption of Notes
with specified maturity date) of the Tier 2 Conditions and in Condition
6 (Conditions for Redemption) and Condition 10.1 (Redemption and
Purchase — Scheduled redemption) of the Tier 3 Conditions.

Subordinated Notes intended to qualify as Tier 2 Own Funds and Tier
3 Own Funds are required under Commission Delegated Regulation
(EU) 2015/35 of 10 October 2014 supplementing the Solvency II
Directive to have an original maturity of at least ten years and five
years, respectively.

The relevant Final Terms will specify the redemption amount. Unless
previously redeemed, or purchased and cancelled, the Notes will
(subject as mentioned below with respect to Subordinated Notes) be
redeemed at their Final Redemption Amount.

The relevant Final Terms relating to each Tranche of Notes will
indicate either that the Notes of that Tranche cannot be redeemed prior
to their stated maturity or that such Notes will be redeemable prior to
such stated maturity at the option of the Issuer where the Call Option
is specified and/or, in the case of Senior Notes only, at the option of
the holders of such Notes or at the option of the Issuer in the event
that at least 80% of the intial aggregate principal amount of the Notes
has been purchased or redeemed by the Issuer, where the Put Option
or, as the case may be, Clean-up Call Option, is specified, on such
terms as are indicated in the relevant Terms and Conditions and the
relevant Final Terms.

The Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer for tax reasons.
In addition, if specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Notes may be
redeemed by the Issuer where the Optional Redemption due to a
Regulatory Event, Rating Event or Accounting Event is specified.

Redemption of Subordinated Notes is subject to satisfaction of the
conditions set out in Condition 6 (Conditions for Redemption) of the
Tier 2 Conditions and the Tier 3 Conditions, and may also be
suspended and postponed as described therein and in Condition 10.1.1
(Redemption and Purchase — Scheduled redemption of Notes with
specified maturity date) and Condition 10.10 (Redemption and
Purchase - Postponement of optional redemption dates) of the Tier 2
Conditions and in Condition 10.1 (Redemption and Purchase —
Scheduled Redemption) and Condition 10.10 (Redemption and
Purchase - Postponement of optional redemption dates) of the Tier 3
Conditions.

Other than, if any, in respect of Zero Coupon Notes, no Series of
Notes will be redeemed below its principal amount under any
circumstances.

Notes may or may not bear interest. Interest-bearing Notes will either
bear interest payable at a fixed rate, a floating rate, initially at a fixed
rate then switched to floating rate or vice versa, or at a rate which may
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Benchmark discontinuation:

Denominations:

Taxation:

Governing Law:

Enforcement of Notes in
Global Form:

be reset on one or more occasions during the life of the Notes.

On the occurrence of a Benchmark Event, the Issuer may (subject to
certain conditions and following consultation with an Independent
Adviser) determine a Successor Rate, failing which an Alternative
Rate and, in either case, an Adjustment Spread, if any, and any
Benchmark Amendments (each term as defined in the Conditions) in
accordance with Condition 6.4 of the Terms and Conditions of the
Senior Notes, Condition 8.4 of the Terms and Conditions of the Tier 2
Notes and 8.4 of the Terms and Conditions of the Tier 3 Notes.

No Notes may be issued under the Programme which have a minimum
denomination of less than EUR 100,000 (or, where the Notes are
denominated in a currency other than euro, the equivalent amount in
such other currency). Subject thereto, Notes will be issued in such
denominations as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms, subject
to compliance with all applicable legal and/or regulatory and/or
central bank requirements.

All payments in respect of Notes issued by Assicurazioni Generali will
be made free and clear of withholding taxes of the Republic of Italy
(“Italy”) (and subject to certain exceptions), unless the withholding is
required by law. In that event, the Issuer will (subject as provided in
Condition 10 (Zaxation) of the Senior Conditions and Condition 12
(Taxation) of the Tier 2 Conditions and the Tier 3 Conditions) pay
such additional amounts as will result in the Noteholders receiving
such amounts as they would have received in respect of such Notes
had no such withholding been required.

The Notes may be governed by English law or Italian law, as specified
in the relevant Final Terms.

In the case of Notes specified in the relevant Final Terms to be
governed by English law: (A) the Notes will be governed by, and shall
be construed in accordance with, English law, except that provisions
concerning the status of the Subordinated Notes issued by
Assicurazioni Generali are governed by the laws of the Republic of
Italy; (B) the Global Notes, the Deed of Covenant and the Agency
Agreement will be governed by the laws of England.

In the case of Notes specified in the relevant Final Terms to be
governed by Italian law: (A) the Notes and the Agency Agreement
will be governed by the laws of Italy; and (B) all contractual and non-
contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Global
Notes will be governed by Italian law, while, the form and
transferability of the Global Notes will be governed by English law.

In the case of Notes specified in the relevant Final Terms to be
governed by English law, for so long as the Notes are represented by
Global Notes, individual investors’ rights against the Issuer will be
governed by a Deed of Covenant entered into by the Issuer dated 4
June 2019 copies of which will be available for inspection at the
specified office of the Fiscal Agent.
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Selling Restrictions:

Risk Factors:

For a description of certain restrictions on offers, sales and deliveries
of Notes and on the distribution of offering material in the United
States of America, Hong Kong, Japan, The European Economic Area
(including the United Kingdom and the Republic of Italy), The
People’s Republic of China, The Republic of China and Singapore
see, “Subscription and Sale” below.

The purchase of Notes may involve substantial risks and may be
suitable only for investors who have the knowledge and experience in
financial and business matters necessary to enable them to evaluate
the risks and the merits of an investment in the Notes. See “Risk
Factors”.
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IMPORTANT NOTICES

This Base Prospectus comprises a base prospectus for the purposes of Article 5(4) of the Prospectus Directive.

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this document and for the relevant Final
Terms for each Tranche of Notes issued under the Programme and to the best of the knowledge of the Issuer
(which has taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), the information contained in this
document and in the relevant Final Terms for each Tranche of Notes issued under the Programme is in
accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information.

This Base Prospectus should be read and construed together with any supplements hereto and with any other
documents incorporated by reference herein and, in relation to any Tranche (as defined herein) of Notes,
should be read and construed together with the relevant Final Terms.

The Issuer has confirmed to the Dealers named under “Subscription and Sale” below that this Base
Prospectus (including for this purpose, each relevant Final Terms) contains all information which according to
the particular nature of the Issuer and the securities offered to the public or admitted to trading on a regulated
market, is necessary to enable investors to make an informed assessment of the assets and liabilities, financial
position, profits and losses, and the prospects of the Issuer and of any rights attaching to such securities and is
(in the context of the Programme and the issue, offering and sale of the Notes) material; that such information
is true and accurate in all material respects and is not misleading in any material respect; that any opinions,
predictions or intentions expressed herein are honestly held or made and are not misleading in any material
respect; that this Base Prospectus does not omit to state any material fact necessary to make such information,
opinions, predictions or intentions (in the context of the Programme and the issue, offering and sale of the
Notes, where applicable) not misleading in any material respect; and that all proper enquiries have been made
to verify the foregoing.

No person has been authorised to give any information or to make any representation not contained in or not
consistent with this Base Prospectus or any other document entered into in relation to the Programme or any
information supplied by the Issuer or such other information as is in the public domain and, if given or made,
such information or representation should not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Issuer or any
Dealer.

No representation or warranty is made or implied by the Dealers or any of their respective affiliates, and
neither the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates makes any representation or warranty or accepts any
responsibility as to the accuracy or completeness of the information contained in this Base Prospectus.
Neither the delivery of this Base Prospectus or any Final Terms nor the offering, sale or delivery of any Note
shall, in any circumstances, create any implication that the information contained in this Base Prospectus is
true subsequent to the date hereof or the date upon which this Base Prospectus has been most recently
supplemented or that there has been no adverse change, or any event reasonably likely to involve any adverse
change, in the condition (financial or otherwise) of the Issuer since the date hereof or, if later, the date upon
which this Base Prospectus has been most recently supplemented or that any other information supplied in
connection with the Programme is correct at any time subsequent to the date on which it is supplied or, if
different, the date indicated in the document containing the same.

This Base Prospectus may only be used for the purposes for which it has been published. The distribution of
this Base Prospectus and any Final Terms and the offering, sale and delivery of the Notes in certain
jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons into whose possession this Base Prospectus or any Final Terms
comes are required by the Issuer and the Dealers to inform themselves about and to observe any such
restrictions. For a description of certain restrictions on offers, sales and deliveries of Notes and on the
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distribution of this Base Prospectus or any Final Terms and other offering material relating to the Notes, see
“Subscription and Sale”. In particular, Notes have not been and will not be registered under the United States
Securities Act of 1933 (as amended) (the “Securities Act”) and are subject to U.S. tax law requirements.
Subject to certain exceptions, Notes may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or to U.S.
persons.

PRIIPs / IMPORTANT — EEA RETAIL INVESTORS - If the Final Terms in respect of any Notes includes
a legend entitled "Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors", the Notes are not intended to be offered, sold
or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail
investor in the European Economic Area ("EEA"). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is
one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as
amended, "MIFID II"); (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive 2002/92/EC (as amended), where that
customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii)
not a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Directive. Consequently, no key information document
required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (the "PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Notes or
otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or
selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under
the PRIIPS Regulation.

MIFID II PRODUCT GOVERNANCE / TARGET MARKET - The Final Terms in respect of any Notes
will include a legend entitled “MiFID II Product Governance” which will outline the target market
assessment in respect of the Notes and which channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any
person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a “distributor”) should take into
consideration the target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for
undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target
market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels. A determination will be made in
relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the MiFID Product Governance rules under EU
Delegated Directive 2017/593 (the “MiFID Product Governance Rules”), any Dealer subscribing for any
Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but otherwise neither the Arranger nor the Dealers nor any
of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for the purpose of the MIFID Product Governance Rules.

Neither this Base Prospectus nor any Final Terms constitutes an offer or an invitation to subscribe for or
purchase any Notes and should not be considered as a recommendation by the Issuer, the Dealers or any of
them that any recipient of this Base Prospectus or any Final Terms should subscribe for or purchase any
Notes. Each recipient of this Base Prospectus or any Final Terms shall be taken to have made its own
investigation and appraisal of the condition (financial or otherwise) of the Issuer.

The maximum aggregate principal amount of Notes outstanding at any one time under the Programme will
not exceed €15,000,000,000 and, for this purpose, any Notes denominated in another currency shall be
translated into euro at the date of the agreement to issue such Notes, calculated in accordance with the
provisions of the Dealer Agreement (as defined under “Subscription and Sale”). The maximum aggregate
principal amount of Notes which may be outstanding at any one time under the Programme may be increased
from time to time, subject to compliance with the relevant provisions of the Dealer Agreement.

Notes issued pursuant to the Programme may also be rated or unrated. Where an issue of Notes is rated, its
rating will be specified in the relevant Final Terms. A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold
securities and may be subject to suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating
agency. Whether or not each credit rating applied for in relation to the relevant Series of Notes will be issued
by a credit rating agency established in the European Union and registered under Regulation (EC) No
1060/2009 (the “CRA Regulation”) will be disclosed in the relevant Final Terms. In general, European
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regulated investors are restricted from using a rating for regulatory purposes if such rating is not issued by a
credit rating agency established in the European Union and registered under the CRA Regulation (or is
endorsed and published or distributed by subscription by such a credit rating agency in accordance with the
Regulation) unless the rating is provided by a credit rating agency operating in the European Union before 7
June 2010 which has submitted an application for registration in accordance with the CRA Regulation and
such registration is not refused.

ESMA is obliged to maintain on its website, https://www.esma.europa.eu/supervision/credit-rating-
agencies/risk a list of credit rating agencies registered and certified in accordance with the CRA Regulation.

In this Base Prospectus, unless otherwise specified, references to “EUR”, “euro” or “€” are to the single
currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European Economic and Monetary Union and as defined
in Article 2 of Council Regulation (EC) No. 974/98 of 3 May 1998 on the introduction of the euro, as
amended. Unless otherwise specified or where the context requires, references to laws and regulations are to
the laws and regulations of Italy.

This Base Prospectus has been prepared on the basis that, except to the extent sub-paragraph (ii) below may
apply, any offer of Notes in any Member State of the European Economic Area which has implemented the
Prospectus Directive (each, a “Relevant Member State”) will be made pursuant to an exemption under the
Prospectus Directive, as implemented in that Relevant Member State, from the requirement to publish a
prospectus for offers of Notes. Accordingly any person making or intending to make an offer in that Relevant
Member State of Notes which are the subject of an offering/placement contemplated in this Base Prospectus
as completed by the relevant Final Terms or a Drawdown Prospectus in relation to the offer of those Notes
may only do so (i) in circumstances in which no obligation arises for the Issuer or any Dealer to publish a
prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 16
of the Prospectus Directive, in each case, in relation to such offer, or (ii) if a prospectus for such offer has
been approved by the competent authority in that Relevant Member State or, where appropriate, approved in
another Relevant Member State and notified to the competent authority in that Relevant Member State and (in
either case) published, all in accordance with the Prospectus Directive, provided that any such prospectus has
subsequently been completed by the relevant Final Terms or is a Drawdown Prospectus which specifies that
offers may be made other than pursuant to Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive in that Relevant Member
State, such offer is made in the period beginning and ending on the dates specified for such purpose in such
prospectus or final terms or drawdown prospectus, as applicable, and the Issuer has consented in writing to its
use for the purpose of such offer. Except to the extent sub-paragraph (ii) above may apply, neither the Issuer
nor any Dealer have authorised, nor do they authorise, the making of any offer of Notes in circumstances in
which an obligation arises for the Issuer or any Dealer to publish or supplement a prospectus for such offer.
The expression “Prospectus Directive” means Directive 2003/71/EC (as amended, including by Directive
2010/73/EU), and includes any relevant implementing measure in the Relevant Member State.

SINGAPORE SFA PRODUCT CLASSIFICATION: In connection with Section 309B of the Securities
and Futures Act (Chapter 289) of Singapore (the “SFA”) and the Securities and Futures (Capital
Markets Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore (the “CMP Regulations 2018”), the Issuer has
determined, and hereby notifies all relevant persons (as defined in Section 309A(1) of the SFA), that the
Notes are ‘prescribed capital markets products’ (as defined in the CMP Regulations 2018) and
Excluded Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment
Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products).
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Certain figures included in this Base Prospectus have been subject to rounding adjustments; accordingly,
figures shown for the same category presented in different tables may vary slightly and figures shown as totals
in certain tables may not be an arithmetic aggregation of the figures which precede them.

STABILISATION

IN CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUE OF ANY TRANCHE OF NOTES, THE DEALER OR
DEALERS (IF ANY) NAMED AS THE STABILISING MANAGER(S) (THE “STABILISING
MANAGER(S)” (OR ANY PERSON ACTING ON BEHALF OF ANY STABILISING MANAGER(S))
IN THE APPLICABLE SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT, MAY OVER-ALLOT NOTES OR EFFECT
TRANSACTIONS WITH A VIEW TO SUPPORTING THE MARKET PRICE OF THE NOTES AT A
LEVEL HIGHER THAN THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL. HOWEVER, THERE IS
NO ASSURANCE THAT STABILISATION MAY NECESSARILY OCCUR. ANY STABILISATION
ACTION MAY BEGIN ON OR AFTER THE DATE ON WHICH ADEQUATE PUBLIC
DISCLOSURE OF THE TERMS OF THE OFFER OF THE RELEVANT TRANCHE IS MADE AND,
IF BEGUN, MAY CEASE AT ANY TIME, BUT IT MUST END NO LATER THAN THE EARLIER
OF 30 DAYS AFTER THE ISSUE DATE OF THE RELEVANT TRANCHE OF NOTES AND 60 DAYS
AFTER THE DATE OF THE ALLOTMENT OF THE RELEVANT TRANCHE OF NOTES. ANY
STABILISATION ACTION OR OVER-ALLOTMENT MUST BE CONDUCTED BY THE
RELEVANT STABILISING MANAGER(S) (OR ANY PERSON ACTING ON BEHALF OF ANY
STABILISING MANAGER(S)) INACCORDANCE WITH ALL APPLICABLE LAWS AND RULES.

MARKET STATISTICS

Information and statistics presented in this Base Prospectus regarding business trends, market trends, market
volumes and the market share of the Issuer or the Generali Group (as defined herein) are either derived from,
or are based on, internal data or publicly available data from various independent sources. Although the Issuer
believes that the external sources used are reliable, the Issuer has not independently verified the information
provided by such sources.
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INFORMATION INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The following information shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference in, and to form part of, this Base
Prospectus:

(1)  the English translation of the audited consolidated annual financial statements as at and for the years
ended 31 December 2017 and 2018 of Assicurazioni Generali, in each case together with the
accompanying notes and English translation of independent auditors’ reports as included on those
pages specified under the paragraph headed “Assicurazioni Generali - Consolidated annual financial
statements” in the section entitled “Cross-Reference List” below;

(2)  the English translation of the audited non-consolidated (statutory) annual financial statements as at and
for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2018 for Assicurazioni Generali, in each case together with
the accompanying notes and English translation of independent auditors’ reports as included on those
pages specified under the paragraph headed “Assicurazioni Generali — Non-consolidated annual
financial statements” in the section entitled “Cross-Reference List” below;

(3)  section C.7.1. (Sensitivity Analyses) of the report headed “Solvency and financial condition Report of
the Generali 2018, as included on page 74 of such report, and

(4)  the press release dated 16 May 2019 announcing approval by the Board of Directors of the Group’s
consolidated interim financial information as at and for the three months ended 31 March 2019 (the
“2019 First Quarter Results Press Release”),

save that any statement contained in this Base Prospectus or in any of the documents incorporated by
reference in, and forming part of, this Base Prospectus shall be deemed to be modified or superseded for the
purpose of this Base Prospectus to the extent that a statement contained in any document subsequently
incorporated by reference by way of supplement prepared in accordance with Article 16 of the Prospectus
Directive modifies or supersedes such statement.

The Issuer will provide, without charge to each person to whom a copy of this Base Prospectus has been
delivered, upon the request of such person, a copy of any or all the documents deemed to be incorporated by
reference herein unless such documents have been modified or superseded as specified above, in which case
the modified or superseded version of such document will be provided. Request for such documents should be
directed to the Issuer at its offices set out at the end of this Base Prospectus. In addition, such documents will
be available, without charge, at the principal office of the Arrangers and of the Paying Agents in Luxembourg
and on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s website (www.bourse.lu).

The consolidated financial statements of Assicurazioni Generali incorporated by reference herein have been
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by the European Union
(“IFRS”) as referred to herein. Unless otherwise stated, the consolidated income statement for the year ended
31 December 2017 presented in this Base Prospectus is the comparative consolidated income statement
included in the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2018, which is restated in accordance with
IFRS 5 “Non current assets held for sale and discontinued operations” following the divestment of Belgian,
Germany and Guernsey businesses as well as the disposal of the Dutch and Irish operations completed in
February and June 2018, respectively.

The consolidated financial statements of Assicurazioni Generali as at and for the years ended 31 December
2017 and 2018 incorporated by reference herein, have been audited by EY S.p.A.. The audit reports of EY
S.p.A. are included in the financial statements incorporated by reference herein.
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CROSS-REFERENCE LIST

The following table shows where the information required under Annex IX, paragraphs 11.1 (Historical
Financial Information), 11.5 (Legal and arbitration proceedings), 11.6 (Significant change in the issuer’s
financial or trading position) and 7.1 (Trend information) of Commission Regulation (EC) No. 809/2004 can
be found in the above-mentioned documents incorporated by reference. The information incorporated by
reference that is not included in the cross-reference list is considered as additional information and is not
required by the relevant schedules of the Commission Regulation (EC) No. 809/2004. The page references

indicated below correspond to the page references of the PDF document format.

Assicurazioni Generali —Consolidated annual financial statements

Annual Integrated Report

Outlook for Generali Group

Methodological note on alternative performance measures
From operating result to net result

Balance sheet

Income statement

Statement of comprehensive income

Statement of changes in equity

Statement of cash flow

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Independent Auditor’s Report

(*) excluding the last sentence commencing “Thanks to these initiatives, the Group is committed to achieve

...~ in the last paragraph on bottom of page 117.

2017

Pages 134-137
Page 47

Pages 146-147
Page 148
Page 149
Pages 150-151
Page 152
Pages 154-315
Pages 339-341

Assicurazioni Generali —Non-consolidated annual financial statements

Management Report

Part A: Information on operations/Results of operations —
Litigation

Balance sheet

Profit and loss account

Cash flow statement

Notes to the Parent company financial statements;
Appendices to the notes

Independent Auditor’s Report
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2017

Page 68

Pages 100-112
Pages 113-122
Pages 195-199
Pages 123-194
Pages 201-277
Pages 300-306

2018

Pages 116-117(*)

Pages 134-137
Page 47

Pages 146-147
Page 148
Page 149
Pages 150-151
Page 152
Pages 153-317
Pages 339-347

2018

Page 70

Pages 101-113
Pages 115-123
Pages 199-202
Pages127-196
Pages 203-278
Pages 301-309



Solvency and Financial Condition Report of the Generali Group for the financial year ended 31
December 2018

Section C.7.1. (Sensitivity Analyses) Page 74

2019 First Quarter Results Press Release
Financial Information at 31 March 2019 — Press Release All
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FINAL TERMS AND DRAWDOWN PROSPECTUS

In this section the expression “necessary information” means, in relation to any Tranche of Notes, the
information necessary to enable investors to make an informed assessment of the assets and liabilities,
financial position, profits and losses and prospects of the Issuer, and of the rights attaching to the Notes. In
relation to the different types of Notes which may be issued under the Programme, the Issuer has endeavoured
to include in this Base Prospectus all of the necessary information except for information relating to the Notes
which is not known at the date of this Base Prospectus and which can only be determined at the time of an
individual issue of a Tranche of Notes.

Any information relating to the Notes which is not included in this Base Prospectus and which is required in
order to complete the necessary information in relation to a Tranche of Notes will be contained either in the
relevant Final Terms or in a Drawdown Prospectus. Such information will be contained in the relevant Final
Terms unless any of such information constitutes a significant new factor relating to the information contained
in this Base Prospectus in which case such information, together with all of the other necessary information in
relation to the relevant series of Notes, will be contained in a Drawdown Prospectus.

For a Tranche of Notes which is the subject of relevant Final Terms, those relevant Final Terms will, for the
purposes of that Tranche only, complete this Base Prospectus and must be read in conjunction with this Base
Prospectus. The terms and conditions applicable to any particular Tranche of Notes which is the subject of
relevant Final Terms are the Conditions as completed by the relevant Final Terms.

The terms and conditions applicable to any particular Tranche of Notes which is the subject of a Drawdown
Prospectus will be the Conditions as supplemented, amended and/or replaced to the extent described in the
relevant Drawdown Prospectus. In the case of a Tranche of Notes which is the subject of a Drawdown
Prospectus, each reference in this Base Prospectus to information being specified or identified in the relevant
Final Terms shall be read and construed as a reference to such information being specified or identified in the
relevant Drawdown Prospectus unless the context requires otherwise.

Each Drawdown Prospectus will be constituted either (1) by a single document containing the necessary
information relating to the Issuer and the relevant Notes or (2) by a registration document (the “Registration
Document”) containing the necessary information relating to the Issuer, a securities note (the “Securities
Note”) containing the necessary information relating to the relevant Notes and, if necessary, a summary note.
In addition, if the Drawdown Prospectus is constituted by a Registration Document and a Securities Note, any
significant new factor, material mistake or inaccuracy relating to the information included in the Registration
Document which arises or is noted between the date of the Registration Document and the date of the
Securities Note which is capable of affecting the assessment of the relevant Notes will be included in the
Securities Note.
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FORMS OF THE NOTES

Each Tranche of Notes will initially be in the form of either a temporary global note (the “Temporary Global
Note”), without interest coupons, or a permanent global note (the “Permanent Global Note”), without
interest coupons, in each case as specified in the relevant Final Terms. Each Temporary Global Note or, as the
case may be, Permanent Global Note (each a “Global Note”) which is not intended to be issued in new global
note (“NGN”) form, as specified in the relevant Final Terms, will be deposited on or around the issue date of
the relevant Tranche of the Notes with a depositary or a common depositary for Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V.
(“Euroclear”) and/or Clearstream Banking, S.A., Luxembourg (“Clearstream, Luxembourg”) and/or any
other relevant clearing system and each Global Note which is intended to be issued in NGN form, as specified
in the relevant Final Terms, will be deposited on or around the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the Notes
with a common safekeeper for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg.

On 13 June 2006, the European Central Bank (the “ECB”) announced that Notes in NGN form are in
compliance with the “Standards for the use of EU securities settlement systems in ESCB credit operations” of
the central banking system for the euro (the “Eurosystem”), provided that certain other criteria are fulfilled.
At the same time the ECB also announced that arrangements for Notes in NGN form will be offered by
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg as of 30 June 2006 and that debt securities in global bearer form
issued through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg after 31 December 2006 will only be eligible as
collateral for Eurosystem operations if the NGN form is used.

The relevant Final Terms will also specify whether United States Treasury Regulations §1.163-5(c)(2)(i1)(C)
(or any successor rules in substantially the same form that are applicable for the purposes of Section 4701 of
the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”)) (“TEFRA C”) or United States Treasury
Regulations §1.163-5(c)(2)(1)(D) (or any successor rules in substantially the same form that are applicable for
the purposes of Section 4701 of the Code) (“TEFRA D”) are applicable in relation to the Notes or, if the
Notes are issued in circumstances in which the Notes will not constitute “registration required obligations”
under the United States Tax Equity and Fiscal Responsibility Act of 1982 (“TEFRA”), that neither TEFRA C
nor TEFRA D are applicable.

Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Permanent Global Note

If the relevant Final Terms specify the form of Notes as being “Temporary Global Note exchangeable for a
Permanent Global Note”, then the Notes will initially be in the form of a Temporary Global Note which will
be exchangeable, in whole or in part, for interests in a Permanent Global Note, without interest coupons, not
earlier than 40 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the Notes upon certification as to non-U.S.
beneficial ownership. No payments will be made under the Temporary Global Note unless exchange for
interests in the Permanent Global Note is improperly withheld or refused. In addition, interest payments in
respect of the Notes cannot be collected without such certification of non-U.S. beneficial ownership.

Whenever any interest in the Temporary Global Note is to be exchanged for an interest in a Permanent Global
Note, the Issuer shall procure (in the case of first exchange) the prompt delivery (free of charge to the bearer)
of such Permanent Global Note to the bearer of the Temporary Global Note or (in the case of any subsequent
exchange) an increase in the principal amount of the Permanent Global Note in accordance with its terms
against:

i) presentation and (in the case of final exchange) surrender of the Temporary Global Note to or to the
order of the Fiscal Agent; and

(il)  receipt by the Fiscal Agent of a certificate or certificates of non-U.S. beneficial ownership, within 7
days of the bearer requesting such exchange.
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The principal amount of the Permanent Global Note shall be equal to the aggregate of the principal amounts
specified in the certificates of non-U.S. beneficial ownership; provided, however, that in no circumstances
shall the principal amount of the Permanent Global Note exceed the initial principal amount of the Temporary
Global Note.

The Permanent Global Note will be exchangeable in whole, but not in part, for Notes in definitive form
(“Definitive Notes”):

i) on the expiry of such period of notice as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms; or
(ii))  at any time, if so specified in the relevant Final Terms; or

(iii)  if the relevant Final Terms specifies “in the limited circumstances described in the Permanent Global
Note”, then if (a) Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing system is
closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of legal holidays) or
announces an intention permanently to cease business or (b) any of the circumstances described in
Condition 11 (Events of Defaulf) of the Senior Conditions or Condition 13 (Events of Default) of the
Tier 2 Conditions or the Tier 3 Conditions, as the case may be, occurs.

Whenever the Permanent Global Note is to be exchanged for Definitive Notes, the Issuer shall procure the
prompt delivery (free of charge to the bearer) of such Definitive Notes, duly authenticated and with Coupons
and Talons attached (if so specified in the relevant Final Terms), in an aggregate principal amount equal to the
principal amount of the Permanent Global Note to the bearer of the Permanent Global Note against the
surrender of the Permanent Global Note to or to the order of the Fiscal Agent within 30 days of the bearer
requesting such exchange.

Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes

If the relevant Final Terms specifies the form of Notes as being “Temporary Global Note exchangeable for
Definitive Notes” and also specifies that TEFRA C is applicable or that neither TEFRA C or TEFRA D is
applicable, then the Notes will initially be in the form of a Temporary Global Note which will be
exchangeable, in whole but not in part, for Definitive Notes not earlier than 40 days after the issue date of the
relevant Tranche of the Notes.

If the relevant Final Terms specifies the form of Notes as being “Temporary Global Note exchangeable for
Definitive Notes” and also specifies that TEFRA D is applicable, then the Notes will initially be in the form of
a Temporary Global Note which will be exchangeable, in whole or in part, for Definitive Notes not earlier
than 40 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the Notes upon certification as to non-U.S.
beneficial ownership. Interest payments in respect of the Notes cannot be collected without such certification
of non-U.S. beneficial ownership.

Whenever the Temporary Global Note is to be exchanged for Definitive Notes, the Issuer shall procure the
prompt delivery (free of charge to the bearer) of such Definitive Notes, duly authenticated and with Coupons
and Talons attached (if so specified in the relevant Final Terms), in an aggregate principal amount equal to the
principal amount of the Temporary Global Note to the bearer of the Temporary Global Note against the
surrender of the Temporary Global Note to or to the order of the Fiscal Agent within 30 days of the bearer
requesting such exchange.

Permanent Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes

If the relevant Final Terms specifies the form of Notes as being “Permanent Global Note exchangeable for
Definitive Notes”, then the Notes will initially be in the form of a Permanent Global Note which will be
exchangeable in whole, but not in part, for Definitive Notes:
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i) on the expiry of such period of notice as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms; or
(ii))  at any time, if so specified in the relevant Final Terms; or

(iii)  if the relevant Final Terms specifies “in the limited circumstances described in the Permanent Global
Note”, then if (a) Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing system is
closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of legal holidays) or
announces an intention permanently to cease business or (b) any of the circumstances described in
Condition 11 (Events of Default) of the Senior Conditions or Condition 13 (Events of Defaulf) of the
Tier 2 Conditions or the Tier 3 Conditions, as the case may be, occurs.

Whenever the Permanent Global Note is to be exchanged for Definitive Notes, the Issuer shall procure the
prompt delivery (free of charge to the bearer) of such Definitive Notes, duly authenticated and with Coupons
and Talons attached (if so specified in the relevant Final Terms), in an aggregate principal amount equal to the
principal amount of the Permanent Global Note to the bearer of the Permanent Global Note against the
surrender of the Permanent Global Note to or to the order of the Fiscal Agent within 30 days of the bearer
requesting such exchange.

Terms and Conditions applicable to the Notes

The terms and conditions applicable to any Definitive Note will be endorsed on that Note and will consist of
the terms and conditions set out under “Terms and Conditions of the Senior Notes”, “Terms and Conditions of
the Tier 2 Notes” or “Terms and Conditions of the Tier 3 Notes”, as the case may be, below and the provisions
of the relevant Final Terms which complete those terms and conditions.

The terms and conditions applicable to any Note in global form will differ from those terms and conditions
which would apply to the Note were it in definitive form to the extent described under “Overview of
Provisions Relating to the Notes while in Global Form” below.

Legend concerning United States persons

In the case of any Tranche of Notes (other than Temporary Global Notes), the Notes in definitive form and
any Coupons, Receipts and Talons appertaining thereto where TEFRA D is specified in the applicable Final
Terms:

“Any United States person who holds this obligation will be subject to limitations under the United States
income tax laws, including the limitations provided in Sections 165(j) and 1287(a) of the Internal Revenue
Code.”
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE SENIOR NOTES

The following is the text of the terms and conditions which, as completed in accordance with the provisions of

Part A of the relevant Final Terms of the Senior Notes, will be applicable to each Tranche of Senior Notes.

These Terms and Conditions, as so completed, shall be endorsed on each Senior Note in definitive form issued

under the Programme.

The terms and conditions applicable to any Senior Note in global form will differ from those terms and

conditions which would apply to the Senior Note were it in definitive form to the extent described under

“Overview of Provisions Relating to the Notes while in Global Form” below.

INTRODUCTION

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

Programme: Assicurazioni Generali S.p.A. (“Assicurazioni Generali”) (the “Issuer”) has established
a Euro Medium Term Note Programme (the ‘“Programme”) for the issuance of €15,000,000,000 in
aggregate principal amount of notes (the “Notes”).

Final Terms: Notes issued under the Programme in accordance with these terms and conditions of the
Senior Notes (the “Conditions”) are issued in series (each a “Series”) and each Series may comprise
one or more tranches (each a “Tranche”) of Notes. Each Tranche is the subject of a Final Terms (the
“Final Terms”) which complete these Conditions. The terms and conditions applicable to any
particular Tranche of Notes are these Conditions as completed by the relevant Final Terms. The Issuer
may also issue subordinated notes under the Programme.

Agency Agreement: The Notes that are stated in the relevant Final Terms to be governed by English
law are the subject of an issue and paying agency agreement that is governed by English law; and the
Notes that are stated in the relevant Final Terms to be governed by Italian law are the subject of an
issue and paying agency agreement that is governed by Italian law, in each case, dated 4 June 2019 (as
amended or supplemented from time to time, the “Agency Agreement”) between the Issuer, BNP
Paribas Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch as fiscal agent (the “Fiscal Agent”, which expression
includes any successor fiscal agent appointed from time to time in connection with the Notes) and the
paying agent named therein (together with the Fiscal Agent, the “Paying Agents”, which expression
includes any successor or additional paying agents appointed from time to time in connection with the
Notes).

The Notes: All subsequent references in these Conditions to “Notes” are to the Notes which are the
subject of the relevant Final Terms. Copies of the relevant Final Terms are available during normal
business hours at the Specified Office of the Fiscal Agent, the initial Specified Office of which is set
out below.

Summaries: Certain provisions of these Conditions are summaries of the Agency Agreement and are
subject to its detailed provisions. The holders of the Notes (the “Noteholders”) and the holders of the
related interest coupons, if any, (the “Couponholders” and the “Coupons”, respectively) and, where
applicable, talons for further Coupons (“Talons™) and holders of instalment receipts (“Receipts’)
appertaining to the payment of principal by instalments are bound by, and are deemed to have notice of,
all the provisions of the Agency Agreement applicable to them. The expression “Notes” shall, where
the context so permits, include Receipts. Copies of the Agency Agreement are available for inspection
during normal business hours at the Specified Offices of each of the Paying Agents, the initial
Specified Offices of which are set out below.
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2

INTERPRETATION

(a)

Definitions: In these Conditions the following expressions have the following meanings:
“Accrual Yield” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Additional Business Centre(s)” means the city or cities specified as such in the relevant Final
Terms;

“Additional Financial Centre(s)” means the city or cities specified as such in the relevant Final
Terms;

“Broken Amount” means the amount specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;
“Business Day” means:

i) in relation to any sum payable in euro, a TARGET Settlement Day and a day on which
commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments generally in each (if any)
Additional Business Centre (including Luxembourg); and

(ii))  in relation to any sum payable in a currency other than euro, a day on which commercial banks
and foreign exchange markets settle payments generally in London, in the Principal Financial
Centre of the relevant currency and in each (if any) Additional Business Centre (including
Luxembourg);

“Business Day Convention”, in relation to any particular date, has the meaning given in the relevant
Final Terms and, if so specified in the relevant Final Terms, may have different meanings in relation to
different dates and, in this context, the following expressions shall have the following meanings:

@) “Following Business Day Convention” means that the relevant date shall be postponed to the
first following day that is a Business Day;

(i)  “Modified Following Business Day Convention” or “Modified Business Day Convention”
means that the relevant date shall be postponed to the first following day that is a Business Day
unless that day falls in the next calendar month in which case that date will be the first
preceding day that is a Business Day;

(i)  “Preceding Business Day Convention” means that the relevant date shall be brought forward
to the first preceding day that is a Business Day;

(iv)  “FRN Convention”, “Floating Rate Convention” or “Eurodollar Convention” means that
each relevant date shall be the date which numerically corresponds to the preceding such date in
the calendar month which is the number of months specified in the relevant Final Terms as the
Specified Period after the calendar month in which the preceding such date occurred provided,
however, that:

(A)  if there is no such numerically corresponding day in the calendar month in which any
such date should occur, then such date will be the last day which is a Business Day in
that calendar month;

(B) if any such date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, then such
date will be the first following day which is a Business Day unless that day falls in the
next calendar month, in which case it will be the first preceding day which is a Business
Day; and
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™)

(C)  if the preceding such date occurred on the last day in a calendar month which was a
Business Day, then all subsequent such dates will be the last day which is a Business
Day in the calendar month which is the specified number of months after the calendar
month in which the preceding such date occurred; and

“No Adjustment” means that the relevant date shall not be adjusted in accordance with any
Business Day Convention;

“Calculation Agent” means, (i) other than in respect of the calculation of any Make Whole Amount

pursuant to Condition 8.5 (Make Whole Amount), the Fiscal Agent or (ii) the Person specified in the

relevant Final Terms as the party responsible for calculating the Rate(s) of Interest and Interest

Amount(s) and/or such other amount(s) as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms;

“Calculation Amount” has the meaning given to it in the relevant Final Terms;

“Coupon Sheet” means, in respect of a Note, a coupon sheet relating to the Note;

“Day Count Fraction” means, in respect of the calculation of an amount for any period of time (the

“Calculation Period”), such day count fraction as may be specified in these Conditions or the relevant

Final Terms and:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

if “Actual/Actual” or “Actual/Actual (ISDA)” is specified, the actual number of days in the
Calculation Period in respect of which payment is being made divided by 365 (or, if any portion
of that Calculation Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (i) the actual number of days in that
portion of the Calculation Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (ii) the actual number
of days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365);

if “Actual/Actual (ICMA)” is specified, means:

(i) where the Calculation Period is equal to or shorter than the Regular Period during which
it falls, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by the product of (1)
the actual number of days in such Regular Period and (2) the number of Regular Periods
in any year; and

(ii))  where the Calculation Period is longer than one Regular Period, the sum of:

(x)  the actual number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the Regular Period
in which it begins divided by the product of (1) the actual number of days in such
Regular Period and (2) the number of Regular Periods in any year; and

(y) the actual number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the next Regular
Period divided by the product of (a) the actual number of days in such Regular
Period and (2) the number of Regular Periods in any year;

if “Actual/365 (Fixed)” is specified, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period in
respect of which payment is being made divided by 365;

if “Actual/360” is specified, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period in respect of
which payment is being made divided by 360;

if “30/360”, “360/360” or “Bond Basis” is specified, the number of days in the Calculation
Period in respect of which payment is being made divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis
as follows:

[360 - (Y, - Y] +[30 - (M, -M )]+ (D, -D,)
360

Day Count Fraction =
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where
“Y1” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

“Y2” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day
included in the Calculation Period falls;

“Mi” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation
Period falls;

“Mz” is the calendar month, expressed as number, in which the day immediately following the
last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

“D1” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such
number would be 31, in which case D; will be 30; and

“D2” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in
the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31 and D, is greater than 29, in which
case D, will be 30;

if “30E/360 or “Eurobond Basis” is specified, the number of days in the Calculation Period in
respect of which payment is being made divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as
follows;

[360 - (Y, - Y)I+[30 - (M, - M )]+ (D, - Dy)

Day Count Fraction =
360

where:
“Y1” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

“Y2” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day
included in the Calculation Period falls;

“M1” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation
Period falls;

“M2” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following
the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

“D1” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such
number would be 31, in which case D; will be 30; and

“D2” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in
the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D, will be 30;

if “30E/360 (ISDA)” is specified, the number of days in the Calculation Period in respect of
which payment is being made divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

[360 - (Y, - Y] +[30 - (M, -M]+ (D, - D))

Day Count Fraction =
360

where:
“Y1” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

“Y2” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day
included in the Calculation Period falls;
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“Mi” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation
Period falls;

“Mz” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following
the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

“D1” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless (i) that
day is the last day of February or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D; will be 30;
and

“D2” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in
the Calculation Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February but not the Maturity Date
or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D> will be 30;

“Early Redemption Amount (Tax)” has the meaning given to it in Condition 8.2 (Redemption and
Purchase — Redemption for tax reasons);

“Extraordinary Resolution” has the meaning given in the Agency Agreement;

“Final Redemption Amount” means, in respect of any Note, its principal amount, subject to any
purchase, cancellation, early redemption or repayment, expressed as the amount per Calculation
Amount specified in the relevant Final Terms;

“Fixed Coupon Amount” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Guarantee” means, in relation to any Indebtedness of any Person, any obligation of another Person
to pay such Indebtedness including (without limitation):

@) any obligation to purchase such Indebtedness;

(i)  any obligation to lend money, to purchase or subscribe shares or other securities or to purchase
assets or services in order to provide funds for the payment of such Indebtedness;

(i)  any indemnity against the consequences of a default in the payment of such Indebtedness; and
(iv)  any other agreement to be responsible for such Indebtedness;

“Indebtedness” means any indebtedness of any Person for money borrowed or raised including
(without limitation) any indebtedness for or in respect of:

@) amounts raised under any note purchase facility;

(ii))  the amount of any liability in respect of leases or hire purchase contracts which would, in
accordance with applicable law and generally accepted accounting principles, be treated as
finance or capital leases;

(ii1)  the amount of any liability in respect of any purchase price for assets or services the payment of
which is deferred for a period in excess of 60 days; and

(iv)  amounts raised under any other transaction (including, without limitation, any forward sale or
purchase agreement) having the commercial effect of a borrowing;

“Initial Rate of Interest” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;
“Initial Interest Payment Date(s)” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Instalment Amount” has the meaning given in Condition 8.6 (Redemption and Purchase —
Redemption by Instalments);
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“Instalment Notes” means any Notes which are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being
Instalment Notes, the principal amount of which is repayable by instalments;

“Interest Amount” means, in relation to a Note and an Interest Period, the amount of interest payable
in respect of that Note for that Interest Period;

“Interest Basis” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Interest Commencement Date” means the Issue Date of the Notes or such other date as may be
specified as the Interest Commencement Date in the relevant Final Terms;

“Interest Determination Date” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Interest Payment Date” means the date or dates specified as such in, or determined in accordance
with the provisions of, the relevant Final Terms and, if a Business Day Convention is specified in the
relevant Final Terms:

i) as the same may be adjusted in accordance with the relevant Business Day Convention; or

(ii)  if the Business Day Convention is the FRN Convention, Floating Rate Convention or
Eurodollar Convention and an interval of a number of calendar months is specified in the
relevant Final Terms as being the Specified Period, each of such dates as may occur in
accordance with the FRN Convention, Floating Rate Convention or Eurodollar Convention at
such Specified Period of calendar months following the Interest Commencement Date (in the
case of the first Interest Payment Date) or the previous Interest Payment Date (in any other
case);

“Interest Period” means each period beginning on (and including) the Interest Commencement Date
or any Interest Payment Date and ending on (but excluding) the next Interest Payment Date;

“ISDA Definitions” means the 2006 ISDA Definitions (as amended and updated as at the date of issue
of the first Tranche of the Notes of the relevant Series (as specified in the relevant Final Terms) as
published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc.);

“Issue Date” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;
“Legislative Decree No. 239” has the meaning given in Condition 10 (Taxation);
“Make Whole Amount” has the meaning given in Condition 8.5 (Make Whole Amount);

“Margin” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms and if the relevant Final Term specifies
that Change of interest following Optional Redemption Date (Call) is applicable, shall mean (a) for
each Interest Period to but excluding the Optional Redemption Date (Call), the Margin (Pre-Call); and
(b) from each Interest Period falling after the Optional Redemption Date (Call), the Margin (Post-
Call), in each case, as set out in the relevant Final Terms;

“Margin (Pre-Call)” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Margin (Post-Call)” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Maturity Date” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Maximum Redemption Amount” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Minimum Redemption Amount” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;
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“Optional Redemption Amount (Call)” means, in respect of any Note, the amount per Calculation
Amount specified in the relevant Final Terms;

“Optional Redemption Amount (Put)” means, in respect of any Note, the amount per Calculation
Amount specified in the relevant Final Terms;

“Optional Redemption Date (Call)” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;
“Optional Redemption Date(s)” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;
“Optional Redemption Date (Put)” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;
“Payment Business Day” means:

@) if the currency of payment is euro, any day which is:

(A) aday on which banks in the relevant place of presentation are open for presentation and
payment of bearer debt securities and for dealings in foreign currencies; and

(B) in the case of payment by transfer to an account, a TARGET Settlement Day and a day
on which dealings in foreign currencies may be carried on in each (if any) Additional
Financial Centre; or

(i1))  if the currency of payment is not euro, any day which is:

(A) aday on which banks in the relevant place of presentation are open for presentation and
payment of bearer debt securities and for dealings in foreign currencies; and

(B) in the case of payment by transfer to an account, a day on which dealings in foreign
currencies may be carried on in the Principal Financial Centre of the currency of
payment and in each (if any) Additional Financial Centre;

“Permitted Reorganisation” means an amalgamation, reorganisation, merger, demerger,
consolidation or restructuring whilst solvent whereby the assets and undertaking of the Issuer (or, in
the case of a demerger, all or substantially all of such assets and undertaking) are vested in a body
corporate in good standing and such body corporate (i) assumes or maintains (as the case may be)
liability as principal debtor in respect of the Notes and (ii) continues substantially to carry on the
business of the Issuer as reported in the Issuer’s most recently published audited financial statements
immediately prior to such amalgamation, reorganisation, merger, demerger, consolidation or
restructuring;

“Person” means any individual, company, corporation, firm, partnership, joint venture, association,
organisation, state or agency of a state or other entity, whether or not having separate legal personality;

“Principal Financial Centre” means, in relation to any currency, the principal financial centre for that
currency provided, however, that:

i) in relation to euro, it means the principal financial centre of such Member State of the European
Communities as is selected (in the case of a payment) by the payee or (in the case of a
calculation) by the Calculation Agent; and

(ii))  in relation to Australian dollars, it means either Sydney or Melbourne and, in relation to New
Zealand dollars, it means either Wellington or Auckland; in each case as is selected (in the case
of a payment) by the payee or (in the case of a calculation) by the Calculation Agent;
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“Put Option Notice” means a notice which must be delivered to a Paying Agent by any Noteholder
wanting to exercise a right to redeem a Note at the option of the Noteholder;

“Put Option Receipt” means a receipt issued by a Paying Agent to a depositing Noteholder upon
deposit of a Note with such Paying Agent by any Noteholder wanting to exercise a right to redeem a
Note at the option of the Noteholder;

“Rate of Interest” means the rate or rates (expressed as a percentage per annum) of interest payable in
respect of the Notes specified in the relevant Final Terms or calculated or determined in accordance
with the provisions of these Conditions and/or the relevant Final Terms, and if the relevant Final Term
specifies that Change of interest following Optional Redemption Date (Call) is applicable, shall mean
(a) for each Interest Period to but excluding the Optional Redemption Date (Call), the Initial Rate of
Interest; and (b) from each Interest Period falling after the Optional Redemption Date (Call), the Rate
of Interest (Post-Call);

“Rating Agency” means each of Moody’s Investors Service Inc., Fitch Ratings Ltd. and AM Best
Europe Rating Services Ltd and any of their respective successors;

“Redemption Amount” means, as appropriate, the Final Redemption Amount, the Early Redemption
Amount (Tax), the Optional Redemption Amount (Call), the Optional Redemption Amount (Put) or
such other amount in the nature of a redemption amount as may be specified in, or determined in
accordance with the provisions of, the relevant Final Terms;

“Reference Banks” has the meaning given in Condition 6 (Interest);
“Reference Price” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;
“Reference Rate” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;
“Regular Period” means:

(1) in the case of Notes where interest is scheduled to be paid only by means of regular payments,
each period from and including the Interest Commencement Date to but excluding the first
Interest Payment Date and each successive period from and including one Interest Payment
Date to but excluding the next Interest Payment Date;

(ii))  in the case of Notes where, apart from the first Interest Period, interest is scheduled to be paid
only by means of regular payments, each period from and including a Regular Date falling in
any year to but excluding the next Regular Date, where “Regular Date” means the day and
month (but not the year) on which any Interest Payment Date falls; and

(iii)  in the case of Notes where, apart from one Interest Period other than the first Interest Period,
interest is scheduled to be paid only by means of regular payments, each period from and
including a Regular Date falling in any year to but excluding the next Regular Date, where
“Regular Date” means the day and month (but not the year) on which any Interest Payment
Date falls other than the Interest Payment Date falling at the end of the irregular Interest Period;

“Relevant Date” means, in relation to any payment, whichever is the later of (a) the date on which the
payment in question first becomes due and (b) if the full amount payable has not been received in the
Principal Financial Centre of the currency of payment by the Fiscal Agent on or prior to such due date,
the date on which (the full amount having been so received) notice to that effect has been given to the
Noteholders;
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“Relevant Financial Centre” has the meaning given in Condition 6.3 (Interest on Floating Rate
Notes);,

“Relevant Screen Page” means the page, section or other part of a particular information service
(including, without limitation, the Reuters Money 3000 Service and Moneyline Telerate Service)
specified as the Relevant Screen Page in the relevant Final Terms, or such other page, section or other
part as may replace it on that information service or such other information service, in each case, as
may be nominated by the Person providing or sponsoring the information appearing there for the
purpose of displaying rates or prices comparable to the Reference Rate;

“Relevant Time” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Reserved Matter” has the meaning given to it in the Agency Agreement and includes any proposal
to change any date fixed for payment of principal or interest in respect of the Notes, to reduce the
amount of principal or, as the case may be, interest payable on any date in respect of the Notes, to alter
the method of calculating the amount of any payment in respect of the Notes on redemption or
maturity or the date for any such payment, to effect the exchange or substitution of the Notes for, or
the conversion of the Notes into, shares, bonds or other obligations or securities of the Issuer or any
other person or body corporate formed or to be formed; to change the currency of any payment under
the Notes or to change the quorum requirements relating to meetings or the majority required to pass
an Extraordinary Resolution or to amend the definition of “Reserved Matter”;

“Senior Note” means a Note issued under these Terms and Conditions and specified as such in the
relevant Final Terms;

“Specified Currency” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;
“Specified Denomination(s)” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;
“Specified Office” has the meaning given in the Agency Agreement;

“Specified Period” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Subsidiary” means, in relation to any Person (the “first Person”) at any particular time, any other
Person (the “second Person™):

i) whose affairs and policies the first Person controls or has the power to control, whether by
ownership of share capital, contract, the power to appoint or remove members of the governing
body of the second Person or otherwise; or

(i)  whose financial statements are, in accordance with applicable law and generally accepted
accounting principles, consolidated with those of the first Person;

“Talon” means a talon for further Coupons;

“TARGET?2” means the Trans-European Automated real-time Gross Settlement Express Transfer
payment system which utilises a single shared platform and which was launched on 19 November
2007;

“TARGET Settlement Day” means any day on which TARGET2 is open for the settlement of
payments in euro;

“Tax Event” means any of the events referred to in paragraphs (a)(A) or (B) of Condition 8.2
(Redemption for tax reasons).

“Treaty” means the Treaty establishing the European Communities, as amended; and
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“Zero Coupon Note” means a Note specified as such in the relevant Final Terms.
(b)  Interpretation: In these Conditions:

i) if the Notes are Zero Coupon Notes, references to Coupons and Couponholders are not
applicable;

(ii)  if Talons are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being attached to the Notes at the time of
issue, references to Coupons shall be deemed to include references to Talons;

(iii)  if Talons are not specified in the relevant Final Terms as being attached to the Notes at the time
of issue, references to Talons are not applicable;

(iv)  any reference to principal shall be deemed to include the Redemption Amount, any additional
amounts in respect of principal which may be payable under Condition 10 (Taxation), any
premium payable in respect of a Note and any other amount in the nature of principal payable
pursuant to these Conditions;

(v)  any reference to interest shall be deemed to include any additional amounts in respect of
interest which may be payable under Condition 10 (7axation) and any other amount in the
nature of interest payable pursuant to these Conditions;

(vi) references to Notes being “outstanding” shall be construed in accordance with the Agency
Agreement; and

(vii) if an expression is stated in Condition 2(a) to have the meaning given in the relevant Final
Terms, but the relevant Final Terms gives no such meaning or specifies that such expression is
“not applicable” then such expression is not applicable to the Notes.

FORM, DENOMINATION AND TITLE

The Notes are in bearer form in the Specified Denomination(s) with Coupons and, if specified in the relevant
Final Terms, Talons attached at the time of issue. In the case of a Series of Notes with more than one
Specified Denomination, Notes of one Specified Denomination will not be exchangeable for Notes of another
Specified Denomination. Title to the Notes and the Coupons will pass by delivery.

The holder of any Note or Coupon shall (except as otherwise required by law) be treated as its absolute owner
for all purposes (whether or not it is overdue and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or any other
interest therein, any writing thereon or any notice of any previous loss or theft thereof) and no Person shall be
liable for so treating such holder. With reference to any Note that is governed by English law, no Person shall
have any right to enforce any term or condition of any such Note under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties)
Act 1999.

STATUS OF THE NOTES

The Senior Notes constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of the Issuer and
rank pari passu without any preference among themselves and at least pari passu with all other
unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of the Issuer present and future (save for such obligations as may
be preferred by provisions of law that are both mandatory and of general application).

Condition 5 below is applicable only to Notes in respect of which the Final Terms state that Change of
interest following Optional Redemption Date (Call) applies.
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5

5.1

5.2

INITIAL AND POST-CALL INTEREST PROVISIONS

Initial Interest Provisions: The Notes bear interest from and including the Issue Date to but excluding the

Optional Redemption Date (Call) at the Initial Rate of Interest payable, subject as provided in these

Conditions, in arrear on the Initial Interest Payment Date(s) specified in the Final Terms.

Post-Call Interest Provisions: If the Issuer does not redeem the Notes in accordance with Condition 8.3

(Redemption and Purchase — Redemption at the option of the Issuer) on the Optional Redemption Date
(Call), the Notes will bear interest for each Interest Period falling after the Optional Redemption Date (Call)
at such Rate of Interest (Post-Call) as will be indicated in the relevant Final Terms payable, subject as

provided in these Conditions, in arrear on each Interest Payment Date falling after the Optional Redemption
Date (Call).

INTEREST

Condition 6.1 below is applicable to the Notes (a) if the Fixed Rate Note Provisions are specified in the

relevant Final Terms as being applicable; and (b) if the Fixed-Floating Rate Note Provisions are specified in

the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, in respect of those Interest Periods for which the Fixed Rate

Note Provisions are stated to apply.

6.1

6.1.1

Interest on Fixed Rate Notes

Accrual of interest. The Notes bear interest from the Interest Commencement Date (or the applicable
Interest Payment Date) at the Rate(s) of Interest payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date,
subject as provided in these Conditions. Each Note will cease to bear interest from the due date for
final redemption unless, upon due presentation, payment of the Redemption Amount is improperly
withheld or refused, in which case it will continue to bear interest in accordance with this Condition 6
(as well after as before judgment) until whichever is the earlier of (i) the day on which all sums due in
respect of such Note up to that day are received by or on behalf of the relevant Noteholder and (ii) the
day which is seven days after the Fiscal Agent has notified the Noteholders that it has received all
sums due in respect of the Notes up to such seventh day (except to the extent that there is any
subsequent default in payment).

Fixed Coupon Amount. The amount of interest payable in respect of each Note for any Interest Period
shall be the relevant Fixed Coupon Amount and, if the Notes are in more than one Specified
Denomination, shall be the relevant Fixed Coupon Amount in respect of the relevant Specified
Denomination. Payment of any Broken Amount will be made on the Interest Payment Date so
specified in the Final Terms.

Calculation of interest amount:. The amount of interest payable in respect of each Note for any period
for which a Fixed Coupon Amount is not specified shall be calculated by applying the Rate of Interest
to the Calculation Amount, multiplying the product by the relevant Day Count Fraction and rounding
the resulting figure to the nearest sub-unit of the Specified Currency (half a sub-unit being rounded
upwards) and multiplying such rounded figure by a fraction equal to the Specified Denomination of
such Note divided by the Calculation Amount. For this purpose a “sub-unit” means, in the case of any
currency other than euro, the lowest amount of such currency that is available as legal tender in the
country of such currency and, in the case of euro, means one cent.

Condition 6.2 is applicable to the Notes only if the relevant Final Term specifies that Interest Basis reset on

Reset Date as being applicable.
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6.2

6.2.1

6.2.2

Interest on Reset Notes

Initial Interest Provisions: The Notes bear interest from and including the Interest Commencement
Date to but excluding the Reset Date (or, if there is more than one Reset Period, the first Reset Date
occurring after the Issue Date), at the Initial Rate of Interest payable, subject as provided in these
Conditions, in arrear on the Interest Payment Date(s) specified in the Final Terms.

Interest Basis Reset Provisions: The Notes will bear interest in respect of the Reset Period (or, if there
is more than one Reset Period, each successive Reset Period thereafter) at the relevant Reset Rate (as
will be determined by the Calculation Agent on the relevant Reset Determination Date in accordance
with this Condition 6.2) payable, subject as provided in these Conditions, in arrear on the Interest
Payment Date(s) specified in the Final Terms.

6.2.3 Accrual of interest: Each Note will cease to bear interest from the due date for final redemption

unless, upon due presentation, payment of the Redemption Amount is improperly withheld or refused,
in which case it will continue to bear interest in accordance with this Condition 6 (as well after as
before judgment) until whichever is the earlier of (i) the day on which all sums due in respect of such
Note up to that day are received by or on behalf of the relevant Noteholder and (ii) the day which is
seven days after the Fiscal Agent has notified the Noteholders that it has received all sums due in
respect of the Notes up to such seventh day (except to the extent that there is any subsequent default in
payment).

As used in these Conditions:

“Mid Swap Benchmark Rate” means EURIBOR if the Specified Currency is euro or LIBOR for the
Specified Currency if the Specified Currency is not euro.

“Mid Swap Maturity” has the meaning specified in the Final Terms.

“Mid Swap Rate” means for any Reset Period the arithmetic mean of the bid and offered rates for the
fixed leg payable with a frequency equivalent to the frequency with which scheduled interest payments
are payable on the Notes during the relevant Reset Period (calculated on the day count basis customary
for fixed rate payments in the Specified Currency as determined by the Calculation Agent) of a fixed-
for-floating interest rate swap transaction in the Specified Currency which transaction (a) has a term
equal to the relevant Reset Period commencing on the relevant Reset Date; (b) is in an amount that is
representative for a single transaction in the relevant market at the relevant time with an acknowledged
dealer of good credit in the swap market; and (c) has a floating leg based on the Mid Swap Benchmark
Rate for the Mid Swap Maturity as specified in the Final Terms (calculated on the day count basis
customary for floating rate payments in the Specified Currency as determined by the Calculation
Agent).

“Reference Bond” means for any Reset Period a government security or securities issued by the state
responsible for issuing the Specified Currency (which, if the Specified Currency is euro, shall be
Germany) selected by the Issuer on the advice of an investment bank of international repute as having
an actual or interpolated maturity comparable with the relevant Reset Period that would be utilised, at
the time of selection and in accordance with customary financial practice, in pricing new issues of
corporate debt securities denominated in the same currency as the Notes and of a comparable maturity
to the relevant Reset Period.

“Reference Bond Price” means, with respect to any Reset Determination Date, (A) the arithmetic
average of the Reference Government Bond Dealer Quotations for such Reset Determination Date,
after excluding the highest and lowest such Reference Government Bond Dealer Quotations; or (B) if
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the Calculation Agent obtains fewer than four such Reference Government Bond Dealer Quotations,
the arithmetic average of all such quotations.

“Reference Government Bond Dealer” means each of five banks (selected by the Issuer on the
advice of an investment bank of international repute), or their affiliates, which are (A) primary
government securities dealers, and their respective successors; or (B) market makers in pricing
corporate bond issues.

“Reference Government Bond Dealer Quotations” means, with respect to each Reference
Government Bond Dealer and the relevant Reset Determination Date, the arithmetic average, as
determined by the Calculation Agent, of the bid and offered prices for the relevant Reference Bond
(expressed in each case as a percentage of its nominal amount) at or around the Reset Rate Time on the
relevant Reset Determination Date quoted in writing to the Calculation Agent by such Reference
Government Bond Dealer.

“Reset Date(s)” means the date(s) specified in the Final Terms.

“Reset Determination Date” means, for each Reset Period, the date as specified in the Final Terms
falling on or before the commencement of such Reset Period on which the rate of interest applying
during such Reset Period will be determined.

“Reset Margin” means the margin specified as such in the Final Terms.

“Reset Period” means the period from (and including) the first Reset Date to (but excluding) the
Maturity Date (if any) if there is only Reset Period or, if there is more than one Reset Period, each
period from (and including) one Reset Date (or the first Reset Date) to (but excluding) the next Reset
Date up to (but excluding) the Maturity Date (if any).

“Reset Rate” for any Reset Period means the sum of (i) the applicable Reset Reference Rate and (ii)
the applicable Reset Margin (rounded down to four decimal places, with 0.00005 being rounded
down).

“Reset Rate Screen Page” has the meaning specified in the Final Terms.
“Reset Rate Time” has the meaning specified in the Final Terms.
“Reset Reference Rate” means either:

(A) if “Mid Swaps” is specified in the Final Terms, the Mid Swap Rate displayed on the Reset Rate
Screen Page at or around the Reset Rate Time on the relevant Reset Determination Date for
such Reset Period; or

(B) if “Reference Bond” is specified in the Final Terms, the annual yield to maturity or interpolated
yield to maturity (on the relevant day count basis) of the relevant Reference Bond, assuming a
price for such Reference Bond (expressed as a percentage of its nominal amount) equal to the
relevant Reference Bond Price.

6.2.4 Reset Rate Screen Page: if the Reset Rate Screen Page is not available, or the Mid-Swap Rate does
not appear on the Relevant Screen Page, then subject to Condition 6.4 (Benchmark discontinuation),
the Calculation Agent shall request each of the Reference Banks to provide it with its offered quotation
(expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the Reset Reference Rate at approximately the Reset
Rate Time on the Reset Determination Date in question. If two or more of the Reference Banks
provide the Calculation Agent with offered quotations, the Reset Rate for the relevant Reset Period
shall be the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being
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6.2.5

6.2.6

6.2.7

rounded upwards) of the offered quotations plus or minus (as appropriate) the applicable Reset Margin
(if any), all as determined by the Calculation Agent. If on any Reset Determination Date only one or
none of the Reference Banks provides the Calculation Agent with an offered quotation as provided in
the foregoing provisions of this Condition 6.2.4, the Reset Rate shall be determined as at the last
preceding Reset Determination Date or, in the case of the first Reset Determination Date, the Reset
Rate shall be the Initial Rate of Interest.

For the purpose of this Condition 6.2.4, “Reference Banks” means four (or, if the Principal Financial
Centre is Helsinki, five) major banks selected by the Issuer or the Independent Adviser in the swap,
money, securities or other market most closely connected with the Reset Reference Rate and
“Independent Adviser” means an independent financial institution of international repute or an
independent adviser of recognised standing with appropriate expertise appointed by the Issuer at its
own expense for the purpose of this Condition 6.2.4.

Calculation of Interest Amount: The Calculation Agent will calculate the Interest Amount payable on
the Reset Notes for each relevant period (in the case of Interest Periods falling after the Reset Date, as
soon as practicable after the time at which the Reset Reference Rate is to be determined in relation to
such Reset Interest Period) by applying the Initial Rate of Interest or the applicable Reset Rate (as the
case may be) to the Calculation Amount and multiplying the product by the relevant Day Count
Fraction and rounding the resulting figure to the nearest sub-unit of the Specified Currency (half a sub-
unit being rounded upwards). For this purpose a “sub-unit” means, in the case of any currency other
than euro, the lowest amount of such currency that is available as legal tender in the country of such
currency and, in the case of euro, means one cent. Where the Specified Denomination of a Note
comprises more than one Calculation Amount, the Interest Amount payable in respect of such Note
shall be aggregate of the amounts (determined in the manner provided above) for each Calculation
Amount comprising the Specified Denomination without any further rounding.

Publication: The Calculation Agent will cause the Reset Rate and each Interest Amount for each Reset
Period to be notified to the Issuer, the Paying Agents and each competent authority, stock exchange
and/or quotation system (if any) by which the Notes have then been admitted to listing, trading and/or
quotation as soon as practicable after such determination but in any event not later than the first day of
the relevant Interest Period. Notice thereof shall also promptly be given to the Noteholders.

Notifications etc.: All notifications, opinions, determinations, certificates, calculations, quotations and
decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of this Condition by the Calculation
Agent will (in the absence of manifest error) be binding on the Issuer, the Paying Agents, the
Noteholders and the Couponholders and (subject as aforesaid) no liability to any such Person will
attach to the Calculation Agent in connection with the exercise or non-exercise by it of its powers,
duties and discretions for such purposes.

Condition 6.3 is applicable to the Notes (a) if the Floating Rate Note Provisions are specified in the relevant

Final Terms as being applicable; and (b) if the Fixed-Floating Rate Note Provisions are specified in the

relevant Final Terms as being applicable, in respect of those Interest Periods for which the Floating Rate

Note Provisions are stated to apply.

6.3

6.3.1

Interest on Floating Rate Notes

Accrual of interest. The Notes bear interest from the Interest Commencement Date (or the applicable
Interest Payment Date) at the Rate(s) of Interest payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date,
subject as provided in Condition 9 (Payments). Each Note will cease to bear interest from the due date
for final redemption unless, upon due presentation, payment of the Redemption Amount is improperly
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6.3.2

(a)

withheld or refused, in which case it will continue to bear interest in accordance with this Condition
(as well after as before judgment) until whichever is the earlier of (i) the day on which all sums due in
respect of such Note up to that day are received by or on behalf of the relevant Noteholder and (ii) the
day which is seven days after the Fiscal Agent has notified the Noteholders that it has received all
sums due in respect of the Notes up to such seventh day (except to the extent that there is any
subsequent default in payment).

Rate of Interest

Screen Rate Determination:

Floating Rate Notes other than EONIA Linked Interest Notes, SONIA Linked Interest Notes, SOFR or
CMS Linked Interest Notes

If Screen Rate Determination is specified in the relevant Final Terms as the manner in which the
Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined, the Rate of Interest applicable to the Notes for each Interest
Period will be determined by the Calculation Agent on the following basis:

i) if the Reference Rate is a composite quotation or customarily supplied by one entity, the
Calculation Agent will determine the Reference Rate which appears on the Relevant Screen
Page as of the Relevant Time on the relevant Interest Determination Date;

(ii)  in any other case, the Calculation Agent will determine the arithmetic mean of the Reference
Rates which appear on the Relevant Screen Page as of the Relevant Time on the relevant
Interest Determination Date;

(iii)  if, in the case of (i) above, such rate does not appear on that page or, in the case of (ii) above,
fewer than two such rates appear on that page or if, in either case, the Relevant Screen Page is
unavailable, the Calculation Agent will:

(A) request the principal Relevant Financial Centre office of each the Reference Banks to
provide a quotation of the Reference Rate at approximately the Relevant Time on the
Interest Determination Date to prime banks in the Relevant Financial Centre interbank
market in an amount that is representative for a single transaction in that market at that
time; and

(B)  determine the arithmetic mean of such quotations; and

(iv) if fewer than two such quotations are provided as requested, the Calculation Agent will
determine the arithmetic mean of the rates (being the nearest to the Reference Rate, as
determined by the Calculation Agent) quoted by major banks in the Principal Financial Centre
of the Specified Currency, selected by the Calculation Agent, at approximately 11.00 a.m.
(local time in the Principal Financial Centre of the Specified Currency) on the first day of the
relevant Interest Period for loans in the Specified Currency to leading European banks for a
period equal to the relevant Interest Period and in an amount that is representative for a single
transaction in that market at that time,

and the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be the sum of the Margin and the rate or (as the
case may be) the arithmetic mean so determined; provided, however, that if the Calculation Agent is
unable to determine a rate or (as the case may be) an arithmetic mean in accordance with the above
provisions in relation to any Interest Period, the Rate of Interest applicable to the Notes during such
Interest Period will be the sum of the Margin and the rate or (as the case may be) the arithmetic mean
last determined in relation to the Notes in respect of a preceding Interest Period.
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Floating Rate Notes which are EONIA Linked Interest Notes

Where the Reference Rate is specified as being EONIA, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period
will be the rate (expressed as a percentage per annum rounded to the nearest ten-thousandths of a
percentage point, with 0.00005 being rounded upwards) which will be calculated by the Calculation
Agent in accordance with provisions set out below and the following formula:

Capitalised EONIA + Margin
As used above:

“Capitalised EONIA” means the resultant figure of the following formula:

d(]
(1+EONIA1 nlj'l 360
O 360 d

“do” means, for the relevant Interest Period, the number of TARGET Business Days in such Interest
Period.

G2y
l

means a series of whole numbers from one to do, each representing the relevant TARGET Business
Days in chronological order from, and including, the first TARGET Business Day in the relevant
Interest Period.

[3%:1]

“EONIA1” means, for any day “/” in the relevant Interest Period, a reference rate equal to the
overnight rate as calculated by the European Central Bank and appearing on the Relevant Screen Page
on the first TARGET Business Day following that day.

“n1” means the number of calendar days in the relevant Interest Period.
“d” means the number of calendar days in the relevant Interest Period.
“Margin” has the meaning specified in the Final Terms.

“Relevant Screen Page” means the screen page specified in the Final Terms or, if none is so
specified, Reuters Screen EONIA Page or any successor.

“TARGET Business Day” means a day on which the TARGET?2 System is open.

If the Calculation Agent determines that either the Relevant Screen Page is not available or no such
overnight rate as referred to in EONIA, appears for any reason for any day “i” on the TARGET
Business Day following that day as provided above, the Calculation Agent shall determine EONIA;
for such day in its sole and absolute discretion on a commercial basis as it shall consider appropriate
and in accordance with standard market practice.

Floating Rate Notes which are SONIA Linked Interest Notes

Where the Reference Rate is specified as being SONIA, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will
be, subject to Condition 6.4 (Benchmark discontinuation), Compounded Daily SONIA with respect to
such Interest Period plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms) the applicable Margin, all
as determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the provisions set out below.

For the purposes of this sub-paragraph C:

“Compounded Daily SONIA” means, with respect to an Interest Period, the rate of return of a daily
compound interest investment (with the daily Sterling overnight reference rate as reference rate for the
calculation of interest) and will be calculated by the Calculation Agent (or such other party responsible
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for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Final Terms) on the Interest
Determination Date, as follows, and the resulting percentage will be rounded if necessary to the fifth
decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards:

do
SONIA,_;z X1 365

1+ i -1
ﬂ( 365 ) *d

i=1

where:
“d” is the number of calendar days in the relevant Interest Period;

“do” is the number of London Banking Days in the relevant Interest Period;

[3333]

i” is a series of whole numbers from one to do, each representing the relevant London Banking Day in
chronological order from, and including, the first London Banking Day in the relevant Interest Period to,
but excluding, the last London Banking Day in the relevant Interest Period,

“London Banking Day” or “LBD” means any day on which commercial banks are open for general
business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in London;

“ni”, for any London Banking Day "i", means the number of calendar days from and including such

[733L)

London Banking Day “i”” up to but excluding the following London Banking Day;

“Observation Period” means, in respect of each Interest Period, the period from and including the date
falling “p” London Banking Days prior to the first day of the relevant Interest Period and ending on, but
excluding, the date falling “p” London Banking Days prior to the end of such Interest Period (or the date
falling “p” London Banking Days prior to such earlier date, if any, on which the Notes become due and
payable);

[T 1}

p” means for any Interest Period, the number of London Banking Days included in the Observation
Period, as specified in the applicable Final Terms;

the “SONIA reference rate”, in respect of any London Banking Day, is a reference rate equal to the
daily Sterling Overnight Index Average (“SONIA”) rate for such London Banking Day as provided by
the administrator of SONIA to authorised distributors and as then published on the Relevant Screen
Page or, if the Relevant Screen Page is unavailable, as otherwise published by such authorised
distributors (on the London Banking Day immediately following such London Banking Day); and

“SONIAi-pLBD” means, in respect of any London Banking Day falling in the relevant Observation
Period, the SONIA reference rate for the London Banking Day falling “p” London Banking Days prior

1332

to the relevant London Banking Day “i”.

If in respect of any London Banking Day in the relevant Observation Period, the Calculation Agent (or
such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable
Final Terms) determines that the applicable SONIA reference rate is not available on the Relevant
Screen Page or has not otherwise been published by the relevant authorised distributors, the SONIA
reference rate in respect of such London Banking Day shall be: (A) (i) the Bank of England’s Bank Rate
(the “Bank Rate”) prevailing at close of business on such London Banking Day; plus (ii) the mean of
the spread of the SONIA reference rate to the Bank Rate over the previous five days on which a SONIA
reference rate has been published, excluding the highest spread (or, if there is more than one highest
spread, one only of those highest spreads) and lowest spread (or, if there is more than one lowest spread,
one only of those lowest spreads) to the Bank Rate, or (B) if such Bank Rate is not available, the SONIA
reference rate published on the Relevant Screen Page (or otherwise published by the relevant authorised
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distributors) for the first preceding London Banking Day on which the SONIA reference rate was
published on the Relevant Screen Page (or otherwise published by the relevant authorised distributors).

Where the SONIA reference rate is being determined in accordance with the paragraph above, in the
event the Bank of England publishes guidance as to (i) how the SONIA reference rate is to be
determined; or (ii) any rate that is to replace the SONIA reference rate, the Calculation Agent (or such
other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as specified in the applicable Final
Terms) shall, to the extent that it is reasonably practicable, follow such guidance in order to determine
the SONIA reference rate for any London Banking Day “i” for the purpose of the relevant Series of
Notes for so long as the SONIA reference rate is not available or has not been published by the
authorised distributors.

In the event that the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions
by the Calculation Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of Interest, as
specified in the applicable Final Terms), subject to Condition 6.4 (Benchmark discontinuation), the Rate
of Interest shall be (i) that determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date (though
substituting, where a different Margin, Maximum Rate of Interest and/or Minimum Rate of Interest (as
the case may be) is to be applied to the relevant Interest Period from that which applied to the last
preceding Interest Period, the Margin or Maximum Rate of Interest or Minimum Rate of Interest relating
to the relevant Interest Period in place of the Margin, Maximum Rate of Interest and/or Minimum Rate
of Interest (as the case may be) relating to that last preceding Interest Period); or (ii) if there is no such
preceding Interest Determination Date, the initial Rate of Interest which would have been applicable to
such Series of Notes for the first Interest Period had the Notes been in issue for a period equal in
duration to the scheduled first Interest Period but ending on (and excluding) the Interest Commencement
Date (including applying the Margin and any Maximum Rate of Interest or Minimum Rate of Interest
applicable to the first Interest Period).

If the relevant Series of Notes become due and payable in accordance with Condition 11 (Events of
Default), the final Interest Determination Date shall, notwithstanding any Interest Determination Date
specified in the applicable Final Terms, be deemed to be the date on which such Notes became due and
payable and the Rate of Interest on such Notes shall, for so long as any such Notes remain outstanding,
be that determined on such date.

Floating Rate Notes which are SOFR Linked Interest Notes

Where the Reference Rate is specified as being the SOFR, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period
will be, subject to Condition 6.4 (Benchmark discontinuation), USD-SOFR-COMPOUND with respect
to such Interest Period plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms) the applicable
Margin, all as determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the provisions set out below.

For the purposes of this sub-paragraph D:

“USD-SOFR-COMPOUND” means the rate of return of a daily compound interest investment (with
the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (as defined below) as the reference rate for the calculation of
interest) and will be calculated by the Calculation Agent on each Interest Determination Date as
follows, with the resulting percentage being rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one hundred-
thousandth of a percentage point, 0.0000005 being rounded upwards:

SOFR; x n; 360
ﬂ( 0 )T
360 d
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where:

“do”, for any Interest Period, means the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days in the
relevant Interest Period;

[3332]

i” means a series of whole numbers from one to do, each representing the relevant U.S. Government
Securities Business Days in chronological order from, and including, the first U.S. Government
Securities Business Day in the relevant Interest Period;

“SOFRy”, if applicable as defined in the Final Tems, means:

(a) for any U.S. Government Securities Business Day “i” that is a Cut-off Date (as defined below),
the Secured Overnight Financing Rate in respect of the U.S. Government Securities Business
Day immediately preceding such Cut-off Date, and

(b) for any U.S. Government Securities Business Day “i” that is not a Cut-off Date (i.e., a U.S.
Government Securities Business Day in the Cut-off Period), the Secured Overnight Financing
Rate in respect of the U.S. Government Securities Business Day immediately preceding the last
Cut-off Date of the relevant Interest Period (such last Cut-off Date coinciding with the Interest
Determination Date);

17331

“n;”, for any U.S. Government Securities Business Day “i”, means the number of calendar days

from, and including, such U.S. Government Securities Business Day “i” up to, but excluding, the
following U.S. Government Securities Business Day;

“d” means the number of calendar days in the relevant Interest Period;

“Observation Period” means, in respect of each Interest Period, the period from and including the
date falling “p” U.S. Government Securities Business Day prior to the first day of the relevant
Interest Period and ending on, but excluding, the date falling “p” U.S. Government Securities
Business Day prior to the end of such Interest Period (or the date falling “p” U.S. Government
Securities Business Day prior to such earlier date, if any, on which the Notes become due and
payable);

€699

p” means for any Interest Period, the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Day included
in the Observation Period, as specified in the applicable Final Terms;

“Cut-off Date” means each U.S. Government Securities Business Day in the relevant Interest
Period, other than any U.S. Government Securities Business Day in the period from, and including,
the day following the Interest Determination Date to, but excluding, the corresponding Interest
Payment Date (such period, the “Cut-off Period”). For any U.S. Government Securities Business
Day in the Cut-off Period, the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (as defined below) in respect of the
U.S. Government Securities Business Day immediately preceding the last Cut-off Date in the
relevant Interest Period (such last Cut-off Date coinciding with the Interest Determination Date) shall

apply;

“Secured Overnight Financing Rate” means:

(a) the daily secured overnight financing rate as provided by the Federal Reserve Bank of New
York, as the administrator of such rate (or any successor administrator of such rate) on the
website of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York currently at http://www.newyorkfed.org, or
any successor website of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (the “New York Fed’s
Website) on or about 5:00 p.m. (New York City time) on each U.S. Government Securities
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Business Day in respect of the U.S. Government Securities Business Day immediately
preceding such day; or

(b) if the daily secured overnight financing rate does not appear on a U.S. Government Securities
Business Day as specified above, unless both a SOFR Index Cessation Event and a SOFR Index
Cessation Effective Date (each as defined below) have occurred, the daily secured overnight
financing rate in respect of the last U.S. Government Securities Business Day for which such
rate was published on the New York Fed’s Website,

provided that if the daily secured overnight financing rate does not appear on a U.S. Government
Securities Business Day as specified in paragraph (a), and both a SOFR Index Cessation Event and a
SOFR Index Cessation Effective Date have occurred, the provisions of Condition 8.4 (Benchmark
discontinuation) below shall apply;

“SOFR Index Cessation Event” means the occurrence of one or more of the following events:

(a) apublic statement by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or any successor administrator of
the daily secured overnight financing rate) announcing that it has ceased or will cease to
provide the daily secured overnight financing rate permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at
that time, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide a daily secured
overnight financing rate; or

(b) the publication of information which reasonably confirms that the Federal Reserve Bank of
New York (or any successor administrator of the daily secured overnight financing rate) has
ceased or will cease to provide the daily secured overnight financing rate permanently or
indefinitely, provided that, at that time, there is no successor administrator that will continue to
provide the daily secured overnight financing rate; or

(c) a public statement by a U.S. regulator or other U.S. official sector entity prohibiting the use of
the daily secured overnight financing rate that applies to, but need not be limited to, all swap
transactions, including existing swap transactions;

“SOFR Index Cessation Effective Date” means, in respect of a SOFR Index Cessation Event, the
date on which the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or any successor administrator of the daily
secured overnight financing rate), ceases to publish the daily secured overnight financing rate, or the
date as of which the daily secured overnight financing rate may no longer be used.

“U.S. Government Securities Business Day” means any day except for a Saturday, Sunday or a day
on which the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association recommends that the fixed
income departments of its members be closed for the entire day for purposes of trading in U.S.
government securities.

In the event that the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing
provisions by the Calculation Agent (or such other party responsible for the calculation of the Rate of
Interest, as specified in the applicable Final Terms), subject to Condition 6.4 (Benchmark
discontinuation), the Rate of Interest shall be (i) that determined as at the last preceding Interest
Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin, Maximum Rate of Interest and/or
Minimum Rate of Interest (as the case may be) is to be applied to the relevant Interest Period from
that which applied to the last preceding Interest Period, the Margin or Maximum Rate of Interest or
Minimum Rate of Interest relating to the relevant Interest Period in place of the Margin, Maximum
Rate of Interest and/or Minimum Rate of Interest (as the case may be) relating to that last preceding
Interest Period); or (ii) if there is no such preceding Interest Determination Date, the initial Rate of
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Interest which would have been applicable to such Series of Notes for the first Interest Period had the
Notes been in issue for a period equal in duration to the scheduled first Interest Period but ending on
(and excluding) the Interest Commencement Date (including applying the Margin and any Maximum
Rate of Interest or Minimum Rate of Interest applicable to the first Interest Period).

Floating Rate Notes which are CMS Linked Interest Notes

Where the Reference Rate is specified as being the CMS Reference Rate, the Rate of Interest for each
Interest Period will be calculated by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the provisions set out
below and the following formula:

CMS Rate + Margin
As used above:

“CMS Rate” shall mean the Relevant Swap Rate for swap transactions in the Reference Currency with
a maturity of the Designated Maturity (expressed as a percentage rate per annum) which appears on the
Relevant Screen Page as at the Relevant Time on the Interest Determination Date in question, all as
determined by the Calculation Agent.

If the Relevant Screen Page is not available, the Calculation Agent shall request each of the Reference
Banks (as defined below) to provide the Calculation Agent with its quotation for the Relevant Swap
Rate (expressed as a percentage rate per annum) at approximately the Relevant Time on the Interest
Determination Date in question. If two or more of the Reference Banks provide the Calculation Agent
such quotations, the CMS Rate for such Interest Period shall be the arithmetic mean (rounded if
necessary to the fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards) of the quotations,
eliminating the highest quotation (or, in the event of equality, one of the highest) and the lowest
quotation (or, in the event of equality, one of the lowest).

For the purpose of this Condition 6.3.2E:
“Margin” has the meaning specified in the Final Terms.

“Reference Banks” means (i) where the Reference Currency is Euro, the principal office of five
leading swap dealers in the inter-bank market, (ii) where the Reference Currency is Sterling, the
principal London office of five leading swap dealers in the London inter-bank market, (iii) where the
Reference Currency is United States dollars, the principal New York City office of five leading swap
dealers in the New York City inter-bank market, or (iv) in the case of any other Reference Currency,
the principal Relevant Financial Centre office of five leading swap dealers in the Relevant Financial
Centre inter-bank market, in each case as selected by the Calculation Agent.

“Relevant Screen Page” has the meaning specified in the Final Terms.
“Relevant Swap Rate” means:

@) where the Reference Currency is euro, the mid-market annual swap rate determined on the basis
of the arithmetic mean of the bid and offered rates for the annual fixed leg, calculated on a
30/360 day count basis, of a fixed-for-floating euro interest rate swap transaction with a term
equal to the Designated Maturity commencing on the first day of the relevant Interest Period
and in a Representative Amount with an acknowledged dealer of good credit in the swap
market, where the floating leg, in each case calculated on an Actual/360 day count basis, is
equivalent to EUR-EURIBOR-Reuters (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) with a designated
maturity determined by the Calculation Agent by reference to standard market practice and/or
the ISDA Definitions;
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(b)

(il)  where the Reference Currency is Sterling, the mid-market semi-annual swap rate determined on
the basis of the arithmetic mean of the bid and offered rates for the semi-annual fixed leg,
calculated on an Actual/365 (Fixed) day count basis, of a fixed-for-floating Sterling interest rate
swap transaction with a term equal to the Designated Maturity commencing on the first day of
the relevant Interest Period and in a Representative Amount with an acknowledged dealer of
good credit in the swap market, where the floating leg, in each case calculated on an Actual/365
(Fixed) day count basis, is equivalent (A) if the Designated Maturity is greater than one year, to
GBP-LIBOR-BBA (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) with a designated maturity of six
months or (B) if the Designated Maturity is one year or less, to GBP-LIBOR-BBA with a
designated maturity of three months;

(iii)  where the Reference Currency is United States dollars, the mid-market semi-annual swap rate
determined on the basis of the mean of the bid and offered rates for the semi-annual fixed leg,
calculated on a 30/360 day count basis, of a fixed-for-floating United States dollar interest rate
swap transaction with a term equal to the Designated Maturity commencing on the first day of
the relevant Interest Period and in a Representative Amount with an acknowledged dealer of
good credit in the swap market, where the floating leg, calculated on an Actual/360 day count
basis, is equivalent to USD-LIBOR-BBA (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) with a
designated maturity of three months; and

(iv)  where the Reference Currency is any other currency, the mid-market swap rate as determined
by the Calculation Agent in its sole and absolute discretion on a commercial basis as it shall
consider appropriate and in accordance with standard market practice.

“Relevant Time” has the meaning specified in the Final Terms.

“Representative Amount” means an amount that is representative for a single transaction in the
relevant market at the relevant time.

If on any Interest Determination Date one only or none of the Reference Banks provides the
Calculation Agent with such quotations as provided in the preceding paragraph, the CMS Rate shall be
determined by the Calculation Agent in its sole and absolute discretion on a commercial basis as it
shall consider appropriate and in accordance with standard market practice.

ISDA Determination:

If ISDA Determination is specified in the relevant Final Terms as the manner in which the Rate(s) of
Interest is/are to be determined, the Rate of Interest applicable to the Notes for each Interest Period
will be the sum of the Margin and the relevant ISDA Rate where “ISDA Rate” in relation to any
Interest Period means a rate equal to the Floating Rate (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) that would
be determined by the Calculation Agent under an interest rate swap transaction if the Calculation
Agent were acting as Calculation Agent for that interest rate swap transaction under the terms of an
agreement incorporating the ISDA Definitions and under which:

@) the Floating Rate Option (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) is as specified in the relevant
Final Terms;

(ii))  the Designated Maturity (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) is a period specified in the
relevant Final Terms; and

(ii1)  the relevant Reset Date (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) is either (A) if the relevant
Floating Rate Option is based on the London inter-bank offered rate (LIBOR) for a currency,
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6.3.3

6.3.4

6.3.5

6.3.6

6.3.7

the first day of that Interest Period or (B) in any other case, as specified in the relevant Final
Terms.

Linear Interpolation: Where Linear Interpolation is specified as applicable in respect of an Interest
Period in the applicable Final Terms, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be calculated by
the Calculation Agent by straight line linear interpolation by reference to two rates based on the
relevant Reference Rate (where Screen Rate Determination is specified as applicable in the applicable
Final Terms) or the relevant Floating Rate Option (where ISDA Determination is specified as
applicable in the applicable Final Terms), one of which shall be determined as if the Designated
Maturity were the period of time for which rates are available next shorter than the length of the
relevant Interest Period and the other of which shall be determined as if the Designated Maturity were
the period of time for which rates are available next longer than the length of the relevant Interest
Period provided however that if there is no rate available for a period of time next shorter or, as the
case may be, next longer, then the Calculation Agent shall determine such rate at such time and by
reference to such sources as it determines appropriate.

Designated Maturity means, in relation to Screen Rate Determination, the period of time designated
in the Reference Rate.

Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest: If any Maximum Rate of Interest or Minimum Rate of
Interest is specified in the relevant Final Terms, then the Rate of Interest shall in no event be greater
than the maximum or be less than the minimum so specified.

Calculation of Interest Amount: The Calculation Agent will, as soon as practicable after the time at
which the Rate of Interest is to be determined in relation to each Interest Period, calculate the Interest
Amount payable in respect of each Note for such Interest Period. The amount of interest payable in
respect of any Note for any period will be calculated by applying the Rate of Interest for such Interest
Period to the Calculation Amount, multiplying the product by the relevant Day Count Fraction,
rounding the resulting figure to the nearest sub-unit of the Specified Currency (half a sub-unit being
rounded upwards) and multiplying such rounded figure by a fraction equal to the Specified
Denomination of the relevant Note divided by the Calculation Amount. For this purpose a “sub-unit”
means, in the case of any currency other than euro, the lowest amount of such currency that is
available as legal tender in the country of such currency and, in the case of euro, means one cent.

Calculation of other amounts: 1If the relevant Final Terms specifies that any other amount is to be
calculated by the Calculation Agent, the Calculation Agent will, as soon as practicable after the time or
times at which any such amount is to be determined, calculate the relevant amount. The relevant
amount will be calculated by the Calculation Agent in the manner specified in the relevant Final
Terms.

Publication: The Calculation Agent will cause each Rate of Interest and Interest Amount determined
by it, together with the relevant Interest Payment Date, and any other amount(s) required to be
determined by it together with any relevant payment date(s) to be notified to the Paying Agents and
each competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system (if any) by which the Notes have
then been admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation as soon as practicable after such determination
but (in the case of each Rate of Interest, Interest Amount and Interest Payment Date) in any event not
later than the first day of the relevant Interest Period. Notice thereof shall also promptly be given to the
Noteholders. The Calculation Agent will be entitled to recalculate any Interest Amount (on the basis of
the foregoing provisions) without notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the relevant
Interest Period. If the Calculation Amount is less than the minimum Specified Denomination the
Calculation Agent shall not be obliged to publish each Interest Amount but instead may publish only
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6.3.8

6.3.9

6.4

6.4.1

6.4.2

the Calculation Amount and the Interest Amount in respect of a Note having the minimum Specified
Denomination.

Notifications etc.: All notifications, opinions, determinations, certificates, calculations, quotations and
decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of this Condition by the Calculation
Agent will (in the absence of manifest error) be binding on the Issuer, the Paying Agents, the
Noteholders and the Couponholders and (subject as aforesaid) no liability to any such Person will
attach to the Calculation Agent in connection with the exercise or non-exercise by it of its powers,
duties and discretions for such purposes.

For the purposes of this Condition 6.3, unless defined above,

“Reference Banks” means, in the case of a determination of EURIBOR, the principal Euro-zone
office of four major banks in the Euro-zone interbank market; in the case of a determination of LIBOR
the principal London office of four major banks in the London interbank market; and in the case of a
determination of a Reference Rate other than EURIBOR or LIBOR, the principal office in the
Relevant Financial Centre of four major banks in the interbank market of the Relevant Financial
Centre, in each case selected by the Calculation Agent.

“Reference Rate” means, as specified in the Final Terms, (i) the Euro-zone interbank offered rate
(“EURIBOR”); (ii) the London interbank offered rate (“LIBOR”); (iii) the Singapore interbank
offered rate (“SIBOR”); (iv) the Tokyo interbank offered rate (“TIBOR”); (v) the Hong Kong
interbank offered rate (“HIBOR”); (vi) the bank rate of the Bank of England (the “Bank of England
Base Rate”), in each case, for the relevant currency and for the relevant period (if applicable), as
specified for each in the Final Terms, or otherwise specified in the Final Terms.

“Relevant Financial Centre” means the financial centre specified as such in the Final Terms or if
none is so specified: (i) in the case of a determination of EURIBOR, Brussels; (ii) in the case of a
determination of LIBOR, London; (iii) in the case of a determination of SIBOR, Singapore; (iv) in the
case of a determination of TIBOR, Tokyo; in the case of a determination of HIBOR, Hong Kong; or
(vi) in the case of a determination of the Bank of England Base Rate, London.

Benchmark discontinuation

Notwithstanding the provision above in Conditions 6.2 or 6.3, if a Benchmark Event occurs in relation
to an Original Reference Rate when any required Rate of Interest (or any component part thereof)
remains to be determined by reference to such Original Reference Rate, then the following provisions
of this Condition 6.4 shall apply.

Independent Adviser: The Issuer shall use its reasonable endeavours to appoint and consult with an
Independent Adviser, as soon as reasonably practicable, with a view to the Issuer determining a
Successor Rate, failing which an Alternative Rate (in accordance with Condition 6.4.2) and, in either
case, an Adjustment Spread if any (in accordance with Condition 6.4.3) and any Benchmark
Amendments (in accordance with Condition 6.4.6).

An Independent Adviser appointed pursuant to this Condition 6.4 shall act in good faith as an expert
and (in the absence of bad faith or fraud) shall have no liability whatsoever to the Fiscal Agent, the
Paying Agents, or the Noteholders for any determination made by it or for any advice given to the
Issuer in connection with any determination made by the Issuer, pursuant to this Condition 6.4.

Successor Rate or Alternative Rate: If the Issuer, following consultation with the Independent Adviser
and acting in good faith, determines that:
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6.4.3

6.4.4

6.4.5

(A) there is a Successor Rate, then such Successor Rate and the applicable Adjustment Spread
shall subsequently be used in place of the Original Reference Rate to determine the relevant
Rate(s) of Interest (or the relevant component part(s) thereof) for all relevant future payments
of interest on the Notes (subject to the further operation of this Condition 6.4), with effect as
from the date or, as the case may be, Interest Period, as specified in the notice delivered
pursuant to Condition 6.4.5 below; or

B) there is no Successor Rate but that there is an Alternative Rate, then such Alternative Rate
and the applicable Adjustment Spread shall subsequently be used in place of the Original
Reference Rate to determine the relevant Rate(s) of Interest (or the relevant component
part(s) thereof) for all relevant future payments of interest on the Notes (subject to the further
operation of this Condition 6.4), with effect as from the date or, as the case may be, Interest
Period, as specified in the notice delivered pursuant to Condition 6.4.5 below.

Adjustment Spread: The Adjustment Spread shall be applied to the Successor Rate or the Alternative
Rate (as the case may be) for each subsequent determination of a relevant Rate of Interest (or a
component part thereof) by reference to such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate (as applicable), in
such manner as will be specified in the notice delivered pursuant to Condition 6.4.5 below.

Benchmark Amendments

If any Successor Rate, Alternative Rate or Adjustment Spread is determined in accordance with this
Condition 6.4 and the Issuer, following consultation with the Independent Adviser and acting in good
faith, determines (A) that amendments to these Conditions and/or the Agency Agreement are necessary
to ensure the proper operation of such Successor Rate, Alternative Rate and/or Adjustment Spread
(such amendments, the “Benchmark Amendments”) and (B) the terms of the Benchmark
Amendments, then the Issuer shall, subject to giving notice thereof in accordance with Condition 6.4.5,
without any requirement for the consent or approval of Noteholders, vary these Conditions and/or the
Agency Agreement to give effect to such Benchmark Amendments with effect from the date specified
in such notice.

In connection with any such variation in accordance with this Condition 6.4.4 the Issuer shall comply
with the rules of any stock exchange on which the Notes are for the time being listed or admitted to
trading.

Notices, etc.

Any Successor Rate, Alternative Rate, Adjustment Spread and the specific terms of any Benchmark
Amendments, determined under this Condition 6.4 will be notified promptly by the Issuer to the Fiscal
Agent, Calculation Agent, the Paying Agents and, in accordance with Condition 19, the Noteholders.
Such notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify (inter alia) the effective date of the Benchmark
Amendments, if any.

No later than notifying the Fiscal Agent of the same, the Issuer shall deliver to the Fiscal Agent a
certificate signed by two authorised signatories of the Issuer:

(a) confirming (i) that a Benchmark Event has occurred, (ii) the Successor Rate or, as the
case may be, the Alternative Rate and, (iii) where applicable, any Adjustment Spread
and/or the specific terms of any Benchmark Amendments, in each case as determined in
accordance with the provisions of this Condition 6.4; and

(b)  certifying that the Benchmark Amendments are necessary to ensure the proper operation
of such Successor Rate, Alternative Rate and/or Adjustment Spread.
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6.4.6

6.4.7

The Fiscal Agent shall display such certificate at its offices, for inspection by the Noteholders at all
reasonable times during normal business hours.

The Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and the Adjustment Spread (if any) and the Benchmark
Amendments (if any) specified in such certificate will (in the absence of manifest error or bad faith in
the determination of the Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and the Adjustment Spread (if any) and the
Benchmark Amendments (if any) be binding on the Issuer, the Fiscal Agent, the Calculation Agent, the
Paying Agents and the Noteholders.

Survival of Original Reference Rate

Without prejudice to the obligations of the Issuer under Condition 6.4.1 to 6.4.5, the Original
Reference Rate and the fallback provisions provided for in Condition 6.2 (Inferest on Reset Notes) or
Condition 6.3.2.(a) (Interest on Floating Rate Notes — Screen Rate Determination) as applicable will
continue to apply unless and until the Fiscal Agent, the Calculation Agent and the Noteholders have
been notified of the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be), and any Adjustment
Spread and Benchmark Amendments, in accordance with Condition 6.4.5.

For the avoidance of doubt, if the Issuer is unable to appoint an Independent Adviser, or the
Independent Adviser appointed by the Issuer fails to determine a Successor Rate or Alternative Rate
(as applicable) on or before the date falling five Business Days prior to the Interest Determination Date
(or Reset Determination Date) relating to the next Interest Period, or if a Successor Rate or an
Alternative Rate is not determined or adopted pursuant to the operation of this Condition 6.4 prior to
such date, then the Rate of Interest (or the Reset Rate of Interest) for the next Interest Period shall be
determined by reference to the fallback provisions of Condition 6.2 (Interest on Reset Notes) or
Condition 6.3 (Interest on Floating Rate Notes).

Definitions
For the purposes of this Condition 6.4, unless defined above:

“Adjustment Spread” means either (a) a spread (which may be positive, negative or zero), or (b) the
formula or methodology for calculating a spread, in each case to be applied to the Successor Rate or
the Alternative Rate (as the case may be) and is the spread, formula or methodology which:

)] in the case of a Successor Rate, is formally recommended, or formally provided as an option
for parties to adopt, in relation to the replacement of the Original Reference Rate with the
Successor Rate by any Relevant Nominating Body; or

(i1) if no such reccomandation has been made, or in the case of an Alternative Rate, the Issuer
determines, following consultation with the Independent Adviser, is customarily applied to
the relevant Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be) in international debt
capital markets transactions to produce an industry-accepted replacement rate for the Original
Reference Rate; or

(iii) if the Issuer determines that no such spread is customarily applied, the Issuer determines,
following consultation with the Independent Adviser, is recognised or acknowledged as being
the industry standard for over-the-counter derivative transactions which reference the
Original Reference Rate, where such rate has been replaced by the Successor Rate or the
Alternative Rate (as the case may be).

“Alternative Rate” means an alternative benchmark or screen rate which the Issuer determines in
accordance with Condition 6.4.2 is customarily applied in international debt capital markets
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transactions for the purposes of determining rates of interest (or the relevant component part thereof)
for a commensurate interest period and in the same Specified Currency as the Notes.

“Benchmark Amendments” has the meaning given to it in Condition 6.4.4.
“Benchmark Event” means, with respect to an Original Reference Rate:

i) the Original Reference Rate ceasing to be published for a period of at least 5 Business Days
or ceasing to exist; or

(i) a public statement by the administrator of the Original Reference Rate that it has ceased or
that it will cease publishing the Original Reference Rate permanently or indefinitely (in
circumstances where no successor administrator has been appointed that will continue
publication of the Original Reference Rate); or

(iii) a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original Reference Rate that
the Original Reference Rate has been or will be permanently or indefinitely discontinued; or

(iv) a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original Reference Rate,
stating, or to the effect, that the Original Reference Rate will be prohibited from being used or
that its use will be subject to restrictions or adverse consequences; or

W) it has or will prior to the next Interest Determination Date or Reset Determination Date, as
applicable, become unlawful for any Paying Agent, the Calculation Agent or the Issuer to
calculate any payments due to be made to any Noteholder using the Original Reference Rate
(including, without limitation, under the Benchmark Regulation (EU) 2016/1011, if
applicable).

provided that in the case of sub-paragraphs (ii), (iii) and (iv), the Benchmark Event shall occur on the
date of the cessation of publication of the Original Reference Rate, the discontinuation of the Original
Reference Rate, or the prohibition of use of the Original Reference Rate, as the case may be, and not
the date of the relevant public statement.

“Independent Adviser” means an independent financial institution of international repute or an
independent adviser of recognised standing with appropriate expertise appointed by the Issuer at its
own expense under Condition 6.4.1.

“Original Reference Rate” means the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable) originally specified
for the purpose of determining the relevant Rate of Interest (or any relevant component part(s) thereof)
on the Notes.

“Relevant Nominating Body” means, in respect of a benchmark or screen rate (as applicable):

i) the central bank for the currency to which the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable) relates,
or any central bank or other supervisory authority which is responsible for supervising the
administrator of the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable); or

(i)  any working group or committee sponsored by, chaired or co-chaired by or constituted at the
request of (a) the central bank for the currency to which the benchmark or screen rate (as
applicable) relates, (b) any central bank or other supervisory authority which is responsible for
supervising the administrator of the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable), (c) a group of the
aforementioned central banks or other supervisory authorities or (d) the Financial Stability
Board, the European Systemic Risk Board, or any part thereof.
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“Successor Rate” means a successor to or replacement of the Original Reference Rate which is
formally recommended by any Relevant Nominating Body.

Condition 7 is applicable to the Notes only if the Zero Coupon Note Provisions are specified in the relevant

Final Terms as being applicable.

ZERO COUPON NOTES

If the Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Zero Coupon Note is improperly withheld or refused, the

Redemption Amount shall thereafter be an amount equal to the sum of:

(@)
(i)

the Reference Price; and

the product of the Accrual Yield (compounded annually) being applied to the Reference Price on the
basis of the relevant Day Count Fraction from (and including) the Issue Date to (but excluding)
whichever is the earlier of (i) the day on which all sums due in respect of such Note up to that day are
received by or on behalf of the relevant Noteholder and (ii) the day which is seven days after the Fiscal
Agent has notified the Noteholders that it has received all sums due in respect of the Notes up to such
seventh day (except to the extent that there is any subsequent default in payment).

REDEMPTION AND PURCHASE

8.1

8.2
(@)

Scheduled redemption

Unless previously redeemed, or purchased and cancelled, the Notes will be redeemed at their Final
Redemption Amount on the Maturity Date together with interest accrued (if any) to the date of
redemption, subject as provided in Condition 9 (Payments).

Redemption for tax reasons

The Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer (subject as mentioned below) in whole, but not
in part:

(i) at any time (if the Floating Rate Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Final
Terms as being not applicable or otherwise do not apply in respect of the Interest Period
in which the date fixed for redemption falls); or

(1)  on any Interest Payment Date (if the Floating Rate Note Provisions are specified in the
relevant Final Terms as being applicable or apply in respect of the Interest Period in
which the date fixed for redemption falls),

and, in either case, on giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to the Noteholders
(which notice shall be irrevocable), at their Early Redemption Amount (Tax), together with
interest accrued (if any) to the date fixed for redemption, if:

(A)  the Issuer (1) has or will become obliged to pay additional amounts as
provided or referred to in Condition 10 (Zaxation) as a result of any
change in, or amendment or clarification to, the laws, regulations or other
rules of the Republic of Italy or of any political subdivision or any
authority thereof or therein having power to tax, or as a result of any
change in, or amendment or clarification to, the application or
interpretation (or application or interpretation made for the first time) of
such laws, regulations or other rules, including the publication or
pronouncement of any decision or interpretation by any competent court
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(b)

or authority providing for a position with respect to such laws, regulations
or other rules that differs from the previously generally accepted position
or otherwise differs from prior written confirmation given by the
competent authority in respect of tax treatment of the Notes, which
change, amendment or clarification becomes effective on or after the date
of issue of the first Tranche of the Notes; and (2) such obligation cannot be
avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures it deems appropriate; or

(B)  if early redemption for tax non-deductibility is specified in the relevant
Final Terms, (1) deductibility of interest payable by the Issuer in respect
of the Notes is materially reduced for Italian income tax purposes as a
result of any change in, or amendment or clarification to, the laws or
regulations or applicable accounting standards of the Republic of Italy or
any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power
to tax, or as a result of any change in, or amendment or clarification the
application or interpretation (or application or interpretation made for the
first time) of such laws, regulations or applicable accounting standards,
including the publication or pronouncement of any decision or
interpretation by any competent court or authority providing for a position
with respect to such laws, regulations or other rules that differs from the
previously generally accepted position or otherwise differs from prior
written confirmation given by the competent authority in respect of tax
treatment of the Notes, which change, amendment or clarification
becomes effective on or after the date of issuance of the Notes; and (2)
such non-deductibility cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable
measures available to it,

provided, however, that no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than:

(1)  where the Notes may be redeemed at any time, 90 days prior to the earliest date
on which the Issuer would be obliged to pay such additional amounts if a
payment in respect of the Notes were then due or, in the case of (B), be unable to
deduct such amounts for Italian income tax purposes; or

(2)  where the Notes may be redeemed only on an Interest Payment Date, 60 days
prior to the Interest Payment Date occurring immediately before the earliest date
on which the Issuer would be obliged to pay such additional amounts if a
payment in respect of the Notes were then due or, in the case of (B), be unable to
deduct such amounts for Italian income tax purposes.

Prior to the publication of any notice of redemption pursuant to this Condition 8.2, the Issuer shall
deliver or procure that there is delivered to the Fiscal Agent (1) a certificate signed by a duly
authorised representative of the Issuer stating that the Issuer is entitled to effect such redemption and
setting forth a statement of facts showing that the conditions precedent to the right of the Issuer so to
redeem have occurred and (2) an opinion of independent legal advisers of recognised standing to the
effect that the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay such additional amounts or, in the case of (B),
is or will be unable to deduct such amounts for Italian income tax purposes, in each case, as a result of
such change, amendment or clarification. Upon the expiry of any such notice as is referred to in this
Condition 8.2, the Issuer shall redeem the Notes in accordance with this Condition 8.2.
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(c)

The “Early Redemption Amount (Tax)” shall be: (i) if the Issuer’s Call Option is specified in the
relevant Final Terms as being applicable and the Tax Event occurs on or after the Optional
Redemption Date (Call), the principal amount outstanding of the Notes; or (ii) if the Tax Event occurs
before the Optional Redemption Date (Call) or if the Issuer’s Call Option is specified in the relevant
Final Terms as being not applicable, the principal amount outstanding of the Notes, their Make Whole
Amount or such other amount as specified in the relevant Final Terms.

Condition 8.3 below is applicable if the Issuer’s Call Option is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being

applicable.

83
(a)

(b)

Redemption at the option of the Issuer

The Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole or, if so specified in the relevant Final
Terms, in part on any Optional Redemption Date at the relevant Optional Redemption Amount (Call)
on the Issuer’s giving not less than 15 nor more than 30 days’ notice to the Notecholders, at the
Optional Redemption Amount (Call) plus accrued interest (if any) to such date. Upon the expiry of any
such notice as is referred to in this Condition 8.3, the Issuer shall redeem the Notes or, as the case may
be, the Notes specified in such notice, in accordance with this Condition 8.3.

Partial redemption: 1If the Notes are to be redeemed in part only on any date in accordance with
Condition 8.3 (Redemption at the option of the Issuer), the Notes to be redeemed shall be selected by
the drawing of lots in such place as the Fiscal Agent approves and in such manner as the Fiscal Agent
considers appropriate, subject to compliance with applicable law and the rules of each listing authority,
stock exchange and/or quotation system (if any) by which the Notes have then been admitted to listing,
trading and/or quotation, and the notice to Noteholders referred to in Condition 8.3(a) shall specify the
serial numbers of the Notes so to be redeemed. If any Maximum Redemption Amount or Minimum
Redemption Amount is specified in the relevant Final Terms, then the Optional Redemption Amount
(Call) shall in no event be greater than the maximum or be less than the minimum so specified.

Condition 8.4 is applicable if the Noteholders Put Option is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being

applicable.

8.4 Redemption at the option of Noteholders

(a) The Issuer shall, at the option of the holder of any Note redeem such Note on the Optional Redemption
Date (Put) specified in the relevant Put Option Notice at the relevant Optional Redemption Amount
(Put) together with interest (if any) accrued to such date.

(b)  In order to exercise the option contained in this Condition 8.4, the holder of a Note must, not less than

30 nor more than 60 days before the relevant Optional Redemption Date (Put), deposit with any
Paying Agent such Note together with all unmatured Coupons and unexchanged Talons relating
thereto and a duly completed Put Option Notice in the form obtainable from any Paying Agent. The
Paying Agent with which a Note is so deposited shall deliver a duly completed Put Option Receipt to
the depositing Noteholder. No Note, once deposited with a duly completed Put Option Notice in
accordance with this Condition 8.4, may be withdrawn; provided, however, that if, prior to the relevant
Optional Redemption Date (Put), any such Note becomes immediately due and payable or, upon due
presentation of any such Note on the relevant Optional Redemption Date (Put), payment of the
redemption moneys is improperly withheld or refused, the relevant Paying Agent shall mail
notification thereof to the depositing Noteholder at such address as may have been given by such
Noteholder in the relevant Put Option Notice and shall hold such Note at its Specified Office for
collection by the depositing Noteholder against surrender of the relevant Put Option Receipt. For so
long as any outstanding Note is held by a Paying Agent in accordance with this Condition 8.4, the
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depositor of such Note and not such Paying Agent shall be deemed to be the holder of such Note for all
purposes.

Condition 8.4A4 is applicable if the Clean-up Call Option is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being

applicable.

8.4A Clean-up Call Option

8.5
(a)

(b)

In the event that at least 80% of the intial aggregate principal amount of the Notes has been purchased
or redeemed by the Issuer, the Issuer may, at its option but subject to having given not more than thirty
(30) nor less than fifteen (15) calendar days’ irrevocable notice to the Noteholders in accordance with
Condition 17 (Notices) redeem all, but not some only, of the remaining Notes at their Early
Redemption Amount (Clean-up) together with any interest accrued to the date set for redemption.

The “Early Redemption Amount (Clean-up)” means the amount specified in the relevant Final
Terms.

Make Whole Amount

In relation to any early redemption of the Notes pursuant to Condition 8.2 (Redemption for tax
reasons), the Early Redemption Amount (Tax) - if specified in the Final Terms to be the “Make Whole
Amount” - shall be an amount calculated by the Calculation Agent equal to the higher of (x) 100 per
cent. of the principal amount outstanding of the Notes to be redeemed; and (y) the sum of the present
values of the principal amount outstanding of the Notes to be redeemed and the Remaining Term
Interest on such Note (exclusive of interest accrued to the date of redemption) and such present values
shall be calculated by discounting such amounts to the date of redemption on an annual basis
(assuming a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months or, in the case of an incomplete month,
the number of days elapsed) at the Reference Bond Rate, plus the Redemption Margin.

For the purpose of this Condition 8.5:

“FA Selected Bond” means a government security or securities selected by the Calculation Agent as
having an actual or interpolated maturity comparable with the remaining term to (i) the Maturity Date
or (ii) if an Optional Redemption Date is specified in the Final Terms, the first Optional Redemption
Date of the Notes, that would be utilised, at the time of selection and in accordance with customary
financial practice, in pricing new issues of corporate debt securities denominated in the Specified
Currency and of a comparable maturity to the remaining term to (i) the Maturity Date or (ii) if an
Optional Redemption Date is specified in the Final Terms, the first Optional Redemption Date of the
Notes.

“Redemption Margin” shall be as set out in the Final Terms.

“Redemption Date” means the date fixed for redemption of the Notes in accordance with Condition
8.2 (Redemption for tax reasons).

“Reference Bond” shall be as set out in the Final Terms or the FA Selected Bond.

“Reference Bond Price” means, with respect to any date of redemption, (A) the arithmetic average of
the Reference Government Bond Dealer Quotations for such Redemption Date, after excluding the
highest and lowest such Reference Government Bond Dealer Quotations; or (B) if the Calculation
Agent obtains fewer than five such Reference Government Bond Dealer Quotations, the arithmetic
average of all such quotations.

“Reference Bond Rate” means, with respect to any Redemption Date, the rate per annum equal to the
annual or semi-annual yield (as the case may be) to maturity or interpolated yield to maturity (on the
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relevant day count basis) of the Reference Bond, assuming a price for the Reference Bond (expressed
as a percentage of its nominal amount) equal to the Reference Bond Price for such Redemption Date.

“Reference Date” will be set out in the relevant notice of redemption.

“Reference Government Bond Dealer” means each of five banks selected by the Issuer which are
(A) primary government securities dealers, and their respective successors, or (B) market makers in
pricing corporate bond issues.

“Reference Government Bond Dealer Quotations” means, with respect to each Reference
Government Bond Dealer and any Redemption Date, the arithmetic average, as determined by the
Calculation Agent, of the bid and offered prices for the Reference Bond (expressed in each case as a
percentage of its nominal amount) at the Quotation Time specified in the Final Terms on the Reference
Date quoted in writing to the Calculation Agent by such Reference Government Bond Dealer.

“Remaining Term Interest” means, with respect to any Note, the aggregate amount of scheduled
payment(s) of interest (assuming each such scheduled interest payment to be due in full) on such Note
for the remaining term to (i) the Maturity Date or (ii) if an Optional Redemption Date is specified in
the Final Terms, the first Optional Redemption Date of such Note determined on the basis of the rate
of interest applicable to such Note from and including the Redemption Date.

Condition 8.6 is applicable to Notes specified in the relevant Final Terms as being Instalment Notes.

8.6

8.7

8.8
(@)

(b)

Redemption by Instalments

Instalment Notes will be redeemed in such number of instalments, in such amounts (“Instalment
Amounts”) and on such dates (“Instalment Amount Payment Date”) as will be specified in or
determined in accordance with the relevant Final Terms and upon each partial redemption as provided
by this Condition 8.6 the outstanding principal amount of each such Note shall be reduced by the
relevant Instalment Amount for all purposes.

No other redemption

The Issuer shall not be entitled to redeem the Notes otherwise than as provided in Condition 8.1
(Scheduled redemption), Condition 8.2 (Redemption for tax reasons), Condition 8.3 (Redemption at the
option of the Issuer), Condition 8.4 (Redemption at the option of Noteholders), or Condition 8.6
(Redemption by Instalments) above.

Early redemption of Zero Coupon Notes

The Redemption Amount payable on redemption of a Zero Coupon Note at any time before the
Maturity Date, or upon its becoming due and repayable pursuant to Condition 11 (Events of Default),
shall be an amount equal to the sum of:

(1) the Reference Price; and

(i)  the product of the Accrual Yield (compounded annually) being applied to the Reference
Price from (and including) the Issue Date to (but excluding) the date fixed for
redemption or (as the case may be) the date upon which the Note becomes due and
payable.

Where such calculation is to be made for a period which is not a whole number of years, the
calculation in respect of the period of less than a full year shall be made on the basis of such Day
Count Fraction as may be specified in the Final Terms for the purposes of this Condition 8.8 or, if
none is so specified, a Day Count Fraction of 30E/360.
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8.9

8.10

Purchase

The Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries may at any time purchase Notes in the open market or otherwise
and at any price, provided that all unmatured Coupons and unexchanged Talons are purchased
therewith.

Cancellation

All Notes purchased by or on behalf of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries may be surrendered for
cancellation by surrendering each such Note together with all unmatured Receipts and Coupons and all
unexchanged Talons to the Fiscal Agent and, if so surrendered, shall, together with all Notes redeemed
by the Issuer, be cancelled forthwith (together with all unmatured Receipts and Coupons and
unexchanged Talons attached thereto or surrendered therewith). Any Notes so surrendered for
cancellation may not be reissued or resold and the obligations in respect of any such Notes shall be
discharged. Any Notes purchased by or on behalf of the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries and not so
surrendered for cancellation may be reissued or resold.

PAYMENTS

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Principal: Payments of principal shall be made only against presentation and (provided that payment is
made in full and save in the case of payment of an Instalment Amount (other than the final Instalment
Amount)) surrender of Notes at the Specified Office of any Paying Agent outside the United States by
transfer to an account denominated in that currency (or, if that currency is euro, any other account to
which euro may be credited or transferred) and maintained by the payee with, a bank in the Principal
Financial Centre of that currency (in the case of sterling, a town clearing branch of a bank in the City
of London).

Interest: Payments of interest shall, subject to Condition 9(i) (Payments other than in respect of
matured Coupons) below, be made only against presentation and (provided that payment is made in
full) surrender of the appropriate Coupons at the Specified Office of any Paying Agent outside the
United States in the manner described in Condition 9(a) (Principal) above.

Instalment Amounts: Payment of Instalment Amounts (other than the final Instalment Amount) in
respect of an Instalment Note shall be made only against presentation of the Note together with the
relevant Receipt in respect of such Instalment Amount and surrender of such Receipt. The Receipts are
not and shall not in any circumstances be deemed to be documents of title and if separated from the
Note to which they appertain will not represent any obligation of the Issuer. The presentation of a Note
without the relative Receipt or the presentation of a Receipt without the Note to which it appertains
shall not entitle the holder to any payment in respect of the relevant Instalment Amount.

Payments in New York City: Payments of principal or interest may be made at the Specified Office of a
Paying Agent in New York City if (i) the Issuer has appointed Paying Agents outside the United States
with the reasonable expectation that such Paying Agents will be able to make payment of the full
amount of the interest on the Notes in the currency in which the payment is due when due, (ii) payment
of the full amount of such interest at the offices of all such Paying Agents is illegal or effectively
precluded by exchange controls or other similar restrictions and (iii) payment is permitted by
applicable United States law.

Payments subject to fiscal laws.: All payments in respect of the Notes are subject in all cases to (i) any
applicable fiscal or other laws and regulations in the place of payment, but without prejudice to the
provisions of Condition 10 (7axation); and (ii) any withholding or deduction required pursuant to an
agreement described in Section 1471(b) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986 or otherwise
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)

(2)

(h)

(@)

imposed pursuant to Sections 1471 to 1474 (inclusive) of that Code, any regulations or agreements
thereunder, official interpretations thereof, or any law implementing an intergovernmental approach
thereto. No commissions or expenses shall be charged to the Noteholders or Couponholders in respect
of such payments.

Deductions for unmatured Coupons: If the relevant Final Terms specifies that the Fixed Rate Note
Provisions are applicable and a Note is presented without all unmatured Coupons relating thereto:

i) if the aggregate amount of the missing Coupons is less than or equal to the amount of principal
due for payment, a sum equal to the aggregate amount of the missing Coupons will be deducted
from the amount of principal due for payment; provided, however, that if the gross amount
available for payment is less than the amount of principal due for payment, the sum deducted
will be that proportion of the aggregate amount of such missing Coupons which the gross
amount actually available for payment bears to the amount of principal due for payment;

(i)  if the aggregate amount of the missing Coupons is greater than the amount of principal due for
payment:

(A) so many of such missing Coupons shall become void (in inverse order of maturity) as
will result in the aggregate amount of the remainder of such missing Coupons (the
“Relevant Coupons”) being equal to the amount of principal due for payment; provided,
however, that where this sub-paragraph would otherwise require a fraction of a missing
Coupon to become void, such missing Coupon shall become void in its entirety; and

(B) asum equal to the aggregate amount of the Relevant Coupons (or, if less, the amount of
principal due for payment) will be deducted from the amount of principal due for
payment; provided, however, that, if the gross amount available for payment is less than
the amount of principal due for payment, the sum deducted will be that proportion of the
aggregate amount of the Relevant Coupons (or, as the case may be, the amount of
principal due for payment) which the gross amount actually available for payment bears
to the amount of principal due for payment.

Each sum of principal so deducted shall be paid in the manner provided in Condition 9(a)
(Principal) above against presentation and (provided that payment is made in full) surrender of
the relevant missing Coupons.

Unmatured Coupons void: If the relevant Final Terms specifies that this Condition 9(g) is applicable
or that the Floating Rate Note Provisions are applicable, on the due date for final redemption of any
Note or early redemption of such Note pursuant to Condition 8.2 (Redemption for tax reasons),
Condition 8.3 (Redemption at the option of the Issuer), Condition 8.4 (Redemption at the option of
Noteholders), or Condition 11 (Events of Default), all unmatured Coupons relating thereto (whether or
not still attached) shall become void and no payment will be made in respect thereof.

Payments on business days: If the due date for payment of any amount in respect of any Note or
Coupon is not a Payment Business Day in the place of presentation, the holder shall not be entitled to
payment in such place of the amount due until the next succeeding Payment Business Day in such
place and shall not be entitled to any further interest or other payment in respect of any such delay.

Payments other than in respect of matured Coupons: Payments of interest other than in respect of
matured Coupons shall be made only against presentation of the relevant Notes at the Specified Office
of any Paying Agent outside the United States (or in New York City if permitted by Condition 9(d)
(Payments in New York City) above).
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)

(k)

Partial payments: If a Paying Agent makes a partial payment in respect of any Note or Coupon
presented to it for payment, such Paying Agent will endorse thereon a statement indicating the amount
and date of such payment.

Exchange of Talons: On or after the maturity date of the final Coupon which is (or was at the time of
issue) part of a Coupon Sheet relating to the Notes, the Talon forming part of such Coupon Sheet may
be exchanged at the Specified Office of the Fiscal Agent for a further Coupon Sheet (including, if
appropriate, a further Talon but excluding any Coupons in respect of which claims have already
become void pursuant to Condition 12 (Prescription)). Upon the due date for redemption of any Note,
any unexchanged Talon relating to such Note shall become void and no Coupon will be delivered in
respect of such Talon.

10 TAXATION

(a)

Gross up: All payments of principal and interest in respect of the Notes and the Coupons by or on
behalf of the Issuer shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for, any
present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatsoever nature imposed,
levied, collected, withheld or assessed or on behalf of the Republic of Italy or any political subdivision
therein or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax, unless the withholding or deduction of
such taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges is required by law. In that event, the Issuer
shall pay such additional amounts as will result in receipt by the Noteholders and the Couponholders
after such withholding or deduction of such amounts as would have been received by them had no
such withholding or deduction been required, except that no such additional amounts shall be payable
in respect of any Note or Coupon presented for payment:

@) in the Republic of Italy; or

(i) by or on behalf of a holder which is liable to such taxes, duties, assessments or governmental
charges in respect of such Note or Coupon by reason of its having some connection with the
Republic of Italy other than the mere holding of such Note or Coupon; or

(ii1)  to the extent that interest or any other amount payable is paid to a non-Italian resident entity or
a non-Italian resident individual which is resident for tax purposes in one of the countries or
territories not allowing the Italian tax authorities to obtain appropriate information in respect of
the beneficiary of the payments made from the Republic of Italy (the states allowing for an
adequate exchange of information with the Republic of Italy are those listed in Ministerial
Decree of 4 September 1996, as amended and supplemented); or

(iv) by an Italian resident, to the extent that interest is paid to an Italian individual or an Italian legal
entity not carrying out commercial activities (in particular (A) partnerships, de facto
partnerships not carrying out commercial activities and professional associations, (B) public
and private resident entities, other than companies, not carrying out commercial activities, (C)
real estate investment funds referred to in Law No. 86 of 25 January 1994, and (D) certain other
Persons exempt from corporate income tax) or to such other Italian resident entities which have
been or may be identified by Legislative Decree No. 239 of 1 April 1996 and related
regulations of implementation which have been or may subsequently be enacted (‘“Legislative
Decree No. 239”); or

(v)  in all circumstances in which the requirements and procedures set forth in Legislative Decree
No. 239 have not been met or complied with except where such requirements and procedures
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(vi)

(vii)

have not been met or complied with due to the actions or omissions of the Issuer or its agents;
or

more than 30 days after the Relevant Date except to the extent that the relevant holder would
have been entitled to such additional amounts if it had presented such Note or Coupon on the
last day of such period of 30 days; or

in respect of Notes classified as atypical securities where such withholding or deduction is
required under Law Decree No. 512 of 30 September 1983, as amended and supplemented from
time to time; or

(viii) any combination of items (i) through (vii).

(b)  Taxing jurisdiction: 1f the Issuer becomes subject at any time to any taxing jurisdiction other than the

Republic of Italy, references in these Conditions to the Republic of Italy shall be construed as

references to and/or such other jurisdiction.

11 EVENTS OF DEFAULT

If any of the following events occurs:

(A)

(B)

©

D)

(E)

Non-payment: the Issuer fails to pay any amount of principal in respect of the Notes within five
days of the due date for payment thereof or fails to pay any amount of interest in respect of the
Notes within fifteen days of the due date for payment thereof;

Breach of other obligations: the Issuer defaults in the performance or observance of any of its
other obligations under or in respect of the Notes and such default remains unremedied for 30
days after written notice thereof, addressed to the Issuer by any Noteholder, has been delivered
to the Issuer or to the Specified Office of the Fiscal Agent;

Cross default of Issuer:

(1)  any Indebtedness of the Issuer is not paid when due or (as the case may be) within any
originally applicable grace period;

(2)  any Indebtedness of the Issuer becomes (or becomes capable of being declared) due and
payable prior to its stated maturity by reason of default; or

(3)  the Issuer fails to pay when due any amount payable by it under any Guarantee of any
Indebtedness;

provided that the amount of Indebtedness referred to in sub-paragraph (1) and/or sub-paragraph
(2) above and/or the amount payable under any Guarantee referred to in sub-paragraph (3)
above individually or in the aggregate exceeds Euro 100,000,000 (or its equivalent in any other
currency or currencies);;

Security enforced: a secured party takes possession, or a receiver, manager or other similar
officer is appointed, of the whole or substantially the whole of the undertaking, assets and
revenues of the Issuer;

Insolvency etc.: (1) the Issuer becomes insolvent or is unable to pay its debts as they fall due, (ii)
an administrator or liquidator of the Issuer or the whole or substantially the whole of the
undertaking, assets and revenues of the Issuer is appointed (or application for any such
appointment is made), (iii) the Issuer takes any action for a readjustment or deferment of any of
its obligations or makes a general assignment or an arrangement or composition with or for the
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benefit of its creditors or declares a moratorium in respect of any of its Indebtedness or any
Guarantee of any Indebtedness given by it or (iv) the Issuer ceases or threatens to cease to carry
on all or any substantial part of its business other than in connection with a solvent
reorganisation, reconstruction, amalgamation or merger;

(F)  Winding-up etc.: an order is made or an effective resolution is passed for the winding up,
liquidation or dissolution of the Issuer, except for the purpose of and followed by (A) a
reconstruction, amalgamation, reorganisation, merger, demerger or consolidation on terms
approved by a resolution of the Noteholders, or (B) a Permitted Reorganisation; or;

(G)  Analogous event: any event occurs which under the laws of any relevant jurisdiction has an
analogous effect to any of the events referred to in paragraphs (D) to (F) above;

(H)  Failure to take action etc.: any action, condition or thing at any time required to be taken,
fulfilled or done in order (i) to enable the Issuer lawfully to enter into, exercise its rights and
perform and comply with its obligations under and in respect of the Notes, (ii) to ensure that
those obligations are legal, valid, binding and enforceable and (iii) to make the Notes and the
Coupons admissible in evidence in the courts of any relevant jurisdiction is not taken, fulfilled
or done; or

D) Unlawfulness: it is or will become unlawful for the Issuer to perform or comply with any of its
obligations under or in respect of the Notes,

then, subject as stated below, any Note may, by written notice addressed by the holder thereof to the Issuer
and delivered to the Issuer or to the Specified Office of the Fiscal Agent, be declared immediately due and
payable, at its principal amount (or, in the case of Zero Coupon Notes, at the amount indicated at Condition
8.8 (Early redemption of Zero Coupon Notes)) together with accrued interest without further action or
formality.

PRESCRIPTION

Claims for principal shall become void unless the relevant Notes are presented for payment within ten years
of the appropriate Relevant Date. Claims for interest shall become void unless the relevant Coupons are
presented for payment within five years of the appropriate Relevant Date.

REPLACEMENT OF NOTES AND COUPONS

If any Note or Coupon is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be replaced at the Specified
Office of the Fiscal Agent (and, if the Notes are then admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by any
listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system which requires the appointment of a Paying Agent
in any particular place, the Paying Agent having its Specified Office in the place required by such listing
authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system), subject to all applicable laws and listing authority, stock
exchange and/or quotation system requirements, upon payment by the claimant of the expenses incurred in
connection with such replacement and on such terms as to evidence, security, indemnity and otherwise as the
Issuer may reasonably require. Mutilated or defaced Notes or Coupons must be surrendered before
replacements will be issued.
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AGENTS

In acting under the Agency Agreement and in connection with the Notes and the Coupons, the Paying Agents
act solely as agents of the Issuer and do not assume any obligations towards or relationship of agency or trust
for or with any of the Noteholders or Couponholders.

The initial Paying Agents and their initial Specified Offices are listed below. The initial Calculation Agent (if
any) is specified in the relevant Final Terms. The Issuer reserves the right at any time to vary or terminate the
appointment of any Paying Agent and to appoint a successor fiscal agent or Calculation Agent and additional
or successor paying agents; provided, however, that:

(a)  the Issuer shall at all times maintain a Fiscal Agent; and

(b)  if a Calculation Agent is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Issuer shall at all times maintain a
Calculation Agent; and

()  if and for so long as the Notes are admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by any listing authority,
stock exchange and/or quotation system the rules of which require the appointment of a Paying Agent
in any particular place, the Issuer shall maintain a Paying Agent having its Specified Office in the
place required by the rules of such listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system; and

(d)  there will at all times be a Paying Agent in a jurisdiction within continental Europe, other than the
jurisdiction in which the Issuer is incorporated.

Notice of any change in any of the Paying Agents or in their Specified Offices shall promptly be given to the
Noteholders.

MEETINGS OF NOTEHOLDERS; MODIFICATION AND WAIVER; SUBSTITUTION

15.1 Meetings of Noteholders

(a)  The Agency Agreement contains provisions for convening meetings of Noteholders to consider matters
relating to the Notes, including the modification of any provision of these Conditions. Any such
modification may be made if sanctioned by an Extraordinary Resolution. Any Extraordinary
Resolution duly passed at any such meeting shall be binding on all the Noteholders and
Couponholders, whether present or not and irrespective of how their vote was cast at such meeting.

(b)  Inrelation to the convening of meetings, quorums and the majorities required to pass an Extraordinary
Resolution in respect of Notes issued by Assicurazioni Generali, the following provisions shall apply
but are subject to compliance with the laws, legislation, rules and regulations of Italy in force and
applicable to Assicurazioni Generali from time to time:

(A) ameeting may be convened by the Issuer or the Noteholders’ Representative and
shall be convened by either of them upon the request in writing of Noteholders
holding not less than one-twentieth of the aggregate principal amount of the
outstanding Notes;

(B) a meeting of Noteholders will be validly held as a single call meeting (assemblea
in unica convocazione) (“Single Call Meeting”) or as a multiple call meeting
(i.e. each of the first, second and further call of the Meeting respectively and
collectively, a (“Multiple Call Meeting”) if (i) in the case of a Single Call
Meeting there are one or more persons present, being or representing Noteholders
holding at least one-fifth of the principal amount of the Notes for the time being
outstanding; or (ii) in the case of a Multiple Call Meeting, there are one or more
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15.2

15.3

persons present, being or representing Noteholders holding (a) at the initial
meeting, at least one half of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding
Notes, or (b) at a second meeting, more than one third of the aggregate principal
amount of the outstanding Notes, or (c) at a third meeting or any subsequent
meeting, at least one fifth of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding
Notes provided, however, that the quorum shall always be at least one half of the
aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes for the purposes of
considering a Reserved Matter and provided further that the by-laws of the Issuer
may from time to time (to the extent permitted under applicable Italian law)
require a higher (or, in the case of Notes that are admitted to listing on a regulated
market, different) quorum at any such meeting which shall be indicated in the
Notice convening the relevant Meeting;

(C)  the majority required to pass an Extraordinary Resolution (including any meeting
convened following adjournment of the previous meeting for want of quorum)
will be one or more persons holding or representing at least two thirds of the
aggregate principal amount of the Notes represented at the meeting, provided,
however, that a Reserved Matter may only be sanctioned by an Extraordinary
Resolution passed at a meeting of Noteholders by one or more persons holding or
representing at least one half of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding
Notes and provided further that the by-laws of the Issuer may from time to time
(to the extent permitted under applicable Italian law) require a larger (or, in the
case of Notes that are admitted to listing on a regulated market, different)
majority which shall be indicated in the Notice convening the relevant Meeting.

Noteholders’ Representative

Pursuant to Articles 2415 and 2417 of the Italian Civil Code, a Noteholders’ Representative
(rappresentante comune) may be appointed, inter alia, to represent the interests of Noteholders in
respect of Notes issued by Assicurazioni Generali, such appointment to be made by an Extraordinary
Resolution or by an order of a competent court at the request of one or more Noteholders or the Issuer.
Each such Noteholders’ Representative shall have the powers and duties set out in Article 2418 of the
Italian Civil Code.

Modification

The Notes, these Conditions and (in case the Notes are governed by English law) the Deed of
Covenant may be amended without the consent of the Noteholders or the Couponholders to correct a
manifest error. In addition, the parties to the Agency Agreement may agree to modify any provision
thereof, but the Issuer shall not agree, without the consent of the Noteholders, to any such modification
unless it is of a formal, minor or technical nature, it is made to correct a manifest error or it is, in the
opinion of such parties, not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders.

The following Condition 15.4 shall apply if it is specified in the Final Terms that the Substitution Provisions

are applicable to the Notes.

15.4
(@)

Substitution

Any duly incorporated Subsidiary of Assicurazioni Generali in good standing under the laws of its
jurisdiction may, without the consent of the Noteholders, but with the prior written approval of
Assicurazioni Generali, assume liability as the principal debtor in respect of the Notes (the
“Substituted Debtor”), provided that:
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(1)

(i)

(iif)

a deed poll and such other documents (if any) shall be executed by the Substituted
Debtor and, to the extent necessary, Assicurazioni Generali and the other parties to the
Agency Agreement and the Deed of Covenant, as may be necessary to give full effect to
the substitution (the “Documents”) and (without limiting the generality of the
foregoing) pursuant to which the Substituted Debtor shall undertake in favour of each
Noteholder and each Accountholder (as defined in the Deed of Covenant) to be bound by
these Conditions, the Deed of Covenant and the Agency Agreement as fully as if the
Substituted Debtor had been named in the Notes, the Deed of Covenant and the Agency
Agreement as the principal debtor in respect of the Notes in place of Assicurazioni
Generali. An unconditional and irrevocable deed of guarantee substantially in the form
annexed to the Agency Agreement shall be executed by Assicurazioni Generali whereby
Assicurazioni Generali shall guarantee in favour of each Noteholder and each
Accountholder the payment of all sums payable by the Substituted Debtor as such
principal debtor substantially to the extent of, and in the terms specified in, the form of
deed of guarantee annexed to the Agency Agreement (such guarantee is referred to in
this Condition 15.4 as the “Substitution Guarantee” and such guarantor as the
“Guarantor”;

the Documents and the Substitution Guarantee shall contain a warranty and
representation by the Substituted Debtor and the Guarantor (a) that each of the
Substituted Debtor and the Guarantor has obtained all necessary governmental and
regulatory approvals and consents for such substitution and the giving of such
Substitution Guarantee, (b) that each of the Substituted Debtor and the Guarantor has
obtained all necessary governmental and regulatory approvals and consents for the
performance by each of the Substituted Debtor and the Guarantor of its obligations
under the Documents and the Substitution Guarantee and that all such approvals and
consents are in full force and effect and (c) that the obligations assumed by each of the
Substituted Debtor and the Guarantor are legal, valid and binding in accordance with
their respective terms and enforceable by each Noteholder and each Accountholder
(subject to all applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or similar laws affecting the
enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and general equitable principles);

a legal opinion shall have been delivered to the Fiscal Agent from whom copies will be
available to Noteholders (and if applicable Accountholders) (a) from lawyers of
recognised standing as to matters of law of the jurisdiction of the place of incorporation
of the Substituted Debtor confirming that upon the substitution taking place (1) the
requirements of this Condition 15.4, save as to the giving of notice to the Noteholders,
have been met, (2) the Notes, the Deed of Covenant and the Agency Agreement are legal,
valid, binding and enforceable obligations of the Substituted Debtor (subject to all
applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or similar laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’
rights generally and general equitable principles), (3) the Substituted Debtor is validly
incorporated under the laws of its jurisdiction, and (4) that the Substituted Debtor has
obtained all necessary governmental and regulatory approvals and consents for the
substitution and for the entry into and performance of the Documents and (b) from the
legal counsel to the Guarantor confirming that upon the substitution taking place, (1) the
Substitution Guarantee and the Documents are legal, valid, binding and enforceable
obligations of the Guarantor, (2) the Guarantor has the power to enter into and perform
the obligations to be assumed by the Guarantor in the Documents and the Substitution
Guarantee, and (3) the Guarantor has obtained all necessary governmental and
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(b)

(©)

(d)

regulatory approvals and consents for the entry into and the performance of the
Documents and the Substitution Guarantee;

(iv) each Rating Agency shall have confirmed to the Substituted Debtor, Assicurazioni
Generali and the Fiscal Agent that after giving effect to such substitution and the giving
of the Substitution Guarantee, the Notes shall (to the extent they were rated by such
rating agency prior to the substitution) continue to be rated the same as immediately
prior to the substitution;

(v)  no right of redemption pursuant to Condition 8 (Redemption and Purchase), any of the
Documents or the Substitution Guarantee would become applicable on or as a result of
such substitution;

(vi) the appropriate regulatory authorities in Luxembourg shall have confirmed to the
Substituted Debtor, Assicurazioni Generali and the Fiscal Agent that, after giving effect
to such substitution and the giving of the Substitution Guarantee, the Notes shall
continue to be listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (provided that the relevant
Notes were so listed prior to such substitution); and

(vii) a certificate of solvency of the Substituted Debtor, signed by two directors of the
Substituted Debtor shall have been delivered to the Fiscal Agent.

Upon the execution of the Documents and the delivery of the legal opinions as referred to in paragraph
(a) above; (A) the Substituted Debtor shall be deemed to be named in the Notes, the Deed of Covenant
and the Agency Agreement as the principal debtor in place of the Issuer (and, where the context
requires, references to Assicurazioni Generali in its capacity as the issuer of the Notes will be replaced
by references to the Substituted Debtor as the issuer of the Notes) and the Notes, the Deed of Covenant
and the Agency Agreement shall thereupon be deemed to be amended to give effect to the foregoing as
well as all other amendments incidental to such substitution, and (B) the Issuer shall be released from
all of its obligations under or in respect of the Notes, the Deed of Covenant and the Agency
Agreement.

Counterparts of each of the Documents (which shall include the Conditions amended and restated to
give effect to the substitution) and the Substitution Guarantee shall be deposited with and held by the
Fiscal Agent for so long as any of the Notes remains outstanding and for so long as any claim made
against the Substituted Debtor or the Guarantor by any Noteholder or Accountholder in relation to the
Notes, the Documents or the Substitution Guarantee shall not have been finally adjudicated, settled or
discharged. The Substituted Debtor and the Guarantor shall acknowledge in the Documents and the
Substitution Guarantee the right of every Noteholder and Accountholder to the production of the
Documents and the Substitution Guarantee for the enforcement of any of the Notes, Documents or
Substitution Guarantee.

Not later than 20 days after the execution of the Documents and the Substitution Guarantee, the
Substituted Debtor together with the Issuer shall give notice thereof to the Noteholders in accordance
with Condition 17 (Notices).

FURTHER ISSUES

The Issuer may from time to time, without the consent of the Noteholders or the Couponholders, create and

issue further notes having the same terms and conditions as the Notes in all respects (or in all respects except

for the first payment of interest) so as to form a single series with the Notes.
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NOTICES

Notices to the Noteholders shall be valid if published in a leading English language daily newspaper
published in London (which is expected to be the Financial Times) or, if the Notes which are listed or
admitted to trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and the rules of that exchange so require, on the
website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu) or if such publication is not practicable, in a
leading English language daily newspaper having general circulation in Europe. Any such notice shall be
deemed to have been given on the date of first publication (or if required to be published in more than one
newspaper, on the first date on which publication shall have been made in all the required newspapers).
Couponholders shall be deemed for all purposes to have notice of the contents of any notice given to the
Noteholders.

CURRENCY INDEMNITY

If any sum due from the Issuer in respect of the Notes or the Coupons or any order or judgment given or made
in relation thereto has to be converted from the currency (the “first currency”) in which the same is payable
under these Conditions or such order or judgment into another currency (the “second currency”) for the
purpose of (a) making or filing a claim or proof against the Issuer, (b) obtaining an order or judgment in any
court or other tribunal or (c) enforcing any order or judgment given or made in relation to the Notes, the
Issuer shall indemnify each Noteholder, on the written demand of such Noteholder addressed to the Issuer and
delivered to the Issuer or to the Specified Office of the Fiscal Agent, against any loss suffered as a result of
any discrepancy between (i) the rate of exchange used for such purpose to convert the sum in question from
the first currency into the second currency and (ii) the rate or rates of exchange at which such Noteholder may
in the ordinary course of business purchase the first currency with the second currency upon receipt of a sum
paid to it in satisfaction, in whole or in part, of any such order, judgment, claim or proof.

This indemnity constitutes a separate and independent obligation of the Issuer and shall give rise to a separate
and independent cause of action.

ROUNDING

For the purposes of any calculations referred to in these Conditions (unless otherwise specified in these
Conditions), (a) all percentages resulting from such calculations will be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest
one hundred-thousandth of a percentage point (with 0.000005 per cent. being rounded up to 0.00001 per
cent.), (b) all United States dollar amounts used in or resulting from such calculations will be rounded to the
nearest cent (with one half cent being rounded up), (c) all Japanese Yen amounts used in or resulting from
such calculations will be rounded downwards to the next lower whole Japanese Yen amount, and (d) all
amounts denominated in any other currency used in or resulting from such calculations will be rounded to the
nearest two decimal places in such currency, with 0.005 being rounded upwards.

GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION

The following provisions shall apply if it is specified in the Final Terms that English law is applicable to the
Notes

(a) Governing law: The Notes and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the
Notes are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, English law, except that Condition
15.1(b) (Meetings of Noteholders) and the relevant provisions of the Agency Agreement concerning
meetings of Noteholders of Assicurazioni Generali and the appointment of a Noteholders’
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Representative (rappresentante comune), where applicable, are subject to compliance with the laws of
the Republic of Italy.

(b)  Jurisdictions: The Issuer agrees for the benefit of the Noteholders that the courts of England shall have
jurisdiction to hear and determine any suit, action or proceedings, and to settle any disputes, which
may arise out of or in connection with the Notes (respectively, “Proceedings” and “Disputes”) and,
for such purposes, irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of such courts.

(c)  Appropriate forum: The Issuer irrevocably waives any objection which it might now or hereafter have
to the courts of England being nominated as the forum to hear and determine any Proceedings and to
settle any Disputes, and agrees not to claim that any such court is not a convenient or appropriate
forum.

(d)  Service of Process: The Issuer agrees that the documents which start any Proceedings and any other
documents required to be served in relation to those Proceedings may be served on it by being
delivered to the person or persons for the time being registered at the Companies Register under Parts
34 and 37 of the Companies Act 2006 and authorised to accept service of process in England on behalf
of the Issuer. If such person is not or ceases to be effectively appointed to accept service of process on
behalf of the Issuer, the Issuer shall, on the written demand of any Noteholder addressed to the Issuer
and delivered to the Issuer, appoint a further person in England to accept service of process on its
behalf and, failing such appointment within 15 days, any Noteholder shall be entitled to appoint such a
person by written notice addressed to the Issuer and delivered to the Issuer. Nothing in this paragraph
shall affect the right of any Noteholder to serve process in any other manner permitted by law. This
clause applies to Proceedings in England and to Proceedings elsewhere.

(e)  Non-exclusivity: The submission to the jurisdiction of the courts of England shall not (and shall not be
construed so as to) limit the right of any Noteholder to take Proceedings in any other court of
competent jurisdiction, nor shall the taking of Proceedings in any one or more jurisdictions preclude
the taking of Proceedings in any other jurisdiction (whether concurrently or not) if and to the extent
permitted by law.

The following provisions shall apply if it is specified in the Final Terms that Italian law is applicable to the
Notes

(a) Governing law: The Notes are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, Italian law.

(b)  Jurisdictions: The Issuer agrees for the benefit of the Noteholders that the courts of Milan shall have
jurisdiction to hear and determine any suit, action or proceedings, and to settle any disputes, which
may arise out of or in connection with the Notes (respectively, “Proceedings” and “Disputes™) and,
for such purposes, irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of such courts.

(c)  Appropriate forum: The Issuer irrevocably waives any objection which it might now or hereafter have
to the courts of Milan being nominated as the forum to hear and determine any Proceedings and to
settle any Disputes, and agrees not to claim that any such court is not a convenient or appropriate
forum.

(d)  Non-exclusivity: The submission to the jurisdiction of the courts of Milan shall not (and shall not be
construed so as to) limit the right of any Noteholder to take Proceedings in any other court of
competent jurisdiction, nor shall the taking of Proceedings in any one or more jurisdictions preclude
the taking of Proceedings in any other jurisdiction (whether concurrently or not) if and to the extent
permitted by law.
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(e) Waiver of trial by jury: Without prejudice to the remaining paragraphs of this Condition 20, the Issuer
waives any right it may have to a jury of trial or cause of action in connection with the Agency

Agreement and the Notes. These Conditions may be filed as a written consent to a bench trial.
Italian Civil Code: The Notes do not have the benefit of Article 1186 of the Italian Civil Code nor, to the

(®
extent applicable, Article 1819 of the Italian Civil Code.
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE TIER 2 NOTES

The following is the text of the terms and conditions which, as completed in accordance with the provisions of
Part A of the relevant Final Terms of the Tier 2 Notes, will be applicable to each Tranche of Tier 2 Notes.
These Terms and Conditions, as so completed, shall be endorsed on each Tier 2 Note in definitive form issued

under the Programme.

The terms and conditions applicable to any Tier 2 Note in global form will differ from those terms and

conditions which would apply to the Tier 2 Note were it in definitive form to the extent described under

“Overview of Provisions Relating to the Notes while in Global Form” below.

INTRODUCTION

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

Programme: Assicurazioni Generali S.p.A. (“Assicurazioni Generali”) (the “Issuer”) has established
a Euro Medium Term Note Programme (the ‘“Programme”) for the issuance of €15,000,000,000 in
aggregate principal amount of notes (the “Notes”).

Final Terms: Notes issued under the Programme in accordance with these terms and conditions of the
Tier 2 Notes (the “Conditions”) are issued in series (each a “Series”) and each Series may comprise
one or more tranches (each a “Tranche”) of Notes. Each Tranche is the subject of a Final Terms (the
“Final Terms”) which complete these Conditions. The terms and conditions applicable to any
particular Tranche of Notes are these Conditions as completed by the relevant Final Terms. The Issuer
may also issue Senior Notes pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Senior Notes (the “Senior
Conditions”) and Tier 3 Notes pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Tier 3 Notes (the “Tier 3
Conditions”).

Agency Agreement: The Notes that are stated in the relevant Final Terms to be governed by English
law are the subject of an issue and paying agency agreement that is governed by English law; and the
Notes that are stated in the relevant Final Terms to be governed by Italian law are the subject of an
issue and paying agency agreement that is governed by Italian law, in each case, dated 4 June 2019 (as
amended or supplemented from time to time, the “Agency Agreement”) between the Issuer, BNP
Paribas Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch as fiscal agent (the “Fiscal Agent”, which expression
includes any successor fiscal agent appointed from time to time in connection with the Notes) and the
paying agent named therein (together with the Fiscal Agent, the “Paying Agents”, which expression
includes any successor or additional paying agents appointed from time to time in connection with the
Notes).

The Notes: All subsequent references in these Conditions to “Notes” are to the Notes which are the
subject of the relevant Final Terms. Copies of the relevant Final Terms are available during normal
business hours at the Specified Office of the Fiscal Agent, the initial Specified Office of which is set
out below.

Summaries: Certain provisions of these Conditions are summaries of the Agency Agreement and are
subject to its detailed provisions. The holders of the Notes (the “Noteholders™) and the holders of the
related interest coupons, if any, (the “Couponholders” and the “Coupons”, respectively) and, where
applicable, talons for further Coupons (“Talons”) are bound by, and are deemed to have notice of, all
the provisions of the Agency Agreement applicable to them. Copies of the Agency Agreement are
available for inspection during normal business hours at the Specified Offices of each of the Paying
Agents, the initial Specified Offices of which are set out below.
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2

INTERPRETATION

(a)

Definitions: In these Conditions the following expressions have the following meanings:

“Accounting Event” has the meaning given to it in Condition 10.6 (Redemption and Purchase -
Optional Redemption due to an Accounting Event);

“Accrual Yield” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Additional Business Centre(s)” means the city or cities specified as such in the relevant Final
Terms;

“Additional Financial Centre(s)” means the city or cities specified as such in the relevant Final
Terms;

“Applicable Regulations” means the solvency margin, regulatory capital or capital regulations
introduced or to be introduced in Italy which are applicable to Assicurazioni Generali (including for
the purpose of any capital requirements of internationally active insurance groups), which set out, inter
alia, the Tier 2 Capital Requirements (including the Solvency II Directive, Commission Delegated
Regulation (EU) 2015/35 of 10 October 2014 supplementing the Solvency II Directive and any other
applicable laws, legislation, rules and regulations as well as regulatory technical standards and
implementing technical standards adopted in relation thereto, together with (to the extent applied by
the Lead Regulator) published interpretation, guidance or guidelines of the foregoing);

“Broken Amount” means the amount specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;
“Business Day” means:

@) in relation to any sum payable in euro, a TARGET Settlement Day and a day on which
commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments generally in each (if any)
Additional Business Centre (including Luxembourg); and

(ii))  in relation to any sum payable in a currency other than euro, a day on which commercial banks
and foreign exchange markets settle payments generally in London, in the Principal Financial
Centre of the relevant currency and in each (if any) Additional Business Centre (including
Luxembourg);

“Business Day Convention”, in relation to any particular date, has the meaning given in the relevant
Final Terms and, if so specified in the relevant Final Terms, may have different meanings in relation to
different dates and, in this context, the following expressions shall have the following meanings:

i) “Following Business Day Convention” means that the relevant date shall be postponed to the
first following day that is a Business Day;

(il))  “Modified Following Business Day Convention” or “Modified Business Day Convention”
means that the relevant date shall be postponed to the first following day that is a Business Day
unless that day falls in the next calendar month in which case that date will be the first
preceding day that is a Business Day;

(i)  “Preceding Business Day Convention” means that the relevant date shall be brought forward
to the first preceding day that is a Business Day;

(iv)  “FRN Convention”, “Floating Rate Convention” or “Eurodollar Convention” means that
each relevant date shall be the date which numerically corresponds to the preceding such date in
the calendar month which is the number of months specified in the relevant Final Terms as the
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Specified Period after the calendar month in which the preceding such date occurred provided,
however, that:

(A)  if there is no such numerically corresponding day in the calendar month in which any
such date should occur, then such date will be the last day which is a Business Day in
that calendar month;

(B) if any such date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, then such
date will be the first following day which is a Business Day unless that day falls in the
next calendar month, in which case it will be the first preceding day which is a Business
Day; and

(C)  if the preceding such date occurred on the last day in a calendar month which was a
Business Day, then all subsequent such dates will be the last day which is a Business
Day in the calendar month which is the specified number of months after the calendar
month in which the preceding such date occurred; and

(v)  “No Adjustment” means that the relevant date shall not be adjusted in accordance with any
Business Day Convention;

“Calculation Agent” means (i) other than in respect of the calculation of any Make Whole Amount
pursuant to Condition 10.8 (Make Whole Amount), the Fiscal Agent or (ii) the Person specified in the
relevant Final Terms as the party responsible for calculating the Rate(s) of Interest and Interest
Amount(s) and/or such other amount(s) as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms;

“Calculation Amount” has the meaning given to it in the relevant Final Terms;
“Conditions for Redemption” means each of the following conditions:

i) no Solvency Capital Event has occurred and/or is continuing, and such redemption would not
itself result in a Solvency Capital Event;

(ii))  the prior approval of the Lead Regulator has been obtained and such approval continues to be
valid and effective at the relevant date; and

(iii)  if the Final Terms state that the Relevant Undertaking Condition applies, where any insurance
or reinsurance undertaking included in the scope of group supervision of the Issuer under the
Applicable Regulations (a “Relevant Undertaking”) is subject to a Relevant Proceeding (as
defined below) at the time of the proposed redemption, all claims owed by the Relevant
Undertaking to its policyholders and beneficiaries have been met,

unless, in each case, such Condition for Redemption is no longer a requirement under the Applicable
Regulations at such time in order for the Notes to be recognised in the determination of own funds.

For the purposes of sub-(iii) above, “Relevant Proceeding” means the winding-up of a Relevant
Undertaking under applicable laws of the jurisdiction of the Relevant Undertaking in circumstances
where the assets of the Relevant Undertaking (in the reasonable determination of the Issuer) may or
will be insufficient to meet all amounts which, under applicable legislation or rules relating to the
winding-up of insurance companies, the policyholders and beneficiaries are entitled to receive
pursuant to a contract of insurance or reinsurance of the Relevant Undertaking.

“Consolidated Banking Law” means Italian Legislative Decree No. 385 of 1 September 1993, as
amended from time to time;
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“Consolidated Law on Private Insurance Companies” means Italian Legislative Decree No. 209 of
7 September 2005, as amended from time to time;

“Coupon Sheet” means, in respect of a Note, a coupon sheet relating to the Note;

“Dated Subordinated Obligations of Assicurazioni Generali” means any existing or future
unconditional, unsecured, subordinated obligations of Assicurazioni Generali with a specified maturity
date, including Senior Dated Subordinated Notes of Assicurazioni Generali and More Senior Dated
Subordinated Notes of Assicurazioni Generali, but excluding Deeply Subordinated Notes of
Assicurazioni Generali and More Deeply Subordinated Notes of Assicurazioni Generali;

“Day Count Fraction” means, in respect of the calculation of an amount for any period of time (the
“Calculation Period”), such day count fraction as may be specified in these Conditions or the relevant
Final Terms and:

(a)  if “Actual/Actual” or “Actual/Actual (ISDA)” is specified, the actual number of days in the
Calculation Period in respect of which payment is being made divided by 365 (or, if any portion
of that Calculation Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (i) the actual number of days in that
portion of the Calculation Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (ii) the actual number
of days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365);

(b) if “Actual/Actual (ICMA)” is specified, means:

(1) where the Calculation Period is equal to or shorter than the Regular Period during which
it falls, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by the product of (1)
the actual number of days in such Regular Period and (2) the number of Regular Periods
in any year; and

(ii))  where the Calculation Period is longer than one Regular Period, the sum of:

(x)  the actual number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the Regular Period
in which it begins divided by the product of (1) the actual number of days in such
Regular Period and (2) the number of Regular Periods in any year; and

(y)  the actual number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the next Regular
Period divided by the product of (a) the actual number of days in such Regular
Period and (2) the number of Regular Periods in any year;

(c) if “Actual/365 (Fixed)” is specified, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period in
respect of which payment is being made divided by 365;

(d) if “Actual/360 is specified, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period in respect of
which payment is being made divided by 360;

(e) if “30/360”, “360/360” or “Bond Basis” is specified, the number of days in the Calculation
Period in respect of which payment is being made divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis
as follows:

[360 - (Y, - Y] +[30 - (M, -M )]+ (D, -D,)

Day Count Fraction =
360

where

“Y1” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;
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“Y2” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day
included in the Calculation Period falls;

“Mi” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation
Period falls;

“Mz” is the calendar month, expressed as number, in which the day immediately following the
last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

“D1” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such
number would be 31, in which case D; will be 30; and

“D2” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in
the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31 and D, is greater than 29, in which
case D, will be 30;

if “30E/360” or “Eurobond Basis” is specified, the number of days in the Calculation Period in
respect of which payment is being made divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as
follows;

[360 - (Y, - Y] +[30 - (M, -M ]+ (D, - D))

Day Count Fraction =
360

where:
“Y1” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

“Y2” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day
included in the Calculation Period falls;

“M1” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation
Period falls;

“M2” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following
the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

“D1” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such
number would be 31, in which case D; will be 30; and

“D2” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in
the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D, will be 30;

if “30E/360 (ISDA)” is specified, the number of days in the Calculation Period in respect of
which payment is being made divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

[360 - (Y, - Y] +[30 - (M, -M ]+ (D, - D))

Day Count Fraction =
360

where:
“Y1” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

“Y2” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day
included in the Calculation Period falls;

“Mi” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation
Period falls;
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“Mz” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following
the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

“D1” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless (i) that
day is the last day of February or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D; will be 30;
and

“D2” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in
the Calculation Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February but not the Maturity Date
or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D> will be 30;

“Deferred Interest Payment Event” has the meaning given in Condition 5.2 (Deferral of Interest -
Arrears of Interest);

“Deeply Subordinated Notes of Assicurazioni Generali” means subordinated notes issued by
Assicurazioni Generali that are expressed to be deeply subordinated obligations of Assicurazioni
Generali, with a specified maturity date or with no specified maturity date, and shall include Notes
issued by Assicurazioni Generali under these Conditions that are stated in the relevant Final Terms to
have the status of Deeply Subordinated Notes;

“Early Redemption Amount (Accounting Event)” has the meaning given in Condition 10.6
(Redemption and Purchase — Optional Redemption due to an Accounting Event);,

“Early Redemption Amount (Rating Event)” has the meaning given in Condition 10.5 (Redemption
and Purchase — Optional Redemption due to a Rating Event);

“Early Redemption Amount (Regulatory)” has the meaning given in Condition 10.4 (Redemption
and Purchase — Optional Redemption due to a Regulatory Event);

“Early Redemption Amount (Tax)” has the meaning given in Condition 10.2 (Redemption and
Purchase — Redemption for tax reasons);

“Extraordinary Resolution” has the meaning given in the Agency Agreement;

“Final Redemption Amount” means, in respect of any Note, its principal amount, subject to any
purchase, cancellation, early redemption or repayment, expressed as the amount per Calculation
Amount specified in the relevant Final Terms;

“Fixed Coupon Amount” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Generali Finance” means Generali Finance B.V., which has merged with and incorporated into
Assicurazioni Generali following the Generali Finance Merger;

“Generali Finance Merger” means the merger of Generali Finance with, and its incorporation into,
Assicurazioni Generali with effect as of 9 April 2018;

“Generali Perpetual Notes” means any existing or future direct, unsecured and subordinated
obligations of Assicurazioni Generali with no specified maturity date or with a maturity date linked to
the duration of Assicurazioni Generali (other than More Deeply Subordinated Notes of Assicurazioni
Generali or Deeply Subordinated Notes of Assicurazioni Generali);

“Guarantee” means, in relation to any Indebtedness of any Person, any obligation of another Person
to pay such Indebtedness including (without limitation):

i) any obligation to purchase such Indebtedness;
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(ii)  any obligation to lend money, to purchase or subscribe shares or other securities or to purchase
assets or services in order to provide funds for the payment of such Indebtedness;

(iii)  any indemnity against the consequences of a default in the payment of such Indebtedness; and
(iv)  any other agreement to be responsible for such Indebtedness;

“Guarantee of More Deeply Subordinated Notes of Generali Finance” means, in respect of More
Deeply Subordinated Notes issued by Generali Finance under the Programme, the guarantee thereof
given by Assicurazioni Generali in its capacity as guarantor in the deed of guarantee entered into in
relation to the issue of such More Deeply Subordinated Notes, provided that Assicurazioni Generali
has replaced, by operation of law, Generali Finance as issuer of these notes following the Generali
Finance Merger;

“Hybrid Obligations of Assicurazioni Generali” means the Generali Perpetual Notes and any other
obligation of Assicurazioni Generali (other than obligations (if any) in respect of More Deeply
Subordinated Notes of Assicurazioni Generali or Guarantee of More Deeply Subordinated Notes of
Generali Finance) from time to time expressed by its terms to rank pari passu therewith or to rank
junior to the Deeply Subordinated Notes of Assicurazioni Generali;

“Indebtedness” means any indebtedness of any Person for money borrowed or raised including
(without limitation) any indebtedness for or in respect of:

@) amounts raised under any note purchase facility;

(i)  the amount of any liability in respect of leases or hire purchase contracts which would, in
accordance with applicable law and generally accepted accounting principles, be treated as
finance or capital leases;

(iii)  the amount of any liability in respect of any purchase price for assets or services the payment of
which is deferred for a period in excess of 60 days; and

(iv) amounts raised under any other transaction (including, without limitation, any forward sale or
purchase agreement) having the commercial effect of a borrowing;

“Initial Rate of Interest” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;
“Initial Interest Payment Date(s)” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Interest Amount” means, in relation to a Note and an Interest Period, the amount of interest payable
in respect of that Note for that Interest Period;

“Interest Basis” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Interest Commencement Date” means the Issue Date of the Notes or such other date as may be
specified as the Interest Commencement Date in the relevant Final Terms;

“Interest Determination Date” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Interest Payment Date” means the date or dates specified as such in, or determined in accordance
with the provisions of, the relevant Final Terms and, if a Business Day Convention is specified in the
relevant Final Terms:

i) as the same may be adjusted in accordance with the relevant Business Day Convention; or

(ii)  if the Business Day Convention is the FRN Convention, Floating Rate Convention or
Eurodollar Convention and an interval of a number of calendar months is specified in the
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relevant Final Terms as being the Specified Period, each of such dates as may occur in
accordance with the FRN Convention, Floating Rate Convention or Eurodollar Convention at
such Specified Period of calendar months following the Interest Commencement Date (in the
case of the first Interest Payment Date) or the previous Interest Payment Date (in any other
case);

“Interest Period” means each period beginning on (and including) the Interest Commencement Date
or any Interest Payment Date and ending on (but excluding) the next Interest Payment Date;

“ISDA Definitions” means the 2006 ISDA Definitions (as amended and updated as at the date of issue
of the first Tranche of the Notes of the relevant Series (as specified in the relevant Final Terms) as
published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc.);

“Issue Date” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“IVASS” means the Istituto per la Vigilanza sulle Assicurazioni, the Italian supervisory body for
insurance;

“Junior Securities of Assicurazioni Generali” means (A) all classes of share capital (including
preference shares — azioni privilegiate — and savings shares — azioni di risparmio, if any) of
Assicurazioni Generali; (B) any obligation, including preferred securities, guarantees or similar
instruments issued by Assicurazioni Generali which rank junior to the Subordinated Notes; and (C)
any guarantee or similar instrument from Assicurazioni Generali, ranking junior to the Subordinated
Notes, covering the preferred securities or preferred or preference shares issued by a Subsidiary of
Assicurazioni Generali;

“Lead Regulator” means IVASS, or any successor entity of IVASS, or any other competent lead
regulator to which Assicurazioni Generali becomes subject;

“Legislative Decree No. 239” has the meaning given in Condition 12 (Taxation);

“Liquidazione Coatta Amministrativa” means Liguidazione Coatta Amministrativa as described in
Articles 80 to 94 of the Consolidated Banking Law or Articles 245 ff of the Consolidated Law on
Private Insurance Companies, as the case may be;

“Make Whole Amount” has the meaning given in Condition 10.8 (Make Whole Amount);,

“Margin” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms and if the relevant Final Term specifies
that Change of interest following Optional Redemption Date (Call) is applicable, shall mean (a) for
each Interest Period to but excluding the Optional Redemption Date (Call), the Margin (Pre-Call); and
(b) from each Interest Period falling after the Optional Redemption Date (Call), the Margin (Post-
Call), in each case, as set out in the relevant Final Terms;

“Margin (Pre-Call)” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Margin (Post-Call)” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Maturity Date” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Maximum Redemption Amount” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Minimum Capital Requirement” means the minimum capital requirement (and, where applicable,
the minimum consolidated group Solvency Capital Requirement) referred to, and calculated in
accordance with, applicable provisions set forth under, the Solvency II Directive and Applicable
Regulations, where non-compliance with the Minimum Capital Requirement shall be deemed to h